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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Unless otherwise specifically stated, references in this report to "Flex," "the Company," "we," "us," "our" and similar
terms mean Flex Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

Annual Report

ITEM 1.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Except for historical information contained herein, certain matters included in this annual report on Form 10-K are, or
may be deemed to be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. The words "will," "may," "designed to," "believe," "should," "anticipate,"
"plan," "expect," "intend," "estimate" and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this annual report. These forward-looking statements are contained principally under Item 1, "Business," and under
Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Because these forwardlooking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, actual results could differ materially from the expectations expressed
in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations
reflected in the forward-looking statements include those described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." In addition, new risks emerge from time to time
and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors or to assess the impact of such risk factors on our business.
Given these risks and uncertainties, the reader should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

Flex is the manufacturing partner of choice that helps a diverse customer base design and build products that improve the
world. Through the collective strength of a global workforce across approximately 30 countries and responsible, sustainable
operations, Flex delivers technology innovation, supply chain, and manufacturing solutions to diverse industries and end
markets. As of March 31, 2020, our reporting business segments were as follows:
High Reliability Solutions ("HRS"), which is comprised of our health solutions business, including surgical
equipment, drug delivery, diagnostics, telemedicine, disposable devices, imaging and monitoring, patient
mobility and ophthalmology; and our automotive business, including vehicle electrification, connectivity,
autonomous, and smart technologies;

•

Industrial and Emerging Industries ("IEI"), which is comprised of energy including advanced metering
infrastructure, energy storage, smart lighting, smart solar energy; and industrial, including semiconductor and
capital equipment, office solutions, household industrial and lifestyle, industrial automation and kiosks;

•

Communications & Enterprise Compute ("CEC"), which includes our telecom business of radio access base
stations, remote radio heads and small cells for wireless infrastructure; our networking business, which
includes optical, routing, and switching products for data and video networks; our server and storage
platforms for both enterprise and cloud-based deployments; next generation storage and security appliance
products; and rack-level solutions, converged infrastructure and software-defined product solutions; and

•

Consumer Technologies Group ("CTG"), which includes our consumer-related businesses in IoT enabled
devices, audio and consumer power electronics, mobile devices; and various supply chain solutions for
consumer, computing and printing devices.

These segments represent components of the Company for which separate financial information is available that is
utilized on a regular basis by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). Our segments are determined based on several
factors, including the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, customer bases, delivery channels and
similar economic characteristics. Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information on our operating segments.
In March 2020, we announced a change in organization structure as part of our strategy to further drive growth and
productivity with two focused delivery models. As a result, beginning in fiscal year 2021, we expect to report our financial
performance based on two reportable segments (Flex Agility Solutions Group and Flex Reliability Solutions Group) and
analyze operating income as the measure of segment profitability.
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We provide design, manufacturing and supply chain services through a network of over 100 locations in approximately
30 countries across five continents. We have established global scale through an extensive network of innovation labs, design
centers, manufacturing and services sites in the world's major consumer and enterprise products markets (Asia, the Americas,
and Europe) in order to serve the supply chain needs of both multinational and regional companies. Our services provide
customers with a competitive advantage by delivering leading-edge manufacturing technology, supply chain expertise,
improved product quality, increased flexibility, faster time to market, and overall value. Our customers leverage our services to
meet their requirements throughout their products' entire life cycles. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, we had revenue
of $24.2 billion and net income of $88 million.
Flex offers solutions that span from initial design through ramp-up and volume manufacturing as well as through end of
life and circularity offerings. This full range of capabilities provides our customers with expertise across the entire value chain.
Technology innovation is at the center of delivering these end-to-end capabilities.
We believe that the combination of our design and engineering services, advanced supply chain management solutions
and manufacturing technology capabilities along with our global scale and regional presence provide us with a competitive
advantage.
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Our areas of expertise are design, manufacturing and supply chain services for a broad range of products, from medical
devices, connected automotive systems and smart home appliances to cloud and data center infrastructures. As such, the closest
broad definition of our industry remains the outsourced EMS industry.
In recent years, we have seen an increased level of diversification by many companies, in the technology, automotive and
healthcare industries along with the convergence of many industries being transformed by technology advances. Increasingly
complex products require highly customized solutions, in turn resulting in significant changes to the overall manufacturing and
supply chain landscape. The estimated growth of the EMS industry for calendar year 2019 was minimal at approximately 1%.
The intensely competitive nature of the electronics industry, the increasing complexity and sophistication of electronics
products, and pressures on OEMs to reduce product costs and shorten product life cycles are all factors that encourage OEMs to
utilize supply chain service providers as part of their business and manufacturing strategies. Utilizing global manufacturing and
service providers allows OEMs to take advantage of the global design, manufacturing and supply chain management expertise
of outsource providers, and enables OEMs to concentrate on product research, development, marketing, and sales. We believe
that OEMs realize a number of important benefits through their strategic relationships with EMS providers, including:
•

Improved inventory management and purchasing power;

•

Access to worldwide design, engineering, manufacturing, and after-market service capabilities;

•

Ability to focus on core branding and R&D initiatives;

•

Accelerated time to market and time-to-volume production;

•

Improved efficiency and optimized production costs;

•

Improved product quality through advanced design and production at scale; and

•

Reduced capital investment requirements and fixed costs;

We believe that growth in the EMS industry will be largely driven by the need for OEMs to respond to rapidly changing
industries, markets and technologies, as well as the increasing complexity of supply chains and the continued pressure to be
innovative and cost competitive. Additionally, we believe that there are significant opportunities for global EMS providers to
win additional business from OEMs in markets or industry segments that have yet to substantially outsource manufacturing.
Finally, we believe that the COVID-19 pandemic is highlighting numerous new vulnerabilities and challenges for OEMs,
which will require OEMs from all markets and industries to value and evaluate their supply chain resiliency, which may drive
further growth opportunities.
SERVICE OFFERINGS
We offer a broad range of customizable services to our customers. We believe that Flex has the broadest worldwide
product development lifecycle capabilities in the industry, from concept design to manufacturing to aftermarket services. We
4

Table of Contents

Q

believe our key competitive advantages are our people, our processes, and our capabilities for making products, systems and
solutions for our customers:
Speed: Our sophisticated supply chain management tools and expertise allow us to provide customers with
access to real-time information that increases visibility throughout the entire product lifecycle, reducing risk
while accelerating execution. Our experience with new product introductions and manufacturing ramps
provides customers with a time to market advantage.

•

Scope: Our full range of services, from Sketch-to-Scale®, include innovation and design, engineering,
manufacturing, forward and reverse logistics, and circular economy supply chain management. Our deep
cross-industry knowledge and multi-domain expertise accelerate the production of increasingly complex
products for increasingly interconnected industries.

•

Scale: Our physical infrastructure includes over 100 facilities in approximately 30 countries, staffed by
approximately 160,000 employees, providing our customers with truly global scale and strategic geographic
distribution capabilities.

Our services include all processes necessary to design, build, ship, and service a wide range of products for our
customers. These services include:
Innovation Services. We provide a comprehensive set of services that enable companies to successfully ideate, create
new products and solutions, and gain access to new markets. These services span the entire product introduction and solution
lifecycle by providing access to new cross-industry and technology platforms and building block technologies, accelerating
innovation and product development from early concepts to final production-ready design, and providing advanced
manufacturing and testing for new product introduction and market access to grow our customers' offerings.
Innovation and Design Centers. Our Innovation and Design Centers specialize in supporting customer design
and product development. Customers gain access to our design and engineering facilities, technical subject
matter expertise, and rapid prototyping resources such as metal and plastic 3D printers and soft tooling
capabilities.

•

Cross-industry Technologies. Along with our portfolio of specific building block technologies in electrical/
electronics, electromechanical, and software, we also have deep technical expertise in cross-industry
technologies including: Human Machine Interface (HMI), Audio and Video, System in Package (SIP),
Miniaturization, IoT Platforms and Power Management.

•

Systems Integration Services. Through systems integration, we design and integrate advanced data center
servers, storage and networking equipment, and data center appliances. These systems provide engineering
and design services with an emphasis on multivendor integration and open technologies that promote
interoperability at a lower cost.

Design and Engineering Services. We offer a comprehensive range of value-added design and engineering services,
tailored to specific industries and markets, and the needs of our customers.
Our design and engineering services are provided by our global market-based engineering teams and cover a broad range
of technical competencies:
•

System Architecture, User Interface and Industrial Design;

•

Hardware Design;

•

Software Design; and

•

Design for Excellence.
5
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We offer global economies of scale in advanced materials and technology sourcing, manufacturing and after-market
services, as well as market-focused expertise and capabilities in design and engineering. As a result of our extensive experience
in specific markets, we have developed deep understanding of complex market dynamics, giving us the ability to anticipate
trends that impact our customers' businesses. Our expertise can help improve our customers' market positioning by effectively
adjusting product plans and roadmaps to efficiently and cost-effectively deliver high quality products that meet their geographic
and time to market requirements.
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We are exposed to different or greater potential liabilities from our various design services than those we typically face in
our core assembly and manufacturing services. See "Risk Factors—The success of certain of our activities depends on our
ability to protect our intellectual property rights; claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of
license agreement provisions against our customers or us could harm our business."
Systems Assembly and Manufacturing. Our assembly and manufacturing operations, which generate the majority of our
revenues, include printed circuit board assembly and assembly of systems and subsystems that incorporate printed circuit
boards and complex electromechanical components. We assemble electronics products with custom electronic enclosures on
either a build-to-order or configure-to-order basis. In these operations, we employ just-in-time, ship-to-stock and ship-to-line
programs, continuous flow manufacturing, demand flow processes, and statistical process controls. As our customers seek to
provide greater functionality in physically smaller products, they increasingly require more sophisticated manufacturing
technologies and processes. Our investment in advanced manufacturing equipment and our expertise in innovative
miniaturization, packaging and interconnect technologies, enables us to offer a variety of leading-edge manufacturing solutions.
We support a wide range of product demand profiles, from low-volume, high-complexity programs, to high-volume production.
Our systems assembly and manufacturing capabilities includes the following:
•

Enclosures. We offer a comprehensive set of custom electronics enclosures and related products and services.
Our services include the design, manufacture, integration and deployment of electronics packaging systems,
including custom enclosure systems, power and thermal subsystems, interconnect subsystems, cabling, and
cases. In addition to standard sheet metal and plastic fabrication services, we assist in the design of
electronics packaging systems that protect sensitive electronics and enhance functionality. Our enclosure
design services focus on functionality, manufacturability, and testing. These services are integrated with our
other assembly and manufacturing services to provide our customers with improved overall supply chain
management.

•

Testing Services. We offer computer-aided testing services for assembled printed circuit boards, systems, and
subsystems. These services significantly improve our ability to deliver high-quality products on a consistent
basis. Our test services include management defect analysis, in-circuit testing and functional testing as well
as environmental stress tests of board and system assemblies. We also offer design for test, manufacturing,
and environmental services to jointly improve customer product design and manufacturing.

•

Materials Procurement and Inventory Management. Our manufacturing and assembly operations capitalize
on our materials inventory management expertise and volume procurement capabilities. As a result, we
believe that we are able to achieve highly competitive cost reductions and shorten total manufacturing cycle
times for our customers. Materials procurement and management consists of the planning, purchasing,
expediting, and warehousing of components and materials used in the manufacturing process. In addition, our
strategy includes having third-party suppliers of custom components located in our industrial parks to reduce
material and transportation costs, simplify logistics, and facilitate inventory management. We also use a
sophisticated automated manufacturing resource planning system and enhanced electronic data interchange
capabilities to ensure inventory control and optimization. Electronic data interchange allows customers to
share demand and product forecasts, deliver purchase orders and assists suppliers with satisfying just-in-time
delivery and supplier-managed inventory requirements. There are a number of sources for these materials,
including customers for whom we are providing systems assembly and manufacturing services. On some
occasions, there have been shortages of certain electronic components, most recently for connectors,
capacitors, LCD panels and memory (both DRAM and Flash). As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
experienced component shortages and other supply chain constraints in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year
2020, and such component shortages and supply chain constraints have continued to a lesser extent in the first
quarter of our fiscal year 2021. See "Risk Factors—We may be adversely affected by supply chain issues,
including shortages of required electronic components."

Power Modules. We offer a full-service power supply business that provides a range of solutions from custom to highly
scalable system solutions. We have expertise in high efficiency and high-density switching power supplies ranging from 1 to
3,000 watts. Our product portfolio includes chargers for smartphones and tablets, adapters for notebooks and gaming systems,
and power supplies for the server, storage, and networking markets. Our Power Modules business designs and manufactures a
wide range of isolated DC/DC converters and non-isolated Point of Load (PoL) converters intended primarily, although not
exclusively, for the Information and Communications Technology market, including Servers and High-Performance Computing
applications. We also offer specialized power module solutions suitable for other markets. Our products are fully compliant
with environmental and Energy Star requirements that drive efficiency specifications in our industry.
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Logistics. Through our Flex Global Services business, we provide after-market and forward supply chain logistics
services. Our suite of services is tailored to customers operating in the computing, consumer digital, infrastructure, industrial,
mobile, automotive and medical industries. Our expansive global infrastructure includes over 30 sites strategically located
throughout the Americas, Europe, and Asia. We provide multiple logistics solutions including supplier-managed inventory,
inbound freight management, product postponement, build/configure to order, order fulfillment and distribution, asset tracking,
and supply chain network design.

STRATEGY

Notice & Proxy Statement

Reverse Logistics and Repair Services. We offer a suite of integrated reverse logistics and repair solutions that use
globally consistent processes, which help increase our customers' brand loyalty by improving turnaround times and raising endcustomer satisfaction levels. Our reverse logistics and repair solutions include returns management, exchange programs,
complex repair, asset recovery, recycling and e-waste management. We provide repair expertise to multiple product lines such
as consumer and midrange products, printers, smart phones, consumer medical devices, notebook personal computers, set-top
boxes, game consoles and highly complex infrastructure products.

We help our customers responsibly build products that create value and improve people’s lives. We do this by providing
our customers with product development lifecycle services, from innovation, design, and engineering, to manufacturing, supply
chain solutions, logistics, and circularity offerings. Our strategy is to enable and scale innovation for our customers, maintain
our leadership in our capabilities, and build extended offerings in high-growth industries and markets.

Customer Focus. We believe that building strong partnerships with our customer and delivering on our commitments
strengthens trust and customer retention. Our customers come first, and we have a relentless focus on delivering distinctive
products and services in a cost-effective manner with fast time to market. We are highly collaborative and leverage our global
system and processes to operate with speed and responsiveness to provide our customers with a reliant supply chain partner.

Global Operations Capabilities. We continue to invest in maintaining the leadership of our world-class manufacturing
and services capabilities including automation, new product introduction and large-scale manufacturing. We continue to
capitalize on our industrial park concept, where we co-locate our design, manufacturing, and service resources globally in
lower-cost regions, to provide a competitive advantage by minimizing logistics, manufacturing costs, and cycle times while
increasing flexibility and responsiveness.
COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
We continue to enhance our business through the development and expansion of our product and service offerings. We
strive to maintain the efficiency and flexibility of our organization, with repeatable execution that adapts to macro-economic
changes to provide clear value to our customers, while increasing their competitiveness. We have a focused strategy on
delivering value to our customers through innovation and design services, manufacturing technology, supply chain solutions,
and domain expertise.
Significant Scope and Global Scale. We believe that global scale and regional capability are a significant competitive
advantage, as our customers increasingly require a broad range of manufacturing and supply chain services and solutions
globally. Increasingly, our customers are transitioning to regional based supply chains to take advantage of time to market and
specific customization required to win in those markets. Additionally, our procurement and global supply chain capability
provides us with an ability to use our worldwide supplier relationships to achieve leading-edge technologies, access, supply
chain flexibility and advantageous pricing for our customers.
Digitized Supply Chain Solutions. We offer a comprehensive range of worldwide supply chain services that simplify and
improve global product development processes, providing meaningful time and cost savings to our customers.
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Market Focus. We focus on companies that are leaders in their industry and value our superior capabilities in design,
manufacturing, and supply chain services. We focus on high-growth industries and markets where we have distinctive
competence and compelling value propositions. Examples include our investments in specific technologies and industries
including healthcare, automotive, industrial markets, and energy. Our market-focused approach to managing our business
increases our customers' competitiveness by leveraging our deep vertical industry and cross-industry expertise, as well as
global scale, regional presence and agility to respond to changes in market dynamics.

Annual Report

Talent. To maintain our competitiveness and world-class capabilities, we focus on hiring and retaining the world's best
talent. We have taken steps to attract the best engineering, functional and operational leaders and have accelerated efforts to
develop the future leaders of the company.
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Long-Standing Customer Relationships. We believe that our long-term relationships with key customers is a result of
our track record of meeting commitments and delivering value that increases our customers' competitiveness.
Extensive Design and Engineering Capabilities. We have an industry-leading global design service offering, with
extensive product design engineering resources, that provides design services, product developments, and solutions to satisfy a
wide array of customer requirements across all of our key industries and markets.
Geographic, Customer and End Market Diversification. We believe that we are operating one of the most well-balanced
and diversified portfolio from a product, geographical and customer diversification perspective. We have no customer
accounting for more than 10% and our ten largest accounted for 39% of our net sales in fiscal year 2020. We believe we are
well-positioned through our diverse portfolio and global footprint to grow faster than the industry average.
Customer and Product Innovation Hubs. We have established state-of-the art innovation hubs in the Americas, Asia and
Europe, with differentiated offerings and specialized services for specific industries and markets. These innovation hubs offer
our customers a geographically focused version of our design services, taking their product from concept to volume production
and go-to-market in a rapid, cost effective and low risk manner.
Industrial Parks; Cost-Efficient Manufacturing Services. We have developed self-contained campuses that co-locate our
manufacturing and logistics operations with our suppliers in various cost-efficient locations. These sites enhance our supply
chain management efficiency, while providing multi-technology solution value for our customers.
We have deployed manufacturing operations in regions around the world to provide our customers with a wide array of
solutions where our customers and/or their customers are located. As of March 31, 2020, approximately 81% of our
manufacturing capacity was located in emerging markets, including Brazil, China, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Malaysia,
Mexico, Poland, Romania, and Ukraine.
CUSTOMERS
Our customers include many of the world's leading technology companies. We have focused on establishing long-term
relationships with our customers and have been successful in expanding our relationships to incorporate additional product
lines and services.
As our business spans multiple end markets, we believe that we are well-positioned through our market diversification to
grow faster than the industry average and successfully navigate through difficult economic times such as the current COVID-19
pandemic. As examples, we serve the following key customers across our diverse business groups: health solutions customers
Abbott, Philips and Johnson & Johnson and auto customers Ford, Nexteer and Fiat Chrysler in our HRS segment; Teradyne,
Dyson and Xerox in our IEI segment; Cisco, Nokia Solutions and Ericsson in our CEC segment; and Lenovo/Motorola, HP and
Bose in our CTG segment.
In fiscal year 2020, our ten largest customers accounted for approximately 39% of net sales. No customer accounted for
greater than 10% of the Company's net sales in fiscal year 2020.
BACKLOG
Although we obtain firm purchase orders from our customers, OEM customers typically do not place firm orders for
delivery of products more than 30 to 90 days in advance. In addition, OEM customers may reschedule or cancel firm orders
depending on contractual arrangements. Therefore, we do not believe that the backlog of expected product sales covered by
firm purchase orders is a meaningful measure of future sales.
COMPETITION
Our market is extremely competitive and includes many companies, several of which have achieved substantial market
share. We compete against numerous domestic and foreign manufacturing service providers, as well as our current and
prospective customers, who evaluate our capabilities in light of their own capabilities and cost structures. We face particular
competition from Asian-based competitors, including Taiwanese Original Design Manufacturing ("ODM") suppliers who
compete in a variety of our end markets and have a substantial share of global information technology hardware production.
We also compete with different companies depending on the type of service we are providing or the geographic area in
which an activity takes place. We believe that the principal competitive factors in the manufacturing services market are quality
and range of services; design and technological capabilities; cost; location of sites; and responsiveness and flexibility. We
believe we are extremely competitive with regard to all of these factors.
8
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Sustainability remains central to who we are and how we operate. Our sustainability governance principles are a core part
of our business operations. Through innovation and smart technologies, our sustainable solutions positively impact people and
the environment.

Our strategy and global efforts, through our sustainability programs and multi-year objectives are aligned with the
principles set forth in the UNGC, and the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"). While our global efforts contribute
to most of the SDGs, we have prioritized them and focus on decent work, quality education, clean energy and responsible
consumption and production.

We are committed to providing a positive work environment for Flex employees, respecting their dignity and striving to
advance human rights around the world. Our foremost focus in our response to the COVID-19 pandemic has been the health
and safety of our employees. Our philosophy, strategies, and policies in human rights, health and safety, diversity and inclusion,
support the inclusion of all people in our working environment. Some of the cornerstone specific goals through which we
measure our performance include increasing employee development, social and environmental management system audits,
human rights policy training completion, RBA compliance for rest day requirements and decreasing incident rates.

All of these activities are the subject of our annual sustainability reporting, done in accordance with the Global Reporting
Initiative’s (“GRI”) standards, and further information can be found in our annual sustainability executive and GRI reports
posted on our website.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
Our operations are regulated under various federal, state, local and international laws governing the environment,
including laws governing the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the management and disposal of hazardous
substances and wastes and the cleanup of contaminated sites. We have implemented processes and procedures to ensure that our
operations are in compliance with all applicable environmental regulations. We do not believe that costs of compliance with
these laws and regulations will have a material adverse effect on our capital expenditures, operating results, or competitive
position. In addition, we are responsible for cleanup of contamination at some of our current and former manufacturing
facilities and at some third-party sites. We engage environmental consulting firms to assist us in the evaluation of
environmental liabilities associated with our ongoing operations, historical disposal activities and closed sites in order to
establish appropriate accruals in our financial statements. We determine the amount of our accruals for environmental matters
by analyzing and estimating the probability of occurrence and the reasonable possibility of incurring costs in light of
information currently available.
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We work with nonprofits, community leaders and governments to promote inclusive and sustainable economic growth,
employment and decent work for all. We help protect the environment, support resource conservation and provide disaster
relief. We accomplish this through grants from the Flex Foundation, corporate and employee donations and volunteerism. Our
multi-year goals in this area cover increasing volunteer hours and the percentage of sites with community activities and Flex
Foundation community grants. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Flex Foundation has been working with leading
organizations and making financial contributions to help support efforts in combating COVID-19 in the countries where we
have a presence.
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The Flex Social and Environmental framework is based upon the principles, policies, and standards prescribed by the
Responsible Business Alliance (“RBA”), a worldwide association of electronics companies committed to promoting an industry
code of conduct for global electronics supply chains to improve working and environmental, health and safety conditions, as
well as other relevant international standards (e.g., ISO 14001, United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights). Flex is a founding member of the RBA and a member of the Global Business Initiative Human Rights and the Business
for Social Responsibility Network. Social responsibility is also an area of increasing concern, with specific regulations such as
the California Transparency in Supply Chains Act, the U.S. Federal Acquisition Regulation on Human Trafficking and the U.K.
Modern Slavery Act of 2015, all creating new compliance and disclosure obligations for the Company and for our customers.
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Since February 2018, we have been participants of the United Nations Global Compact ("UNGC"), the world's largest
corporate sustainability initiative, to showcase our commitment to integrate sustainability throughout our company and across
our entire supply chain. Our commitment aims to help customers, partners and other businesses increase their own efforts to
build a more sustainable future.
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The imposition of more stringent standards or requirements under environmental laws or regulations, the results of future
testing and analysis undertaken by us at our operating facilities, or a determination that we are potentially responsible for the
release of hazardous substances at other sites could result in expenditures in excess of amounts currently estimated to be
required for such matters. Additionally, we could be required to alter our operations in order to comply with any new standards
or requirements under environmental laws or regulations. There can be no assurance that additional environmental matters will
not arise in the future or that costs will not be incurred with respect to sites as to which no issue is currently known.
We are also required to comply with an increasing number of product environmental compliance regulations focused
upon the restriction of certain hazardous substances. The electronics industry is subject to various regulations based on region
or country. For example:
•

Restrictions on Hazardous Substances ("RoHS") 2011/65/EU

•

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment ("WEEE") 2012/19/EU directives

•

The regulation EC 1907/2006 EU Directive REACH ("Registration, Evaluation, Authorization, and
Restriction of Chemicals")

•

China RoHS entitled, Management Methods for Controlling Pollution for Electronic Information Products
("EIPs").

Similar legislation has been or may be enacted in other jurisdictions, including the United States. Our business requires
close collaboration with our customers and suppliers to mitigate risks of non-compliance. We have developed rigorous
compliance programs designed to meet the needs and specifications of our customers as well as the regulations. These
programs vary from collecting compliance or material data from our Flex controlled or managed suppliers to full laboratory
testing, and we include compliance requirements in our standard supplier contracts. Non-compliance could result in significant
costs and/or penalties.
RoHS and other similar legislation ban or restrict the use of lead, mercury and certain other specified substances in
electronics products and WEEE requires EU importers and/or producers to assume responsibility for the collection, recycling
and management of waste electronic products and components. In the case of WEEE, although the compliance responsibility
rests primarily with the EU importers and/or producers rather than with EMS companies, OEMs may turn to EMS companies
for assistance in meeting their WEEE obligations. Flex continues to monitor developments related to product environmental
compliance and is working with our customers and other technical organizations to anticipate and minimize any impacts to our
operations.
EMPLOYEES
Our policies, philosophy and strategies support the inclusion of all people in our working environment. We’re committed
to respecting the human rights of our employees and improving their quality of life. We encourage our people to engage in
lifelong learning and growth. And we give them opportunities to perform to the best of their abilities.
As of March 31, 2020, our global workforce totaled approximately 160,000 employees including our contractor
workforce. In certain international locations, our employees are represented by labor unions and by work councils. Although
we have experienced various work stoppages due to the pandemic outlined below, we have never experienced a significant
work stoppage due to strike, and we believe that our employee relations are good.
Our success depends to a large extent upon the continued services of key managerial and technical employees. The loss
of such personnel could seriously harm our business, results of operations and business prospects. To date, we have not
experienced significant difficulties in attracting or retaining such personnel.
In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, we deployed our contingency and resiliency plans that are encompassed in our
business continuity programs. Our resiliency advisory and crisis management teams defined work streams and set up “war”
rooms with hundreds of employees, organizing across our global footprint, and coordinating and communicating with our
suppliers and customers. Our leadership teams initiated enhanced health and safety measures across all facilities, as our
foremost focus has been the health and safety of our employees. We modified practices at our manufacturing locations and
offices to require personal protective equipment, sanitization measures, temperature checks and social distancing well before
these measures were mandated. Our protocols to protect employees and safely operate our facilities have been in partnership
with several governments, including in China, Mexico, Malaysia, Brazil and Europe. These measures also have enabled us to
continue to conduct operations which are considered to be essential services, including but not limited to the manufacture of
critical health care products.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Our Internet address is https://www.flex.com. We make available through our Internet website the Company's annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Annual Report

Although we believe that our intellectual property assets and licenses are sufficient for the operation of our business as
we currently conduct it, from time to time third parties assert patent infringement claims against us or our customers. In
addition, we provide design and engineering services to our customers and also design and make our own products. As a
consequence of these activities, our customers are sometimes requiring us to take responsibility for intellectual property to a
greater extent than in our manufacturing and assembly businesses. If and when third parties make assertions regarding the
ownership or right to use intellectual property, we could be required to either enter into licensing arrangements or to resolve the
issue through litigation. Such license rights might not be available to us on commercially acceptable terms, if at all, and any
such litigation might not be resolved in our favor. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially harm
our financial condition regardless of the outcome. We also could be required to incur substantial costs to redesign a product or
re-perform design services. See "Risk Factors - The success of certain of our activities depends on our ability to protect our
intellectual property rights; claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of license agreement
provisions against our customers or us could harm our business."

Notice & Proxy Statement

We own or license various United States and foreign patents relating to a variety of technologies. For certain of our
proprietary processes, inventions, and works of authorship, we rely on trade secret or copyright protection. We also maintain
trademark rights (including registrations) for our corporate name and several other trademarks and service marks that we use in
our business in the United States and other countries throughout the world. We have implemented appropriate policies and
procedures (including both technological means and training programs for our employees) to identify and protect our
intellectual property, as well as that of our customers and suppliers. As of March 31, 2020, and 2019, the carrying value of our
intellectual property was not material.

We were incorporated in the Republic of Singapore in May 1990. Our principal corporate office is located at 2 Changi
South Lane, Singapore 486123. Our U.S. corporate headquarters is located at 6201 America Center Drive, San Jose, CA 95002.

The COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations. The duration and
extent to which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain and could be
material.
The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread public health crisis and numerous disease control measures being
taken to limit its spread, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and shutdowns. These
measures have materially impacted and are continuing to impact our workforce and operations, the operations of our customers,
and those of our respective vendors and suppliers. We have significant operations worldwide, including in China, Mexico, the
United States, Brazil, India, Malaysia and Europe, and each of these geographies has been affected by the outbreak and has
taken measures to try to contain it, resulting in disruptions at many of our manufacturing operations and facilities. Further
measures may be implemented and there can be no assurance as to when any such restrictions may be eased or lifted. The
impact of the pandemic on our business has included and could in the future include:
•

disruptions to or restrictions on our ability to ensure the continuous provision of our manufacturing services
and solutions;

•

temporary closures or reductions in operational capacity of our manufacturing facilities;

•

reductions in our capacity utilization levels;

•

temporary closures of our direct and indirect suppliers, resulting in adverse effects to our supply chain, and
other supply chain disruptions, which adversely affect our ability to procure sufficient inventory to support
customer orders;
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•

temporary shortages of skilled employees available to staff manufacturing facilities due to shelter-in-place
orders and travel restrictions within as well as into and out of countries;

•

restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures, and
increased border controls or closures;

•

increases in operational expenses and other costs related to requirements implemented to mitigate the impact
of the pandemic;

•

delays or limitations on the ability of our customers to perform or make timely payments;

•

reductions in short- and long-term demand for our manufacturing services and solutions, or other disruptions
in technology buying patterns;

•

workforce disruptions due to illness, quarantines, governmental actions, other restrictions, and/or the social
distancing measures we have taken to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 at our locations around the world in
an effort to protect the health and well-being of our employees, customers, suppliers and of the communities
in which we operate (including working from home, restricting the number of employees attending events or
meetings in person, limiting the number of people in our buildings and factories at any one time, further
restricting access to our facilities and suspending employee travel); and

•

our management team continuing to commit significant time, attention and resources to monitoring the
COVID-19 pandemic and seeking to mitigate its effects on our business and workforce.

The global spread of COVID-19 also has created significant macroeconomic uncertainty, volatility and disruption, which
may adversely affect our and our customers’ and suppliers’ liquidity, cost of capital and ability to access the capital markets. As
a result, the continued spread of COVID-19 could cause further disruptions in our supply chain and customer demand, and
could adversely affect the ability of our customers to perform, including in making timely payments to us, which could further
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused
an economic slowdown that is likely to continue and is highly likely to cause a global recession. Even after the COVID-19
pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience adverse impacts to our business as a result of the pandemic’s global
economic impact, including any recession, economic downturn, government spending cuts, tightening of credit markets or
increased unemployment that has occurred or may occur in the future, which could cause our customers and potential
customers to postpone or reduce spending on our manufacturing services and solutions.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact our business and financial results going forward
will be dependent on future developments such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in
the future, future government actions in response to the crisis and the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global
economy and capital markets, among many other factors, all of which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable. We cannot at
this time quantify or forecast the business impact of COVID-19, and there can be no assurance that the COVID-19 pandemic
will not have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial results and financial condition. In addition, the COVID-19
pandemic increases the likelihood and potential severity of other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.
Weak global economic conditions, geopolitical uncertainty and instability in financial markets may adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition, and access to capital markets.
Our revenue and gross margin depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for products in the
markets in which our customers compete. Adverse worldwide economic conditions and geopolitical uncertainty may create
challenging conditions in the electronics industry, which has occurred and may continue to occur as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic.
Additionally, the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the EU ("Brexit") may also adversely impact worldwide
economic conditions. The U.K. left the EU on January 31, 2020, and is currently in an 11-month transition period following
which it will leave the single market and customs union pursuant to terms of a trade agreement currently being negotiated by
the U.K. and the EU. The terms of this trade agreement are uncertain, and the political and economic instability created by
Brexit caused and may continue to cause significant volatility in global markets. Additionally, conditions may be adversely
impacted by and the actions that the U.S. or other countries have taken or may take with respect to certain treaty and trade
relationships with other countries. The U.S. has thus far signaled a desire to reach a broad trade deal with a post-Brexit U.K.
this year, but demands for concessions on issues like tariffs, non-tariff barriers, tax policies, and market access could present
obstacles to achieving an agreement. Disagreements over similar issues, including market access, non-tariff barriers, and digital
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service taxes continue to raise the possibility of the U.S. imposing more tariffs on EU goods, even as the U.S. government
signals a desire to reach a trade deal with the EU. The COVID-19 pandemic has served to further delay any potential progress
on any U.S.-U.K. and U.S.-EU trade deal. Meetings between U.S. and U.K. trade officials to discuss a bilateral trade deal,
which were scheduled for the end of March, then postponed indefinitely, as both countries instead dealt with the COVID-19
pandemic.

We depend on industries that continually produce technologically advanced products with short product life cycles and our
business would be adversely affected if our customers' products are not successful or if our customers lose market share.

Notice & Proxy Statement

These conditions may result in reduced consumer and business confidence and spending in many countries, a tightening
in the credit markets, a reduced level of liquidity in many financial markets, high volatility in credit, fixed income and equity
markets, currency exchange rate fluctuations, and global economic uncertainty. In addition, longer term disruptions in the
capital and credit markets could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed for our business. If financial institutions that
have extended credit commitments to us are adversely affected by the conditions of the U.S. and international capital markets,
they may become unable to fund borrowings under their credit commitments to us, which could have an adverse impact on our
financial condition and our ability to borrow additional funds, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions,
research and development and other corporate purposes.

For the period ended March 31, 2020, we derived our revenues from customers in the following business groups (which,
beginning in fiscal year 2021, we expect to realign in two reportable segments (Flex Agility Solutions Group and Flex
Reliability Solutions Group)):

•

IEI, which is comprised of energy including advanced metering infrastructure, energy storage, smart lighting,
smart solar energy; and industrial, including semiconductor and capital equipment, office solutions,
household industrial and lifestyle, industrial automation and kiosks;

•

CEC, which includes our telecom business of radio access base stations, remote radio heads and small cells
for wireless infrastructure; our networking business, which includes optical, routing, and switching products
for data and video networks; our server and storage platforms for both enterprise and cloud-based
deployments; next generation storage and security appliance products; and rack-level solutions, converged
infrastructure and software-defined product solutions; and

•

CTG, which includes our consumer-related businesses in IoT enabled devices, audio and consumer power
electronics, mobile devices; and various supply chain solutions for consumer, computing and printing
devices.

Factors affecting any of these industries in general or our customers in particular, could adversely impact us. These
factors include:
•

A negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our customers or on the demand for our customers’
products;

•

rapid changes in technology, evolving industry standards, and requirements for continuous improvement in
products and services that result in short product life cycles;

•

demand for our customers' products may be seasonal;

•

our customers may fail to successfully market their products, and our customers' products may fail to gain
widespread commercial acceptance;

•

our customers' products may have supply chain issues, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic

•

our customers may experience dramatic market share shifts in demand which may cause them to lose market
share or exit businesses; and
13
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HRS, which is comprised of our health solutions business, including surgical equipment, drug delivery,
diagnostics, telemedicine, disposable devices, imaging and monitoring, patient mobility and ophthalmology;
and our automotive business, including vehicle electrification, connectivity, autonomous, and smart
technologies;
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there may be recessionary periods in our customers' markets, including as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic.

Our customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities or locations, or delay production, and our current and
potential customers may decide to manufacture some or all of their products internally, which could harm our business.
Cancellations, reductions, or delays by a significant customer or by a group of customers have harmed, and may in the
future harm, our results of operations by reducing the volumes of products we manufacture and deliver for those customers, by
causing a delay in the repayment of our expenditures for inventory in preparation for customer orders and/or an impairment
loss for inventory, and by lowering our asset utilization and overhead absorption resulting in lower gross margins and earnings.
Additionally, current and prospective customers continuously evaluate our capabilities against other providers as well as against
the merits of manufacturing products themselves. Our business would be adversely affected if customers decide to perform
these functions internally or transfer their business to another provider. In addition, we face competition from the
manufacturing operations of some of our current and potential customers, who are continually evaluating the merits of
manufacturing products internally against the advantages of outsourcing. In the past, some of our customers moved a portion of
their manufacturing from us in order to more fully utilize their excess internal manufacturing capacity. Any of these
developments could cause a decline in our sales, loss of market acceptance of our products or services, decreases of our profits
or loss of our market share.
As a provider of design and manufacturing services and components for electronics, we must provide increasingly rapid
product turnaround times for our customers. We generally do not obtain firm, long-term purchase commitments from our
customers, and we often experience reduced lead times in customer orders which may be less than the lead time we require to
procure necessary components and materials.
The short-term nature of our customers' commitments and the rapid changes in demand for their products reduces our
ability to accurately estimate the future requirements of our customers. This makes it difficult to schedule production and
maximize utilization of our manufacturing capacity. In that regard, we must make significant decisions, including determining
the levels of business that we will seek and accept, setting production schedules, making component procurement
commitments, and allocating personnel and other resources based on our estimates of our customers' requirements.
On occasion, customers require rapid increases in production or require that manufacturing of their products be
transitioned from one facility to another to reduce costs or achieve other objectives. These demands stress our resources, can
cause supply chain management issues, and reduce our margins. We may not have sufficient capacity at any given time to meet
our customers' demands, and transfers from one facility to another can result in inefficiencies and costs due to excess capacity
in one facility and corresponding capacity constraints at another. Many of our costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed,
and thus customer order fluctuations, deferrals, and transfers of demand from one facility to another, as described above, have
had a material adverse effect on our operating results in the past and we may experience such effects in the future.
Our industry is extremely competitive; if we are not able to continue to provide competitive services, we may lose business.
We compete with a number of different companies, depending on the type of service we provide or the location of our
operations. For example, we compete with major global EMS providers, other smaller EMS companies that have a regional or
product-specific focus and ODMs with respect to some of the services that we provide. We also compete with our current and
prospective customers, who evaluate our capabilities in light of their own capabilities and cost structures. Our industry is
extremely competitive, many of our competitors have achieved substantial market share, and some may have lower cost
structures or greater design, manufacturing, financial or other resources than we do. We face particular competition from Asianbased competitors, including Taiwanese ODM suppliers who compete in a variety of our end markets and have a substantial
share of global information technology hardware production. If we are unable to provide comparable manufacturing services
and improved products at lower cost than the other companies in our market, our net sales could decline.
A significant percentage of our sales come from a small number of customers and a decline in sales to any of these
customers could adversely affect our business.
Sales to our ten largest customers represent a significant percentage of our net sales. Our ten largest customers accounted
for approximately 39%, 43% and 41% of net sales in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. No customer accounted
for more than 10% of net sales in fiscal year 2020, 2019 and 2018. Our principal customers have varied from year to year.
These customers may experience dramatic declines in their market shares or competitive position, due to economic or other
forces, that may cause them to reduce their purchases from us or, in some cases, result in the termination of their relationship
with us. Significant reductions in sales to any of these customers, or the loss of major customers, would materially harm our
business. If we are not able to timely replace expired, canceled or reduced contracts with new business, our revenues and
profitability could be harmed. Additionally, mergers, acquisitions, consolidations or other significant transactions involving our
key customers generally entail risks to our business. If a significant transaction involving any of our key customers results in
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the loss of or reduction in purchases by any of our largest customers, it could have a materially adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Our components business is dependent on our ability to quickly launch world-class component products, and our
investment in the development of our component capabilities, together with the start-up and integration costs necessary to
achieve quick launches of world-class component products, may adversely affect our margins and profitability.

To create these world class components offerings, we must continue to make substantial investments in the development
of our components capabilities, in resources such as research and development, technology licensing, test and tooling
equipment, facility expansions, and personnel requirements. We may not be able to achieve or maintain market acceptance for
any of our components offerings in any of our current or target markets. The success of our components business will also
depend upon the level of market acceptance of our customers' end products, which incorporate our components, and over which
we have no control.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Our components business, which include power supply manufacturing, is part of our strategy to improve our competitive
position and to grow our future margins, profitability and shareholder returns by expanding our capabilities. The success of our
components business is dependent on our ability to design and introduce world- class components that have performance
characteristics which are suitable for a broad market and that offer significant price and/or performance advantages over
competitive products.

Our exposure to financially troubled customers or suppliers may adversely affect our financial results.

We may be adversely affected by supply chain issues, including shortages of required electronic components.
From time to time, we have experienced shortages of some of the electronic components that we use. These shortages can
result from strong demand for those components or from problems experienced by suppliers, such as shortages of raw
materials. We have also experienced, and may continue to experience, such shortages due to the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. These unanticipated component shortages have resulted and could continue to result in curtailed production or
delays in production, which may prevent us from making scheduled shipments to customers. Our inability to make scheduled
shipments could cause us to experience a reduction in sales, increase in inventory levels and costs, and could adversely affect
relationships with existing and prospective customers. Component shortages may also increase our cost of goods sold because
we may be required to pay higher prices for components in short supply and redesign or reconfigure products to accommodate
substitute components. As a result, component shortages could adversely affect our operating results. Our performance
depends, in part, on our ability to incorporate changes in component costs into the selling prices for our products.
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On April 21, 2016, SunEdison, Inc. (together with certain of its subsidiaries, “SunEdison”) filed for protection under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016, we recognized a bad debt reserve
charge of $61.0 million associated with our outstanding SunEdison receivables and accepted return of previously shipped
inventory of approximately $90.0 million. SunEdison stated in schedules filed with the Bankruptcy Court that, within the 90
days preceding SunEdison's bankruptcy filing, the Company received approximately $98.6 million of inventory and cash
transfers of $69.2 million, which in aggregate represents the Company's estimate of the maximum reasonably possible
contingent loss. On April 15, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, entered into a
tolling agreement with the trustee of the SunEdison Litigation Trust to toll any applicable statute of limitations or other timerelated defense that might exist in regards to any potential claims that either party might be able to assert against the other for a
period that will end at the earlier to occur of: (a) 60 days after a party provides written notice of termination; (b) six years from
the effective date of April 15, 2018; or (c) such other date as the parties may agree in writing. No preference claims have been
asserted against the Company and consideration has been given to the related contingencies based on the facts currently known.
An unfavorable resolution of this matter could be material to our results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows.

Annual Report

We provide manufacturing services to companies and industries that have in the past, and may in the future, experience
financial difficulty. If some of our customers experience financial difficulty, we could have difficulty recovering amounts owed
to us from these customers, or demand for our products from these customers could decline. Additionally, if our suppliers
experience financial difficulty we could have difficulty sourcing supplies necessary to fulfill production requirements and meet
scheduled shipments. If one or more of our customers were to become insolvent or otherwise were unable to pay for the
services provided by us on a timely basis, or at all, our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Such adverse effects could include one or more of the following: an increase in our provision for doubtful accounts, a charge
for inventory write-offs, a reduction in revenue, and an increase in our working capital requirements due to higher inventory
levels and increases in days our accounts receivables are outstanding. Any of these risks may be heightened by the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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Our supply chain has also been and may continue to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and may be impacted by
other events outside our control, including macro-economic events, trade restrictions, political crises, other public health
emergencies, or natural or environmental occurrences.
Our margins and profitability may be adversely affected due to substantial investments, start-up and production ramp costs
in our design services.
As part of our strategy to enhance our end-to-end service offerings, we continue to expand our design and engineering
capabilities. Providing these services can expose us to different or greater potential risks than those we face when providing our
manufacturing services.
Although we enter into contracts with our design services customers, we may design and develop products for these
customers prior to receiving a purchase order or other firm commitment from them. We are required to make substantial
investments in the resources necessary to design and develop these products, and no revenue may be generated from these
efforts if our customers do not approve the designs in a timely manner or at all. In addition, we may make investments in
designing products and not be able to design viable manufacturable products, in which cases we may not be able to recover our
investments. Even if we are successful in designing manufacturable products and our customers accept our designs, if our
customers do not then purchase anticipated levels of products, we may not realize any profits. Our design activities often
require that we purchase inventory for initial production runs before we have a purchase commitment from a customer. Even
after we have a contract with a customer with respect to a product, these contracts may allow the customer to delay or cancel
deliveries and may not obligate the customer to any particular volume of purchases. These contracts can generally be
terminated on short notice. In addition, some of the products we design and develop must satisfy safety and regulatory
standards and some must receive government certifications. If we fail to obtain these approvals or certifications on a timely
basis, we would be unable to sell these products, which would harm our sales, profitability and reputation.
Our design services offerings require significant investments in research and development, technology licensing, test and
tooling equipment, patent applications, facility building and expansion and recruitment. We may not be able to achieve a high
enough level of sales for this business to be profitable. The initial costs of investing in the resources necessary to expand our
design and engineering capabilities, and in particular to support our design services offerings, have historically adversely
affected our profitability, and may continue to do so as we continue to make investments to grow these capabilities.
In addition, we often agree to certain product price limitations and cost reduction targets in connection with these
services. Inflationary and other increases in the costs of the raw materials and labor required to produce the products have
occurred and may recur from time to time. Also, the production ramps for these programs are typically significant and
negatively impact our margin in early stages as the manufacturing volumes are lower and result in inefficiencies and
unabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs. We may not be able to reduce costs, incorporate changes in costs into the selling
prices of our products, or increase operating efficiencies as we ramp production of our products, which would adversely affect
our margins and our results of operations.
We conduct operations in a number of countries and are subject to the risks inherent in international operations.
The geographic distances between the Americas, Asia and Europe create a number of logistical and communications
challenges for us. These challenges include managing operations across multiple time zones, directing the manufacture and
delivery of products across distances, coordinating procurement of components and raw materials and their delivery to multiple
locations, and coordinating the activities and decisions of the core management team, which is based in a number of different
countries.
Facilities in several different locations may be involved at different stages of the production process of a single product,
leading to additional logistical difficulties.
Because our manufacturing operations are located in a number of countries throughout the Americas, Asia and Europe,
we are subject to risks of changes in economic and political conditions in those countries, including:
•

fluctuations in the value of local currencies;

•

labor unrest, difficulties in staffing and geographic labor shortages;

•

longer payment cycles;

•

cultural differences;
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trade restrictions including limitations on imports or exports of components or assembled products,
unilaterally or bilaterally;

•

trade sanctions and related regulatory enforcement actions and other proceedings;

•

potential trade wars;

•

increased scrutiny by the media and other third parties of labor practices within our industry (including but
not limited to working conditions) which may result in allegations of violations, more stringent and
burdensome labor laws and regulations and inconsistency in the enforcement and interpretation of such laws
and regulations, higher labor costs, and/or loss of revenues if our customers become dissatisfied with our
labor practices and diminish or terminate their relationship with us;

•

imposition of restrictions on currency conversion or the transfer of funds;

•

expropriation of private enterprises;

•

ineffective legal protection of our intellectual property rights in certain countries;

•

natural disasters;

•

exposure to infectious disease, epidemics and pandemics, including the effects of the COVID-19 on our
business operations in geographic locations impacted by the outbreak and on the business operations of our
customers and suppliers;

•

inability of international customers and suppliers to obtain financing resulting from tightening of credit in
international financial markets;

•

political unrest; and

•

a potential reversal of current favorable policies encouraging foreign investment or foreign trade by our host
countries.

We operate in a number of different countries and jurisdictions, and we cannot anticipate the potential impact that new or
current restrictions in each of these countries or jurisdictions due to COVID-19 may have on our manufacturing operations and
facilities, our supply chain, and our business more generally.
The attractiveness of our services to customers and our ability to conduct business with certain customers can be affected
by changes in U.S. and other countries' trade policies. In 2018, the U.S. imposed tariffs on a large variety of products of
Chinese origin. The U.S. government has also indicated a readiness to further expand the scope of the tariffs on Chinese goods
if negotiations are not successful, and most recently, effective May 10, 2019, increased tariffs on $200 billion of Chinese goods
to 25%. Further, on May 15, 2019, President Trump issued an executive order designed to secure the information and
communications technology and services supply chain, which would restrict the acquisition or use in the United States of
information and communications technology or services designed, developed, manufactured, or supplied by persons owned by,
controlled by, or subject to the jurisdiction or direction of foreign adversaries. The executive order is subject to implementation
by the Secretary of Commerce and applies to contracts entered into prior to the effective date of the order. In addition, the U.S.
Commerce Department has implemented additional restrictions and may implement further restrictions that would affect
conducting business with certain Chinese companies. A “phase one” trade deal signed between the U.S. and China on January
15, 2020 accompanied a U.S. decision to cancel a plan to increase tariffs on an additional list of Chinese products and to reduce
the tariffs imposed on May 13, 2019 from 15% to 7.5% effective February 14, 2020. While the signing of the agreement and
granting of several tariff exclusions by the U.S. Trade Representative signal a cooling of tensions between the U.S. and China
over trade, many of the additional tariffs on Chinese origin goods remain as do concerns over the stability of bilateral trade
relations, particularly given the limited scope of the phase one agreement. In addition, the economic disruption caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic could make it harder for China to meet its obligations under the deal and increases the potential for China
to invoke the deal’s “disaster clause,” which could further challenge US-China bilateral trade relations. Depending upon their
duration and implementation, as well as our ability to mitigate their impact, these tariffs, the executive order and its
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implementation and other regulatory actions could materially affect our business, including in the form of increased cost of
goods sold, decreased margins, increased pricing for customers, and reduced sales. Further, one of our former customers,
Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and some of its affiliates have been added to the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Entity List,
and were recently made subject to enhanced restrictions designed to prevent them from having access to foreign-produced
items using U.S.-origin semiconductor technology and equipment; we could be subject to reputational harm based on its
business activities, including activities with sanctioned countries.
In addition, some countries in which we operate, such as Brazil, Hungary, India, Mexico, Malaysia and Poland, have
experienced periods of slow or negative growth, high inflation, significant currency devaluations or limited availability of
foreign exchange. Furthermore, in countries such as China, Brazil, India and Mexico, governmental authorities exercise
significant influence over many aspects of the economy, and their actions could have a significant effect on us. We could be
seriously harmed by inadequate infrastructure, including lack of adequate power and water supplies, transportation, raw
materials and parts in countries in which we operate. In addition, we may encounter labor disruptions and rising labor costs, in
particular within the lower-cost regions in which we operate. Any increase in labor costs that we are unable to recover in our
pricing to our customers could adversely impact our operating results.
Operations in foreign countries also present risks associated with currency exchange and convertibility, inflation and
repatriation of earnings. In some countries, economic and monetary conditions and other factors could affect our ability to
convert our cash distributions to U.S. dollars or other freely convertible currencies, or to move funds from our accounts in these
countries. Furthermore, the central bank of any of these countries may have the authority to suspend, restrict or otherwise
impose conditions on foreign exchange transactions or to approve distributions to foreign investors.
The success of certain of our activities depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights; claims of
infringement or misuse of intellectual property and/or breach of license agreement provisions against our customers or us
could harm our business.
We retain certain intellectual property rights to some of the technologies that we develop as part of our engineering,
design and manufacturing services and components offerings. The measures we have taken to prevent unauthorized use of our
technology may not be successful. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, this could reduce or eliminate the
competitive advantages of our proprietary technology, which would harm our business.
Our engineering, design and manufacturing services and components offerings involve the creation and use of intellectual
property rights, which subject us to the risk of claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property from third parties and/
or breach of our agreements with third parties, as well as claims arising from the allocation of intellectual property risk among
us and our customers. From time to time, we enter into intellectual property licenses (e.g., patent licenses and software
licenses) with third parties which obligate us to report covered behavior to the licensor and pay license fees to the licensor for
certain activities or products, or that enable our use of third party technologies. We may also decline to enter into licenses for
intellectual property that we do not think is useful for or used in our operations, or for which our customers or suppliers have
licenses or have assumed responsibility.
Given the diverse and varied nature of our business and the location of our business around the world, certain activities
we perform, such as providing assembly services in China and India, may fall outside the scope of those licenses or may not be
subject to the applicable intellectual property rights. Our licensors may disagree and claim royalties are owed for such
activities. In addition, the basis (e.g., base price) for any royalty amounts owed are audited by licensors and may be challenged.
Our customers are increasingly requiring us to indemnify them against the risk of intellectual property-related claims and
licensors are claiming that activities we perform are covered by licenses to which we are a party. In March 2018, we received
an inquiry from a licensor referencing a patent license agreement, and requesting information relating royalties for products
that we assemble for a customer in China. If any of these inquiries result in a claim, the Company intends to contest any such
claim vigorously. If a claim is asserted and we are unsuccessful in its defense, a material loss is reasonably possible. We cannot
predict or estimate an amount or reasonable range of outcomes with respect to the matter.
If any claims of infringement or misuse of intellectual property from third parties and/or breach of our agreements with
third parties, as well as claims arising from the allocation of intellectual property risk among us and our customers, are brought
against us or our customers, whether or not these have merit, we could be required to expend significant resources in defense of
such claims. In the event of such a claim, we may be required to spend a significant amount of money to develop alternatives or
obtain licenses or to resolve the issue through litigation. We may not be successful in developing such alternatives or obtaining
such licenses on reasonable terms or at all, and any such litigation might not be resolved in our favor, in which cases we may be
required to curtail certain of our services and offerings. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly, and could
materially harm our financial condition regardless of outcome.
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We also face certain heightened risks to our intellectual property rights due to our extensive operations in foreign
jurisdictions, including the risk of theft or misuse of our intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The laws of
certain countries in which we operate may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States, and the mechanisms to enforce intellectual property rights may be inadequate to protect our rights, which could harm
our business.

From time to time, we are involved in various claims, suits, investigations and legal proceedings. Additional legal claims
or regulatory matters may arise in the future and could involve matters relating to commercial disputes, government regulatory
and compliance, intellectual property, antitrust, tax, employment or shareholder issues, product liability claims and other issues
on a global basis. If we receive an adverse judgment in any such matter, we could be required to pay substantial damages and
cease certain practices or activities. Regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation and other proceedings may be both timeconsuming and disruptive to our business. The defense and ultimate outcome of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings may
result in higher operating expenses and a decrease in operating margin, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, or results of operations.

If we do not effectively manage changes in our operations, our business may be harmed; we have taken substantial
restructuring charges in the past and we may need to take material restructuring charges in the future.
The expansion of our business, as well as business contractions and other changes in our customers' requirements, have in
the past, and may in the future, require that we adjust our business and cost structures by incurring restructuring charges.
Restructuring activities involve reductions in our workforce at some locations and closure of certain facilities. All of these
changes have in the past placed, and may in the future place, considerable strain on our financial and management control
systems and resources, including decision support, accounting management, information systems and facilities. If we do not
properly manage our financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures to manage our employees, our
business could be harmed.
In recent years, including fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, we initiated targeted restructuring activities focused on
optimizing our portfolio, in particular customers and products in our CTG business, optimizing our cost structure in lower
growth areas and, more importantly, streamlining certain corporate and segment functions. Restructuring charges are recorded
based upon employee termination dates, site closure and consolidation plans generally in conjunction with an overall corporate
initiative to drive cost reduction and realign the Company's global footprint.
We may be required to take additional charges in the future to align our operations and cost structures with global
economic conditions, market demands, cost competitiveness, and our geographic footprint as it relates to our customers'
production requirements and in response to the economic challenges in light of recent events with COVID-19. We may
consolidate certain manufacturing facilities or transfer certain of our operations to lower cost geographies. If we are required to
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On February 14, 2019, we submitted an initial notification of voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Department of the Treasury,
Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") regarding possible noncompliance with U.S. economic sanctions requirements
among certain non-U.S. Flex-affiliated operations. We have initiated an internal investigation regarding this matter which is
ongoing. We expect to complete the investigation and report to OFAC by the end of the second quarter of fiscal year 2021, and
cannot at this time estimate the amount, or the range of reasonably possible amounts, of penalties the Company could be
subject to, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows..

Annual Report

On May 8, 2018, a putative class action was filed in the Northern District of California against the Company and certain
officers alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated
thereunder, alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s financial results, press releases and SEC
filings made during the putative class period of January 26, 2017 through April 26, 2018. On October 1, 2018, the Court
appointed lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel in the case. On November 28, 2018, lead plaintiff filed an amended
complaint alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s SEC filings, press releases, earnings calls, and
analyst and investor conferences and expanding the putative class period through October 25, 2018. On April 3, 2019, the Court
vacated its prior order appointing lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel and reopened the lead plaintiff appointment process.
On September 26, 2019, the Court appointed a new lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel in the case. On November 8, 2019,
lead plaintiff filed a further amended complaint. On December 4, 2019, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint. The motion has been fully briefed. On March 12, 2020, the Court vacated the hearing date and took the motion
under submission without argument. No decision has yet been issued. Any existing or future lawsuits could be time-consuming,
result in significant expense and divert the attention and resources of our management and other key employees, as well as
harm our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations.

Notice & Proxy Statement

We are subject to risks relating to litigation and regulatory investigations and proceedings, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business.
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take additional restructuring charges in the future, our operating results, financial condition, and cash flows could be adversely
impacted. Additionally, there are other potential risks associated with our restructurings that could adversely affect us, such as
delays encountered with the finalization and implementation of the restructuring activities, work stoppages, and the failure to
achieve targeted cost savings.
A breach of our IT or physical security systems, or violation of data privacy laws, may cause us to incur significant legal
and financial exposure.
We are increasingly reliant on our information systems to process, transmit and store electronic information (including
sensitive data such as confidential business information and personally identifiable data relating to employees, customers, and
other business partners), and to manage or support a variety of critical business processes and activities. In particular, the
COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to modify our business practices, including requiring many of our office-based employees
to work from home. As a result, we are increasingly dependent upon our information systems to operate our business and our
ability to effectively manage our business depends on the security, reliability and adequacy of our such information systems.
We regularly face attempts by others to gain unauthorized access through the Internet or to introduce malicious software to our
information systems. We are also a target of malicious attackers who attempt to gain access to our network or data centers or
those of our customers or end users; steal proprietary information related to our business, products, employees, and customers;
or interrupt our systems and services or those of our customers or others. We believe such attempts are increasing in number
and in technical sophistication. In some instances, we, our customers, and the users of our products and services might be
unaware of an incident or its magnitude and effects. We have implemented security systems with the intent of maintaining the
physical security of our facilities and inventory and protecting our customers’ and our suppliers’ confidential information. In
addition, while we seek to detect and investigate all unauthorized attempts and attacks against our network, products, and
services, and to prevent their recurrence where practicable through changes to our internal processes and tools, we are subject
to, and at times have suffered from, breach of these security systems which have in the past and may in the future result in
unauthorized access to our facilities and/or unauthorized use or theft of the inventory or information we are trying to protect. If
unauthorized parties gain physical access to our inventory or if they gain electronic access to our information systems or if such
information or inventory is used in an unauthorized manner, misdirected, or lost or stolen during transmission or transport, any
theft or misuse of such information or inventory could result in, among other things, unfavorable publicity, governmental
inquiry and oversight, difficulty in marketing our services, allegations by our customers that we have not performed our
contractual obligations, litigation by affected parties including our customers and possible financial obligations for damages
related to the theft or misuse of such information or inventory, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
profitability and cash flow.
In addition, new data privacy laws and regulations, including the new European Union General Data Protection
Regulation (“GDPR”) effective May 2018, pose increasingly complex compliance challenges, which may increase compliance
costs, and any failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations could result in significant penalties. Additionally,
California recently enacted legislation, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which became effective January 1,
2020. The CCPA, among other requirements, require covered companies to provide new disclosures to California consumers,
and allow such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA was amended in
September 2018 and November 2019, and modifications were proposed in February 2020. It is unclear whether further
modifications will be made to this law. Additionally, new privacy laws and regulations are under development at the U.S.
Federal and state level and many international jurisdictions.
The effects of the GDPR, the CCPA and other data privacy laws and regulations may be significant, and may require us to
modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Any actual
or perceived failures to comply with the GDPR, the CCPA or other data privacy laws or regulations, or related contractual or
other obligations, or any perceived privacy rights violation, could lead to investigations, claims, and proceedings by
governmental entities and private parties, damages for contract breach, and other significant costs, penalties, and other
liabilities, as well as harm to our reputation and market position. The GDPR, CCPA and other laws and self-regulatory codes
may affect our ability to reach current and prospective customers, to understand how our solutions and services are being used,
to respond to customer requests allowed under the laws, and to implement our new business models effectively. These new
laws and regulations could similarly affect our customers.
Our strategic relationships with major customers create risks.
In the past, we have completed numerous strategic transactions with customers. Under these arrangements, we generally
acquire inventory, equipment and other assets from the customers, and lease or acquire their manufacturing facilities, while
simultaneously entering into multi-year manufacturing and supply agreements for the production of their products. We may
pursue these customer divestiture transactions in the future. These arrangements entered into with divesting customers typically
involve many risks, including the following:
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we may need to pay a purchase price to the divesting customers that exceeds the value we ultimately may
realize from the future business of the customer;

•

the integration of the acquired assets and facilities into our business may be time-consuming and costly,
including the incurrence of restructuring charges;

•

we, rather than the divesting customer, bear the risk of excess capacity at the facility;

•

we may not achieve anticipated cost reductions and efficiencies at the facility;

•

we may be unable to meet the expectations of the customer as to volume, product quality, timeliness and cost
reductions;

•

our supply agreements with the customers generally do not require any minimum volumes of purchase by the
customers, and the actual volume of purchases may be less than anticipated; and

•

if demand for the customers' products declines, the customer may reduce its volume of purchases, and we
may not be able to sufficiently reduce the expenses of operating the facility or use the facility to provide
services to other customers.

If our compliance policies are breached, we may incur significant legal and financial exposure.

We are subject to the risk of increased income taxes.
We are subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix
of earnings in countries with differing statutory rates and changes in tax laws or their interpretation including changes related to
tax holidays or tax incentives. The international tax environment continues to change as a result of both coordinated efforts by
governments and unilateral measures designed by individual countries, both intended to tackle concerns over perceived
international tax avoidance techniques, which could ultimately have an adverse effect on the taxation of international
businesses. In addition, legislative changes may result from the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development’s
Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project. Any such changes, if adopted, could adversely impact our effective tax rate.
Our taxes could also increase if certain tax holidays or incentives are not renewed upon expiration, or if tax rates
applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased. Our continued ability to qualify for specific tax holiday
extensions will depend on, among other things, our anticipated investment and expansion in these countries and the manner in
which the local governments interpret the requirements for modifications, extensions or new incentives.
In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing
jurisdictions around the world. In determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, we regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from tax examinations. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the
timing of the resolution of a tax examination, we believe that our reserves for uncertain tax benefits reflect the outcome of tax
positions that are more likely than not to occur. However, we cannot assure you that the final determination of any tax
examinations will not be materially different than that which is reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should
additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future examination, there could be a material adverse effect on our tax
provision, operating results, financial position and cash flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made.
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We have implemented local and global compliance policies to ensure compliance with our legal obligations across our
operations. A significant legal risk resulting from our international operations is compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act or similar local laws of the countries in which we do business, including the UK Anti-Bribery Act, which
prohibits covered companies from making payments to foreign government officials to assist in obtaining or retaining business.
Our Code of Business Conduct prohibits corrupt payments on a global basis and precludes us from offering or giving anything
of value to a government official for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, to win a business advantage or to
improperly influence a decision regarding Flex. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that all of our employees and agents
will refrain from taking actions in violation of this and our related anti-corruption policies and procedures. Any such violation
could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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As a result of these and other risks, we have been, and in the future may be, unable to achieve anticipated levels of
profitability under these arrangements. In addition, these strategic arrangements have not, and in the future may not, result in
any material revenues or contribute positively to our earnings per share.

Notice & Proxy Statement
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Changes in financial accounting standards or policies have affected, and in the future may affect, our reported financial
condition or results of operations.
We prepare our financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. These principles are subject to interpretation by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the SEC and
various bodies formed to interpret and create accounting policies. For example, significant changes to lease accounting rules
have been enacted and applied to us in fiscal year 2020 per Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 2016-02 "Leases". Changes
to accounting rules or challenges to our interpretation or application of the rules by regulators may have a material adverse
effect on our reported financial results or on the way we conduct business. Refer to "Recently Adopted Accounting
Pronouncements" within note 2 of Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
We may encounter difficulties with acquisitions and divestitures, which could harm our business.
We have completed numerous acquisitions of businesses and we may acquire additional businesses in the future. Any
future acquisitions may require additional equity financing, which could be dilutive to our existing shareholders, or additional
debt financing, which could increase our leverage and potentially affect our credit ratings. Any downgrades in our credit ratings
associated with an acquisition could adversely affect our ability to borrow by resulting in more restrictive borrowing terms. As
a result of the foregoing, we also may not be able to complete acquisitions or strategic customer transactions in the future to the
same extent as in the past, or at all.
To integrate acquired businesses, we must implement our management information systems, operating systems and
internal controls, and assimilate and manage the personnel of the acquired operations. The difficulties of this integration may be
further complicated by geographic distances. The integration of acquired businesses may not be successful and could result in
disruption to other parts of our business. In addition, the integration of acquired businesses may require that we incur
significant restructuring charges.
In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks and challenges, including:
•

diversion of management's attention from the normal operation of our business;

•

potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies;

•

difficulties managing and integrating operations in geographically dispersed locations;

•

the potential for deficiencies in internal controls at acquired companies;

•

increases in our expenses and working capital requirements, which reduce our return on invested capital;

•

lack of experience operating in the geographic market or industry sector of the acquired business;

•

cybersecurity and compliance related issues;

•

initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chain or relatively small supply chain partners; and

•

exposure to unanticipated liabilities of acquired companies.

In addition, divestitures involve significant risks, including without limitation, difficulty finding financially sufficient
buyers or selling on acceptable terms in a timely manner, and the agreed-upon terms could be renegotiated due to changes in
business or market conditions. Divestitures could adversely affect our profitability and, under certain circumstances, require us
to record impairment charges or a loss as a result of the transaction. In addition, completing divestitures requires expenses and
management attention and could leave us with certain continuing liabilities.
These and other factors have harmed, and in the future could harm, our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability
at acquired operations or realize other anticipated benefits of an acquisition or divestiture, and could adversely affect our
business and operating results.
We may not meet regulatory quality standards applicable to our manufacturing and quality processes for medical devices,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
As a medical device manufacturer, we have additional compliance requirements. We are required to register with the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") and are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA for compliance with the FDA's
Quality System Regulation ("QSR") requirements, which require manufacturers of medical devices to adhere to certain
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In the European Union ("EU"), we are required to maintain certain standardized certifications in order to sell our products
and must undergo periodic inspections to obtain and maintain these certifications. Continued noncompliance to the EU
regulations could stop the flow of products into the EU from us or from our customers. In China, the Safe Food and Drug
Administration controls and regulates the manufacture and commerce of healthcare products. We must comply with the
regulatory laws applicable to medical device manufactures or our ability to manufacture products in China could be impacted.
In Japan, the Pharmaceutical Affairs Laws regulate the manufacture and commerce of healthcare products. These regulations
also require that subcontractors manufacturing products intended for sale in Japan register with authorities and submit to
regulatory audits. Other Asian countries and Latin America where we operate have similar laws regarding the regulation of
medical device manufacturing.

Defects in the products we manufacture or design, whether caused by a design, engineering, manufacturing or component
failure or deficiencies in our manufacturing processes, could result in product or component failures, which may damage our
business reputation and expose us to product liability or product warranty claims.
Product liability claims may include liability for personal injury or property damage. Product warranty claims may
include liability to pay for the recall, repair or replacement of a product or component. Although we generally allocate liability
for these claims in our contracts with our customers, increasingly we are unsuccessful in allocating such liability, and even
where we have allocated liability to our customers, our customers may not have the resources to satisfy claims for costs or
liabilities arising from a defective product or component for which they have assumed responsibility.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could increase our operating costs.
We have manufacturing operations and industrial parks that are located in various part of the world, including Asia,
Eastern Europe, Mexico and Brazil. A portion of our purchases and our sale transactions are denominated in currencies other
than the United States dollar. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in these currencies impacting our fixed cost overhead
or our supply base relative to the currencies in which we conduct transactions.
Currency exchange rates fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of a number of factors, including changes in a country's
political and economic policies. The primary impact of currency exchange fluctuations is on the cash, receivables, payables and
expenses of our operating entities. As part of our currency hedging strategy, we use financial instruments such as forward
exchange, swap contracts, and options to hedge our foreign currency exposure in order to reduce the short-term impact of
foreign currency rate fluctuations on our operating results. If our hedging activities are not successful or if we change or reduce
these hedging activities in the future, we may experience significant unexpected fluctuations in our operating results as a result
of changes in exchange rates.
We are also exposed to risks related to the valuation of the Chinese currency relative to the U.S. dollar. The Chinese
currency is the renminbi ("RMB"). A significant increase in the value of the RMB could adversely affect our financial results
and cash flows by increasing both our manufacturing costs and the costs of our local supply base. Additionally, the recent
COVID-19 pandemic could contribute to foreign currency volatility. Volatility in the functional and non-functional currencies
of our entities and the United States dollar could seriously harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
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If we design, engineer or manufacture a product or component that is found to cause any personal injury or property
damage or is otherwise found to be defective, we could spend a significant amount of money to resolve the claim. In addition,
product liability and product recall insurance coverage are expensive and may not be available for some or all of our services
offerings on acceptable terms, in sufficient amounts, or at all. A successful product liability or product warranty claim in excess
of our insurance coverage or any material claim for which insurance coverage is denied, limited or is not available could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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If our products or components contain defects, demand for our services may decline and we may be exposed to product
liability and product warranty liability.
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regulations, including testing, quality control and documentation procedures. Compliance with applicable regulatory
requirements is subject to continual review and is rigorously monitored through periodic inspections and product field
monitoring by the FDA. If any FDA inspection reveals noncompliance with QSR or other FDA regulations, and the Company
does not address the observation adequately to the satisfaction of the FDA, the FDA may take action against us. FDA actions
may include issuing a letter of inspectional observations, issuing a warning letter, imposing fines, bringing an action against the
Company and its officers, requiring a recall of the products we manufactured for our customers, refusing requests for clearance
or approval of new products or withdrawal of clearance or approval previously granted, issuing an import detention on products
entering the U.S. from an offshore facility, or shutting down a manufacturing facility. If any of these actions were to occur, it
would harm our reputation and cause our business to suffer.
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Our operating results may fluctuate significantly due to seasonal demand.
Two of our significant end markets are the mobile devices market and the consumer devices market. These markets
exhibit particular strength generally in the two quarters leading up to the end of the calendar year in connection with the
holiday season. As a result, we have historically experienced stronger revenues in our second and third fiscal quarters as
compared to our other fiscal quarters. Economic or other factors leading to diminished orders in the end of the calendar year
could harm our business.
We depend on our executive officers and skilled personnel.
Our success depends to a large extent upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key employees.
Generally, our employees are not bound by employment or non-competition agreements, and we cannot assure you that we will
retain our executive officers and other key employees. We could be seriously harmed by the loss of any of our executive
officers or other key employees, or if such employees are unable to work effectively or at all due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
We will need to recruit and retain skilled management personnel, and if we are not able to do so, our business could be harmed.
In addition, in connection with expanding our design services offerings, we must attract and retain experienced design
engineers. There is substantial competition in our industry for highly skilled employees. Additionally, hiring, training and
retaining skilled employees may be adversely impacted by global economic uncertainty and office closures caused by
COVID-19. Our failure to recruit and retain experienced design engineers, or if they are unable to work effectively or at all due
to the COVID-19 pandemic, could limit the growth of our design services offerings, which could adversely affect our business.
Our failure to comply with environmental laws could adversely affect our business.
We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations, including regulations
governing the use, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances used in our manufacturing processes. We are also
subject to laws and regulations governing the recyclability of products, the materials that may be included in products, and our
obligations to dispose of these products after end users have finished with them. Additionally, we may be exposed to liability to
our customers relating to the materials that may be included in the components that we procure for our customers' products.
Any violation or alleged violation by us of environmental laws could subject us to significant costs, fines or other penalties.
We are also required to comply with an increasing number of global and local product environmental compliance
regulations focused on the restriction of certain hazardous substances. We are subject to the EU directives, including the
Restrictions on RoHS, the WEEE as well as the EU's REACH regulation. In addition, new technical classifications of e-Waste
being discussed in the Basel Convention technical working group could affect both our customers' abilities and obligations in
electronics repair and refurbishment. Also of note is China's Management Methods for Controlling Pollution Caused by EIPs
regulation, commonly referred to as "China RoHS", which restricts the importation into and production within China of
electrical equipment containing certain hazardous materials. Similar legislation has been or may be enacted in other
jurisdictions, including in the United States. RoHS and other similar legislation bans or restricts the use of lead, mercury and
certain other specified substances in electronics products and WEEE requires EU importers and/or producers to assume
responsibility for the collection, recycling and management of waste electronic products and components. We have developed
rigorous risk mitigating compliance programs designed to meet the needs of our customers as well as applicable regulations.
These programs may include collecting compliance data from our suppliers, full laboratory testing and public reporting of other
environmental metrics such as carbon emissions, electronic waste and water, and we also require our supply chain to comply.
Non-compliance could potentially result in significant costs and/or penalties. In the case of WEEE, the compliance
responsibility rests primarily with the EU importers and/or producers rather than with EMS companies. However,
customers may turn to EMS companies for assistance in meeting their obligations under WEEE.
In addition, we are responsible for the cleanup of contamination at some of our current and former manufacturing
facilities and at some third party sites. If more stringent compliance or cleanup standards under environmental laws or
regulations are imposed, or the results of future testing and analyses at our current or former operating facilities indicate that we
are responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the air, ground and/or water, we may be subject to additional
liability. Additional environmental matters may arise in the future at sites where no problem is currently known or at sites that
we may acquire in the future. Additionally, we could be required to alter our manufacturing and operations and incur substantial
expense in order to comply with environmental regulations. Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations or
adequately address contaminated sites could limit our ability to expand our facilities or could require us to incur significant
expenses, which would harm our business.
Failure to comply with domestic or international employment and related laws could result in the payment of significant
damages, which would reduce our net income.
We are subject to a variety of domestic and foreign employment laws, including those related to safety, wages and
overtime, discrimination, whistle-blowing, classification of employees and severance payments. Enforcement activity relating
to these laws, particularly outside of the United States, can increase as a result of increased media attention due to violations by
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other companies, changes in law, political and other factors. There can be no assurance that we won't be found to have violated
such laws in the future, due to a more aggressive enforcement posture by governmental authorities or for any other reason. Any
such violations could lead to the assessment of fines against us by federal, state or foreign regulatory authorities or damages
payable to employees, which fines could be substantial and which would reduce our net income.
Social and environmental responsibility policies and provisions may be difficult to comply with and may impose costs on us.

Our business could be impacted as a result of actions by activist shareholders or others.

Our debt level may create limitations.
As of March 31, 2020, our total debt was approximately $2.8 billion. This level of indebtedness could limit our flexibility
as a result of debt service requirements and restrictive covenants, and may limit our ability to access additional capital or
execute our business strategy. In addition, in May 2020, we issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes
due 2026 and $325 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due 2030, which increased our level of indebtedness.

Annual Report

We may be subject, from time to time, to legal and business challenges in the operation of our company due to actions
instituted by activist shareholders or others. Responding to such actions could be costly and time-consuming, may not align
with our business strategies and could divert the attention of our Board of Directors and senior management from the pursuit of
our business strategies. Perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of shareholder activism may lead to the
perception of a change in the direction of the business or other instability and may make it more difficult to attract and retain
qualified personnel and business partners and may affect our relationships with vendors, customers and other third parties.
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There is an increasing focus on corporate social and environmental responsibility in our industry. A number of our
customers have adopted, or may adopt, procurement policies that include social and environmental responsibility provisions
that their suppliers should comply with, or they may seek to include such provisions in their procurement terms and conditions.
We currently comply with the sustainability standards set forth by various voluntarily sustainability initiatives and
organizations, and we have joined the U.N. Global Compact, a voluntary initiative for businesses to develop, implement and
disclose sustainability policies and practices. These social and environmental responsibility practices, policies, provisions and
initiatives are subject to change, can be unpredictable, and may be difficult and expensive for us to comply with.

Changes in our credit rating may make it more expensive for us to raise additional capital or to borrow additional funds. We
are also exposed to interest rate fluctuations on our outstanding borrowings and investments.

In addition, we are exposed to interest rate risk under our variable rate terms loans, bilateral facilities and revolving credit
facility for indebtedness we have incurred or may incur under such facilities. The interest rates under these borrowings are
based on either (i) a margin over LIBOR or (ii) the base rate (the greatest of the agent's prime rate, the federal funds rate plus
0.50% and LIBOR for a one-month interest period plus 1.00%) plus an applicable margin, in each case depending on our credit
rating. Refer to the discussion in note 8, "Bank Borrowings and Long-Term Debt" to the consolidated financial statements for
further details of our debt obligations. We are also exposed to interest rate risk on our invested cash balances, our securitization
facilities and our factoring activities.
In addition, the U. K.’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase out
LIBOR by the end of 2021. The U.S. Federal Reserve has begun publishing a Secured Overnight Funding Rate (“SOFR”),
which is intended to replace U.S. dollar LIBOR. Plans for alternative reference rates for other currencies have also been
announced. At this time, we cannot predict how markets will respond to these proposed alternative rates or the effect of any
changes to LIBOR or the discontinuation of LIBOR. If LIBOR is no longer available or if our lenders have increased costs due
to changes in LIBOR, we may experience potential increases in interest rates on our variable rate debt, which could adversely
impact our interest expense, results of operations and cash flows.
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Our credit is rated by credit rating agencies. Our 5.000% Notes due 2023, our 4.750% Notes due 2025, our 4.875% Notes
due 2029, our 4.875% Notes due 2030 and our 3.750% Notes due 2026 are currently rated BBB- by Standard and Poor's
("S&P") which is considered to be “investment grade” by S&P, rated Baa3 by Moody’s which is considered to be “investment
grade” by Moody's, and rated BBB- by Fitch which is considered to be "investment grade" by Fitch. Any decline in our credit
rating may make it more expensive for us to raise additional capital in the future on terms that are acceptable to us, if at all,
negatively impact the price of our ordinary shares, increase our interest payments under some of our existing debt agreements,
and have other negative implications on our business, many of which are beyond our control. In addition, the interest rate
payable on some of our credit facilities is subject to adjustment from time to time if our credit ratings change. Thus, any
potential future negative change in our credit rating may increase the interest rate payable on these credit facilities.
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Catastrophic events could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial results.
Our operations or systems could be disrupted by natural disasters, terrorist activity, public health issues (including the
COVID-19 pandemic), cyber security incidents, interruptions of service from utilities, transportation or telecommunications
providers, or other catastrophic events. Such events could make it difficult or impossible to manufacture or deliver products to
our customers, receive production materials from our suppliers, or perform critical functions, which could adversely affect our
revenue and require significant recovery time and expenditures to resume operations. While we maintain business recovery
plans that are intended to allow us to recover from natural disasters or other events that can be disruptive to our business, some
of our systems are not fully redundant and we cannot be sure that our plans will fully protect us from all such disruptions.
We maintain a program of insurance coverage for a variety of property, casualty, and other risks. We place our insurance
coverage with multiple carriers in numerous jurisdictions. However, one or more of our insurance providers may be unable or
unwilling to pay a claim. The types and amounts of insurance we obtain vary depending on availability, cost, and decisions
with respect to risk retention. The policies have deductibles and exclusions that result in us retaining a level of self-insurance.
Losses not covered by insurance may be large, which could harm our results of operations and financial condition.
Our business could be adversely affected by any delays, or increased costs, resulting from issues that our common carriers
are dealing with in transporting our materials, our products, or both.
We rely on a variety of common carriers to transport our materials from our suppliers to us, and to transport our products
from us to our customers. Problems suffered by any of these common carriers, whether due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a
natural disaster, labor problem, increased energy prices, criminal activity or some other issue, could result in shipping delays,
increased costs, or other supply chain disruptions, and could therefore have a material adverse effect on our operations.
Our business and operations could be adversely impacted by climate change initiatives.
Concern over climate change has led to international legislative and regulatory initiatives directed at limiting carbon
dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions. Proposed and existing efforts to address climate change by reducing greenhouse
gas emissions could directly or indirectly affect our costs of energy, materials, manufacturing, distribution, packaging and other
operating costs, which could impact our business and financial results.
Our goodwill and identifiable intangible assets could become impaired, which could reduce the value of our assets and
reduce our net income in the year in which the write-off occurs.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. We also ascribe
value to certain identifiable intangible assets, which consist primarily of customer relationships, developed technology and
trade names, among others, as a result of acquisitions. We may incur impairment charges on goodwill or identifiable intangible
assets if we determine that the fair values of goodwill or identifiable intangible assets are less than their current carrying values.
We evaluate, on a regular basis, whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate all, or a portion, of the carrying
amount of goodwill may no longer be recoverable, in which case an impairment charge to earnings would become necessary.
If the financial performance of our businesses were to decline significantly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
could incur a material non-cash charge to our income statement for the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.
Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and "Critical Accounting Policies" in "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for further discussion of the impairment testing of goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets.
A decline in general economic conditions or global equity valuations could impact the judgments and assumptions about
the fair value of our businesses and we could be required to record impairment charges on our goodwill or other identifiable
intangible assets in the future, which could impact our consolidated balance sheet, as well as our consolidated statement of
operations. If we are required to recognize an impairment charge in the future, the charge would not impact our consolidated
cash flows, liquidity, capital resources, and covenants under our existing credit facilities, asset securitization program, and other
outstanding borrowings.
Compliance with government regulations regarding the use of "Conflict Minerals" may result in increased costs and risks
to us.
As part of the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC has promulgated disclosure requirements regarding the use of certain minerals
("Minerals") that may have originated in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries. In our most recent
report on Form SD, we reported that, based on our diligence review, we were unable to determine whether Minerals contained
in our products originated in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries or whether the mining or trade of
such Minerals directly or indirectly financed or otherwise benefited armed groups in those countries. We expect to undertake
further reviews of our supply chain as necessary to comply with the SEC’s requirements. Additionally, customers rely on us to
provide critical data regarding the products they purchase and request information on such Minerals. Our materials sourcing is
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The market price of our ordinary shares is volatile.
The stock market in recent years has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market
prices of companies, including technology companies. These fluctuations have often been unrelated to or disproportionately
impacted by the operating performance of these companies. The market for our ordinary shares has been and may in the future
be subject to similar volatility. Factors such as fluctuations in our operating results, announcements of technological
innovations or events affecting other companies in the electronics industry, currency fluctuations, general market fluctuations,
and macro-economic conditions may cause the market price of our ordinary shares to decline.

Notice & Proxy Statement

broad-based and multi-tiered, and we may not be able to easily verify the origins of the Minerals used in the products we sell.
We have many suppliers and each may provide the required information in a different manner, if at all. Accordingly, because
the supply chain is complex, our reputation may suffer if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins of the Minerals, if any,
used in our products. Additionally, customers may demand that the products they purchase be free of any Minerals originating
in the specified countries. The implementation of this requirement could affect the sourcing and availability of products we
purchase from our suppliers. This may reduce the number of suppliers that may be able to provide products and may affect our
ability to obtain products in sufficient quantities to meet customer demand or at competitive prices.

We are subject to risks associated with investments.

Annual Report

We invest in private funds and companies for strategic reasons and may not realize a return on our investments. We make
investments in private funds and companies to further our strategic objectives, support key business initiatives, and develop
business relationships with related portfolio companies. Many of the instruments in which we invest are non-marketable at the
time of our initial investment. During the last half of fiscal year 2019, we reassessed our strategy with respect to our investment
portfolio. We focused on streamlining our investment portfolio and disposed of some of our investments and recognized certain
charges. If any of the funds or companies in which we invest fail, we could lose all or part of our investment. From time-totime we have identified observable price changes, or impairments in investments, and we have written down certain
investments fair values and recognized a loss.
UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

ITEM 1B.
None.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

The composition of the square footage of our facilities, by region, is as follows:
Leased
(Manufacturing)

Owned
(Manufacturing)

Total
(Manufacturing)

Nonmanufacturing

Total

(in million square feet)

Americas
Asia
Europe
Total

3.8
6.8
2.3
12.9

5.6
5.9
2.6
14.1

9.4
12.7
4.9
27.0

8.8
7.8
4.9
21.5

18.2
20.5
9.8
48.5

Our facilities include large industrial parks, ranging in size from approximately 100,000 to 5.7 million square feet in
Brazil, China, India, and Mexico. We also have regional manufacturing operations, generally ranging in size from under
100,000 to approximately 2.7 million square feet in Austria, Brazil, Canada, China, Denmark, Hungary, India, Indonesia,
Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, The Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, Ukraine and
the United States. We also have smaller design and engineering centers, innovation centers and product introduction centers at a
number of locations in the world's major industrial and electronics markets.
Our facilities are well maintained and suitable for the operations conducted. The productive capacity of our plants is
adequate for current needs.
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Our facilities consist of a global network of industrial parks, regional manufacturing operations, and design, engineering
and product introduction centers, providing approximately 27 million square feet of productive capacity as of March 31, 2020.
We do not identify or allocate assets by operating segment, as they are interchangeable in nature and used by multiple operating
segments.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material legal proceedings, see note 13 "Commitments and Contingencies" to the consolidated
financial statements included under Item 8, which is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
MARKET AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

As of May 20, 2020 there were 2,994 holders of record of our ordinary shares. This does not include persons whose stock
is in nominee or "street name" accounts through brokers.
DIVIDENDS
Since inception, we have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently do not have plans
to pay any dividends in fiscal year 2021.
STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our ordinary shares, the Standard & Poor's 500
Stock Index and a peer group comprised of Benchmark Electronics, Inc., Celestica Inc., Jabil Inc., and Sanmina Corporation.
The graph below assumes that $100 was invested in our ordinary shares, in the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and in
the peer group described above on March 31, 2015 and reflects the annual return through March 31, 2020, assuming dividend
reinvestment.

Annual Report

The following stock price performance graph and accompanying information is not deemed to be "soliciting material" or
to be "filed" with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, regardless of any general incorporation language in any
such filing.
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Our ordinary shares are quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "FLEX."

The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not indicative of, or intended to forecast, the
possible future performances of our ordinary shares.
Shareholder Info
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Flex, the S&P 500 Index, and Peer Group

3/15

Flex Ltd.
S&P 500 Index
Peer Group

100.00
100.00
100.00

3/16

3/17

95.11
101.78
90.70

132.49
119.26
137.35

3/18

3/19

128.79
135.95
117.24

78.86
148.86
110.69

3/20

66.05
138.47
93.72

Prepared by Zacks Investment Research, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved. Copyright 1980-2020
Index Data: Copyright Standard and Poor's, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information regarding purchases of our ordinary shares made by us for the period from
January 1, 2020 through March 31, 2020.

Period (2)

January 1 - January 31, 2020
February 1 - February 28, 2020
February 29 - March 31, 2020
Total

Average
Price
Paid per
Share

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased (1)

727,887
3,690,995
3,015,107
7,433,989

$

13.05
12.98
9.75

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs

727,887
3,690,995
3,015,107
7,433,989

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet
Be Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

$

392,523,252
344,627,426
315,227,484

(1) During the period from January 1, 2020 through March 31, 2020 all purchases were made pursuant to the program discussed below
in open market transactions. All purchases were made in accordance with Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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(2) On August 20, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized repurchases of our outstanding ordinary shares for up to $500 million. This
is in accordance with the share purchase mandate whereby our shareholders approved a repurchase limit of 20% of our issued
ordinary shares outstanding at the Annual General Meeting held on the same date as the Board authorization. As of March 31, 2020,
shares in the aggregate amount of $315.2 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
None.

Dividends. Singapore does not impose a withholding tax on dividends. All dividends on our ordinary shares are not
taxable in Singapore to shareholders, provided that any dividends are paid to shareholders outside of Singapore for this purpose
and such dividends are not received or deemed to be received in Singapore by shareholders and are not derived by shareholders
pursuant to any trade or business carried on in Singapore. Certain tax exemptions are available for foreign-sourced dividends
received by Singapore tax residents, subject to conditions. Since inception, we have not declared or paid any cash dividends on
our ordinary shares, and we currently do not have plans to pay any dividends.

Shareholders who apply, or who are required to apply, the Singapore Financial Reporting Standard 39 Financial
Instruments—Recognition and Measurement ("FRS 39") for the purposes of Singapore income tax may be required to
recognize gains or losses (not being gains or losses in the nature of capital) in accordance with the provisions of FRS 39 (as
modified by the applicable provisions of Singapore income tax law) even though no sale or disposal of shares is made.

Annual Report

Gains on Disposal. Under current Singapore tax law there is no tax on capital gains, and thus any profits from the
disposal of shares are not taxable in Singapore unless the gains arising from the disposal of shares are income in nature and
subject to tax, especially if they arise from activities which the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore regards as the carrying
on of a trade or business in Singapore (in which case, the profits on the sale would be taxable as trade profits rather than capital
gains).

Notice & Proxy Statement

INCOME TAXATION UNDER SINGAPORE LAW

Stamp Duty. There is no stamp duty payable for holding shares, and no duty is payable on the issue of new shares.
When existing shares are acquired in Singapore, a stamp duty of 0.2% is payable on the instrument of transfer of the shares at
market value. The stamp duty is borne by the purchaser unless there is an agreement to the contrary. If the instrument of
transfer is executed outside of Singapore, the stamp duty must be paid only if the instrument of transfer is received in
Singapore.

If an individual who is not domiciled in Singapore dies on or after January 1, 2002, no estate tax is payable in Singapore
on any of our shares held by the individual.
If property passing upon the death of an individual domiciled in Singapore includes our shares, Singapore estate duty is
payable to the extent that the value of the shares aggregated with any other assets subject to Singapore estate duty exceeds S
$600,000. Unless other exemptions apply to the other assets, for example, the separate exemption limit for residential
properties, any excess beyond S$600,000 will be taxed at 5% on the first S$12,000,000 of the individual's chargeable assets and
thereafter at 10%.
An individual shareholder who is a U.S. citizen or resident (for U.S. estate tax purposes) will have the value of the shares
included in the individual's gross estate for U.S. estate tax purposes. An individual shareholder generally will be entitled to a
tax credit against the shareholder's U.S. estate tax to the extent the individual shareholder actually pays Singapore estate tax on
the value of the shares; however, such tax credit is generally limited to the percentage of the U.S. estate tax attributable to the
inclusion of the value of the shares included in the shareholder's gross estate for U.S. estate tax purposes, adjusted further by a
pro rata apportionment of available exemptions. Individuals who are domiciled in Singapore should consult their own tax
advisors regarding the Singapore estate tax consequences of their investment.
Tax Treaties Regarding Withholding. There is no reciprocal income tax treaty between the U.S. and Singapore regarding
withholding taxes on dividends and capital gains.
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Estate Taxation. The estate duty was abolished for deaths occurring on or after February 15, 2008. For deaths prior to
February 15, 2008 the following rules apply:
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

These historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future. The following selected
consolidated financial data set forth below was derived from our historical audited consolidated financial statements and is
qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" and Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." On April 1, 2018, we
adopted the new revenue standard and as a result we recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue
standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. The comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect at the time. (Amounts may not sum due to rounding).
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

(In millions, except per share amounts)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS DATA:
Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges (3)
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expenses
Intangible amortization
Restructuring charges (3)
Interest and other, net
Other charges (income), net (1)
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Diluted earnings per share:
Total

$

24,210
22,681
190
1,338

$

834
64
26
164
92
158
71
88

$

0.17

$

26,211
24,594
99
1,518

$

953
74
14
183
110
182
89
93

$

0.18

$

25,441
23,778
67
1,596

$

23,863
22,303
39
1,521

1,019
79
24
123
(170)

$

521
92
429

$

937
81
11
100
21
371
51
320

$

0.80

$

0.59

$

24,419
22,811
—
1,608

$

955
66
—
84
48
455
11
444

$

0.79

As of March 31,
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

(In millions)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEET DATA:
Working capital (2)
Total assets
Total long-term debt, excluding current
portion (4)
Shareholders' equity

$

1,875
13,690

$

1,506
13,499

2,689
2,831

2,422
2,972

$

1,902
13,716
2,898
3,019

$

1,883
12,593
2,891
2,678

$

1,743
12,385
2,709
2,606

(1) For fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for further discussion.
During fiscal year 2016, the Company incurred non-cash losses of $47.7 million primarily due to a $26.8 million loss on the
disposition of a non-strategic Western European manufacturing facility, which included a non-cash foreign currency translation loss
of $25.3 million, and a $21.8 million loss from the impairment of a non-core investment offset by immaterial currency translation
gains.
(2) Working capital is defined as current assets, less current liabilities.
(3) The Company initiated restructuring plans during fiscal years 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017. For the restructuring plans initiated
during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements
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and Supplementary Data" for further discussion. During fiscal year 2017, the Company initiated a restructuring plan to accelerate
its ability to support more Sketch-to-Scale® efforts across the Company and reposition away from historical legacy programs and
structures through rationalizing its current footprint at existing sites and at corporate SG&A functions. The Company recognized
restructuring charges of approximately $49.4 million primarily for employee termination costs under the above plan. Of these total
charges, approximately $38.8 million was recognized in cost of sales.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Annual Report

This report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The words "expects,"
"anticipates," "believes," "intends," "plans" and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. In addition, any
statements which refer to expectations, projections or other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forwardlooking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly disclose any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances occurring subsequent to filing this Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These
forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, including, without limitation, those discussed in this section
and in Item 1A, "Risk Factors." In addition, new risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to
predict all such risk factors or to assess the impact of such risk factors on our business. Accordingly, our future results may
differ materially from historical results or from those discussed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Given these
risks and uncertainties, the reader should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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(4) In May 2020, the Company issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026, at 99.617% of
face value, and $325 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due May 2030, at 99.562% of face value. Refer to note 8
to the consolidated financial statement in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data"

We are the manufacturing partner of choice that helps a diverse customer base design and build products that improve the
world. Through the collective strength of a global workforce across approximately 30 countries and responsible, sustainable
operations, we deliver technology innovation, supply chain, and manufacturing solutions to diverse industries and end markets.
As of March 31, 2020, our reporting business segments were as follows:
High Reliability Solutions ("HRS"), which is comprised of our health solutions business, including surgical
equipment, drug delivery, diagnostics, telemedicine, disposable devices, imaging and monitoring, patient
mobility and ophthalmology; and our automotive business, including vehicle electrification, connectivity,
autonomous, and smart technologies;

•

Industrial and Emerging Industries ("IEI"), which is comprised of energy including advanced metering
infrastructure, energy storage, smart lighting, smart solar energy; and industrial, including semiconductor and
capital equipment, office solutions, household industrial and lifestyle, industrial automation and kiosks;

•

Communications & Enterprise Compute ("CEC"), which includes our telecom business of radio access base
stations, remote radio heads and small cells for wireless infrastructure; our networking business, which
includes optical, routing, and switching products for data and video networks; our server and storage
platforms for both enterprise and cloud-based deployments; next generation storage and security appliance
products; and rack-level solutions, converged infrastructure and software-defined product solutions; and

•

Consumer Technologies Group ("CTG"), which includes our consumer-related businesses in IoT enabled
devices, audio and consumer power electronics, mobile devices; and various supply chain solutions for
consumer, computing and printing devices.

These segments represent components of the Company for which separate financial information is available that is
utilized on a regular basis by our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). Our segments are determined based on several
factors, including the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, customer base, delivery channels and
similar economic characteristics. Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for additional information on our operating segments.
In March 2020, we announced a change in organization structure as part of our strategy to further drive growth and
productivity with two focused delivery models. As a result, beginning in fiscal year 2021, we expect to report our financial
performance based on two reportable segments (Flex Agility Solutions Group and Flex Reliability Solutions Group) and
analyze operating income as the measure of segment profitability.
33

Shareholder Info

•

Table of Contents

Q

Our strategy is to provide customers with a full range of cost competitive, vertically-integrated global supply chain
solutions through which we can design, build, ship and service a complete packaged product for our customers. This enables
our customers to leverage our supply chain solutions to meet their product requirements throughout the entire product life
cycle.
Over the past few years, we have seen an increased level of diversification by many companies, primarily in the
technology sector. Some companies that have historically identified themselves as software providers, Internet service
providers or e-commerce retailers have entered the highly competitive and rapidly evolving technology hardware markets, such
as mobile devices, home entertainment and wearable devices. This trend has resulted in a significant change in the
manufacturing and supply chain solutions requirements of such companies. While the products have become more complex, the
supply chain solutions required by such companies have become more customized and demanding, and it has changed the
manufacturing and supply chain landscape significantly.
We use a portfolio approach to manage our extensive service offerings. As our customers change the way they go to
market, we have the capability to reorganize and rebalance our business portfolio in order to align with our customers' needs
and requirements in an effort to optimize operating results. The objective of our business model is to allow us to be flexible and
redeploy and reposition our assets and resources as necessary to meet specific customer's supply chain solutions needs across
all the markets we serve and earn a return on our invested capital above the weighted average cost of that capital.
During the past several years, we have evolved our long-term portfolio towards a mix of businesses which possess longer
product life cycles and higher segment operating margins as reflected in our IEI and HRS businesses. We have expanded our
design and engineering relationships through our product innovation centers and global design centers.
During fiscal year 2019, we took actions to optimize our portfolio with greater focus to be placed on higher margin, less
volatile businesses. During the first half of fiscal year 2020, in connection with the recent geopolitical developments and
uncertainties, primarily impacting one customer in China, we experienced a reduction in demand for products assembled for
that customer. As a result, we accelerated our strategic decision to reduce our exposure to certain high-volatility products in
both China and India. We also initiated targeted activities to restructure our business to further reduce and streamline our cost
structure. We recognized $216 million of charges during the fiscal year 2020, comprised of approximately $159 million of cash
charges predominantly for employee severance, and $57 million of non-cash charges primarily related to asset impairments.
While the bulk of the restructuring activities were executed in fiscal year 2020 and prior, we may be required to execute
additional restructuring activities as we continue to streamline our cost structure while focusing on higher margin, less volatile
businesses and in response to the economic challenges in light of recent events with COVID-19 as discussed below.
We believe that our continued business transformation is strategically positioning us to take advantage of the long-term,
future growth prospects for outsourcing of advanced manufacturing capabilities, design and engineering services and aftermarket services.
Impact of COVID-19 on Our Business
The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread public health crisis and numerous disease control measures being
taken to limit its spread, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and shutdowns. These
measures have materially impacted and are continuing to impact our workforce and operations, the operations of our customers,
and those of our respective vendors and suppliers. We have significant operations worldwide, including in China, Mexico, the
United States, Brazil, India, Malaysia and Europe, and each of these geographies has been affected by the outbreak and taken
measures to try to contain it, resulting in disruptions at many of our manufacturing operations and facilities. The extent to
which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact our business and financial results going forward will be dependent on
future developments such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in the future, future
government actions in response to the crisis and the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and
capital markets, among many other factors, all of which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable. See “Risk Factors - The
COVID-19 pandemic has materially and adversely affected our business and results of operations. The duration and extent to
which it will continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations remains uncertain and could be material.”
In response to the outbreak, we deployed our contingency and resiliency plans that are encompassed in our business
continuity programs. Our resiliency advisory and crisis management teams defined work streams and set up “war” rooms with
hundreds of employees, organizing across our global footprint, and coordinating and communicating with our suppliers and
customers. Our leadership teams initiated enhanced health and safety measures across all facilities, as our foremost focus has
been the health and safety of our employees. We modified practices at our manufacturing locations and offices to require
personal protective equipment, sanitization measures, temperature checks and social distancing well before these measures
were mandated. Our protocols to protect employees and safely operate our facilities have been implemented in partnership with
several governments, including in China, Mexico, Malaysia, Brazil, and Europe. These measures also have enabled us to
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continue to conduct operations which are considered to be essential services, including but not limited to the manufacture of
critical health care products.

We are presently operating in the majority of our manufacturing facilities across the globe. Our China operations are now
fully up and running. There are a few regions that were impacted by acute outbreaks, such as Italy, or have seen complete
country shutdowns, including India and Malaysia. In these geographies, we remain in contact with the local and national
governments, and have received or are in the process of receiving waivers to safely return factories to full capacity. In addition,
we have also shut down our automotive facilities (including in Mexico and Europe) in line with shutdowns executed by the
major North American and European auto makers. For those employees who are not working at our manufacturing facilities,
including corporate and regional headquarters, we have been operating on a work-from-home basis. We do not believe that our
work-from-home protocols have materially adversely impacted our internal controls, financial reporting systems or our
operations.

Business Overview
We are one of the world's largest providers of global supply chain solutions, with revenues of $24.2 billion in fiscal year
2020. We have established an extensive network of manufacturing facilities in the world's major consumer and enterprise
markets (Asia, the Americas, and Europe) to serve the growing outsourcing needs of both multinational and regional
customers. We design, build, ship, and service consumer and enterprise products for our customers through a network of over
100 facilities in approximately 30 countries across four continents. As of March 31, 2020, our total manufacturing capacity was
approximately 27 million square feet. In fiscal year 2020, our net sales in the Americas, Asia and Europe represented
approximately 42%, 39% and 19%, respectively, of our total net sales, based on the location of the manufacturing site. The
following tables set forth the relative percentages and dollar amounts of net sales and net property and equipment, by country,
based on the location of our manufacturing sites (amounts may not sum due to rounding):
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To ensure that we are prepared for an uncertain demand environment, we have aggressively cut costs and are preserving
cash. Our goal is to maintain as many jobs as we can and maintain our ability to invest where we need to enable future
business. To accomplish these objectives, we implemented a combination of graduated salary cuts, furloughs and other
programs to cut costs, including aggressively reducing discretionary corporate spend. In particular, our Chief Executive Officer
and the Board agreed to reduce her base salary by 50% during the first two quarters of fiscal year 2021. Our other named
executive officers proposed and the Board agreed to reduce their base salaries by 30% during the first two quarters of fiscal
year 2021. We also made the decision to suspend our share repurchase program during the first quarter of our fiscal year 2021
and postponed all non-critical capital expenditures. We have established a robust contingency planning methodology and will
adjust our actions based on how future events evolve.
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All of our business segments were impacted in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year 2020, with our High Reliability
Solutions segment impacted by factory shutdowns by several of our large OEM customers of our automotive business, although
our health solutions business has experienced a significant increased demand for critical health care products. Our Industrial
and Emerging Industries segment was impacted by supply chain disruptions that impacted product ramps for various industrial
and home and lifestyle customers. Our Communications & Enterprise Compute segment was impacted by production
disruptions in certain of our Asian facilities and late quarter disruptions in our Mexican facilities. Finally, our Consumer
Technologies Group segment was impacted by significant China-based supply chain constraints. Overall, we absorbed
additional direct incremental costs of approximately $52 million primarily related to costs associated with enhanced health and
safety infrastructure, labor incentives and incremental supply chain expenses. The facility and supply chain constraints,
increased incremental costs, as well as lower customer demand for certain product categories have continued in the first quarter
of our fiscal year 2021.

Notice & Proxy Statement

As one of the largest medical device manufacturers, we recognized that we had a responsibility to do our part to make a
difference in the fight against this disease. With many of the products we make for our healthcare customers related to critical
care quickly running in short supply, we ramped our efforts to expand delivery of critical products, including oxygen
concentrators, patient monitors, infusion pumps, and ICU beds. We are also greatly increasing our testing equipment production
for both point of care and large laboratory systems and are currently partnering with our customers to manufacture ventilators
at six sites around the globe.
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In millions)

Net sales:
China
Mexico
U.S.
Brazil
Malaysia
Hungary
India
Other

$

$

5,665
4,449
3,719
1,831
1,539
1,355
1,298
4,354
24,210

23% $
18%
15%
8%
6%
6%
5%
19%
$

6,649
4,539
3,106
2,181
1,996
1,290
1,805
4,646
26,211

25% $
17%
12%
8%
8%
5%
7%
18%
$

7,450
4,362
2,860
2,578
2,005
1,175
609
4,402
25,441

29%
17%
11%
10%
8%
5%
2%
18%

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019
(In millions)

Property and equipment, net:
Mexico
China
U.S.
India
Malaysia
Hungary
Other

$

$

555
396
378
207
111
100
469
2,216

25% $
18%
17%
9%
5%
4%
22%
$

537
523
361
219
138
103
454
2,336

23%
22%
15%
9%
6%
4%
21%

We believe that the combination of our extensive open innovation platform solutions, design and engineering services,
advanced supply chain management solutions and services, significant scale and global presence, and manufacturing campuses
in low-cost geographic areas provide us with a competitive advantage and strong differentiation in the market for designing,
manufacturing and servicing consumer and enterprise products for leading multinational and regional customers. Specifically,
we have launched multiple product innovation centers ("PIC") focused exclusively on offering our customers the ability to
simplify their global product development, manufacturing process, and after sales services, and enable them to meaningfully
accelerate their time to market and cost savings.
Our operating results are affected by a number of factors, including the following:
•

the impacts on our business due to component shortages or other supply chain related constraints including as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and results of operations;

•

changes in the macro-economic environment and related changes in consumer demand;

•

the mix of the manufacturing services we are providing, the number, size, and complexity of new
manufacturing programs, the degree to which we utilize our manufacturing capacity, seasonal demand,
shortages of components and other factors;

•

the effects on our business when our customers are not successful in marketing their products, or when their
products do not gain widespread commercial acceptance;
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•

the effects that current credit and market conditions (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic) could
have on the liquidity and financial condition of our customers and suppliers, including any impact on their
ability to meet their contractual obligations;

•

the effects on our business due to certain customers' products having short product life cycles;

•

our customers' ability to cancel or delay orders or change production quantities;

•

our customers' decisions to choose internal manufacturing instead of outsourcing for their product
requirements;

•

integration of acquired businesses and facilities;

•

increased labor costs due to adverse labor conditions in the markets we operate;

•

changes in tax legislation; and

•

changes in trade regulations and treaties.

We also are subject to other risks as outlined in Item 1A, "Risk Factors".
Net sales for fiscal year 2020 decreased 8%, or $2.0 billion, to $24.2 billion from the prior year. With the exception of our
IEI segment whose net sales increased $1.1 billion, net sales for all of our remaining segments declined from the previous year.
Our CTG segment decreased $1.7 billion, primarily resulting from our targeted reductions of high volatility, low margin, shortcycle customers and product categories, in addition to significant COVID-19 related supply chain constraints in our fourth
quarter. Our CEC segment decreased $1.4 billion, driven by reduced demand in our networking and telecommunication
businesses due to the slower roll-out of 5G technology, in addition to our previously announced disengagement with Huawei
Technologies Co., coupled with production disruptions in our fourth quarter due to COVID-19. Our HRS segment modestly
declined $87 million driven primarily by COVID-19 disruptions directly impacting our automotive business towards the end of
our fiscal year as multiple factories shut down late in the fourth quarter. This decline in our HRS segment was offset to some
extent by the growth we saw in the earlier part of the fiscal year as we ramped new programs. Our IEI segment increased $1.1
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The attractiveness of our services to customers and our ability to conduct business with certain customers can be affected
by changes in U.S. and other countries' trade policies. In 2018, the U.S. imposed tariffs on a large variety of products of
Chinese origin. The U.S. government has also indicated a readiness to further expand the scope of the tariffs on Chinese goods
if negotiations are not successful, and most recently, effective May 10, 2019, increased tariffs on $200 billion of Chinese goods
to 25%. Further, on May 15, 2019, President Trump issued an executive order designed to secure the information and
communications technology and services supply chain, which would restrict the acquisition or use in the United States of
information and communications technology or services designed, developed, manufactured, or supplied by persons owned by,
controlled by, or subject to the jurisdiction or direction of foreign adversaries. The executive order is subject to implementation
by the Secretary of Commerce and applies to contracts entered into prior to the effective date of the order. In addition, the U.S.
Commerce Department has implemented additional restrictions and may implement further restrictions that would affect
conducting business with certain Chinese companies. A “phase one” trade deal signed between the U.S. and China on January
15, 2020 accompanied a U.S. decision to cancel a plan to increase tariffs on an additional list of Chinese products and to reduce
the tariffs imposed on May 13, 2019 from 15% to 7.5% effective February 14, 2020. While the signing of the agreement and
granting of several tariff exclusions by the U.S. Trade Representative signal a cooling of tensions between the U.S. and China
over trade, many of the additional tariffs on Chinese origin goods remain as do concerns over the stability of bilateral trade
relations, particularly given the limited scope of the phase one agreement. In addition, the economic disruption caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic could make it harder for China to meet its obligations under the deal and increases the potential for China
to invoke the deal’s “disaster clause,” which could further challenge US-China bilateral trade relations. Depending upon their
duration and implementation, as well as our ability to mitigate their impact, these tariffs, the executive order and its
implementation and other regulatory actions could materially affect our business, including in the form of increased cost of
goods sold, decreased margins, increased pricing for customers, and reduced sales. Further, one of our former customers,
Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and some of its affiliates have been added to the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Entity List,
and were recently made subject to enhanced restrictions designed to prevent them from having access to foreign-produced
items using U.S.-origin semiconductor technology and equipment; we could be subject to reputational harm based on its
business activities, including activities with sanctioned countries.

Annual Report

our ability to achieve commercially viable production yields and to manufacture components in commercial
quantities to the performance specifications demanded by our customers;

Notice & Proxy Statement

•
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billion, mainly driven by strong sales within our solar energy business and our home and lifestyle business throughout the year
which more than offset the underlying supply chain disruptions due to COVID-19 that impacted product ramps for various
industrial and home and lifestyle businesses in our fourth quarter. Our fiscal year 2020 gross profit totaled $1.3 billion,
representing a decrease of $180 million, or 12%, from the prior year. The decline was primarily driven by the geopolitical
challenges and uncertainties which impacted specific customers resulting in restructuring charges recorded in the first half of
fiscal year 2020 as well as the write-down of inventory in the second quarter of fiscal year 2020 that will not be recovered due
to significant reductions in future customer demand as we reduce our exposure to certain higher volatility businesses. In
addition, we also incurred direct incremental costs absorbed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020 due to COVID-19. These
were partially offset by the favorable product mix and the increased revenues and gross profit from our IEI segment and
benefits realized from our earlier restructuring activities initiated in fiscal year 2019. Our net income totaled $88 million,
representing a decrease of $6 million, or 6%, compared to fiscal year 2019, due to the factors explained above, coupled with
our ongoing investment portfolio strategy as part of which we incurred certain charges. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for details of the investment impairments.
Cash used in operations decreased by approximately $1.5 billion to $1.5 billion for fiscal year 2020 compared with $3.0
billion for fiscal year 2019 primarily due to reduced cash outflows related to accounts receivable. Cash collections from the
securitized portion of our Asset-Backed Securitization agreements ("ABS Programs"), called the deferred purchase price,
of $2.6 billion were included in cash from investing activities compared to $3.6 billion in fiscal year 2019 (refer to note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data"). Our net working capital is
calculated as current quarter accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, adding back the reduction in accounts
receivable resulting from non-cash accounts receivable sales, plus inventories and contract assets, less accounts payable and
certain other current liabilities related to vendor financing programs. Our net working capital as a percentage of annualized
sales for fiscal year 2020 decreased slightly by 0.4% to 6.3% from the prior year.
We believe adjusted free cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during a given period, the
amount of cash generated that is available to repay debt obligations, make investments, fund acquisitions, repurchase company
shares and for certain other activities. Our adjusted free cash flow is defined as cash from operating activities, plus cash
collections of deferred purchase price receivables, less net purchases of property and equipment to present adjusted cash flows
on a consistent basis for investor transparency. We also excluded the impact to cash flows related to certain vendor programs
that is required for US GAAP presentation. Our adjusted free cash flow was $672 million for fiscal year 2020 compared to $3
million for fiscal year 2019. The increase in adjusted free cash flow is primarily due to the lower level of cash used in operating
activities, as discussed above, coupled with a lower level of capital expenditures in the current fiscal year. Refer to the
Liquidity and Capital Resources section for the adjusted free cash flows reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure of cash flows from operations. Cash provided by investing activities decreased by approximately $1.0 billion
to $2.3 billion for fiscal year 2020, compared with $3.3 billion for fiscal year 2019, primarily due to lower cash collections on
deferred purchase price receivables and lower capital expenditures as described above. Cash used in financing activities totaled
$508 million during fiscal year 2020, which increased by approximately $478 million from $30 million in the prior year,
primarily due to higher net repayments of bank borrowings and long-term debt, and higher incremental share repurchases in
fiscal year 2020.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("U.S. GAAP" or "GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been and
will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial markets. We have made estimates and
assumptions taking into consideration certain possible impacts due to COVID-19. These estimates may change, as new events
occur, and additional information is obtained. Actual results may differ from those estimates and assumptions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For further discussion of our significant accounting policies, refer to
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
Leases
We are a lessee with several non-cancellable operating leases, primarily for warehouses, buildings, and other assets such
as vehicles and equipment. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. A contract is a lease or contains a
lease when (1) there is an identified asset, and (2) the customer has the right to control the use of the identified asset.
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Beginning with the adoption of ASC 842 on April 1, 2019, we recognize a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability
at the lease commencement date for our operating leases. For operating leases, the lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the unpaid lease payments at the lease commencement date. We have elected the short-term lease recognition
and measurement exemption for all classes of assets, which allows us to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and with no purchase option we are reasonably certain of exercising. We have also
elected the practical expedient to account for the lease and nonlease components as a single lease component, for all classes of
underlying assets. Therefore, the lease payments used to measure the lease liability include all of the fixed considerations in the
contract. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), and variable payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured using the index or rate
at the lease commencement date). As we cannot determine the interest rate implicit in the lease for our leases, we use our
estimate of the incremental borrowing rate as of the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.
Our estimated incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest we would have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an
amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The lease term for all of our leases includes the non-cancellable period
of the lease plus any additional periods covered by either an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease that we are
reasonably certain to exercise, or an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease controlled by the lessor. Refer to note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further details.
Revenue Recognition

Certain of our customer agreements include potential price adjustments which may result in variable consideration. These
price adjustments include, but are not limited to, sharing of cost savings, committed price reductions, material margins earned
over the period that are contractually required to be paid to the customers, rebates, refunds tied to performance metrics such as
on-time delivery, and other periodic pricing resets that may be refundable to customers. We estimate the variable consideration
related to these price adjustments as part of the total transaction price and recognize revenue in accordance with the pattern
applicable to the performance obligation, subject to a constraint. We constrain the amount of revenues recognized for these
contractual provisions based on our best estimate of the amount which will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in a
future period. We determine the amounts to be recognized based on the amount of potential refunds required by the contract,
historical experience and other surrounding facts and circumstances. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in
Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further details.
Customer Credit Risk
We have an established customer credit policy through which we manage customer credit exposures through credit
evaluations, credit limit setting, monitoring, and enforcement of credit limits for new and existing customers. We perform
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers' financial condition and make provisions for doubtful accounts based on the
outcome of those credit evaluations. We evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable based on specific customer
circumstances, current economic trends, historical experience with collections and the age of past due receivables. To the extent
we identify exposures as a result of customer credit issues, we also review other customer related exposures, including but not
limited to inventory and related contractual obligations.
Restructuring Charges
We recognize restructuring charges related to our plans to close or consolidate excess manufacturing facilities and
rationalize administrative functions and to realign our corporate cost structure. In connection with these activities, we recognize
restructuring charges for employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and other exit-related costs.
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Customer Contracts and Related Obligations
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In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, we apply the following steps: (i) identify the contracts
with the customers; (ii) identify performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a
performance obligation. Further, we assess whether control of the product or services promised under the contract is transferred
to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). We are first required to evaluate whether our contracts meet the
criteria for OT recognition. We have determined that for a portion of our contracts, we are manufacturing products for which
there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the customer-specific product and IP restrictions) and we have an
enforceable right to payment including a reasonable profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these contracts. As a
result, revenue is recognized under these contracts OT based on the cost-to-cost method as it best depicts the transfer of control
to the customer measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date as compared to the total estimated costs at completion of
the performance obligation. For all other contracts that do not meet these criteria, we recognize revenue when we have
transferred control of the related manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery and passage of title to the
customer. Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further details.
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The recognition of these restructuring charges requires that we make certain judgments and estimates regarding the
nature, timing and amount of costs associated with the planned restructuring activity. To the extent our actual results differ from
our estimates and assumptions, we may be required to revise the estimates of future liabilities, requiring the recognition of
additional restructuring charges or the reduction of liabilities already recognized. Such changes to previously estimated
amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements. At the end of each reporting period, we evaluate the
remaining accrued balances to ensure that no excess accruals are retained, and the utilization of the provisions are for their
intended purpose in accordance with developed exit plans.
Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our restructuring activities.
Inventory Valuation
Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. Our industry is
characterized by rapid technological change, short-term customer commitments and rapid changes in demand. We purchase our
inventory based on forecasted demand, and we estimate write downs for excess and obsolete inventory based on our regular
reviews of inventory quantities on hand, and the latest forecasts of product demand and production requirements from our
customers. If actual market conditions or our customers' product demands are less favorable than those projected, additional
write downs may be required. In addition, unanticipated changes in the liquidity or financial position of our customers and/or
changes in economic conditions may require additional write downs for inventories due to our customers' inability to fulfill
their contractual obligations with regards to inventory procured to fulfill customer demand.
Valuation of Private Company Investments
We assess our investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be
impaired. The factors we consider in our evaluation of potential impairment of our investments, include, but are not limited to a
significant deterioration in the earnings performance or business prospects of the investee, or factors that raise significant
concerns about the investee’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows from operation or working
capital deficiencies. The carrying value of certain of our investments are individually material, thus there is the potential for
material charges in future periods if we determine that those investments are impaired.
During fiscal year 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of its investment portfolio strategy,
the Company concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired and
recognized a $98 million total impairment in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations. The
impairments in fiscal year 2020 were primarily related to Elementum and certain other non-core investments, reflecting recent
market valuation changes, in addition to capturing additional risks due to the economic challenges in light of COVID-19.
During the last half of fiscal year 2019, the Company reassessed its strategy with respect to its entire investment portfolio.
As a result the Company recognized aggregate net charges related to investment impairments and dispositions of approximately
$193 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, primarily related to a non-core cost method investment and Elementum.
Carrying Value of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
We review property and equipment and acquired amortizable intangible assets for impairment at least annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset group may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Recoverability of property
and equipment and acquired amortizable intangible assets are measured by comparing their carrying amount to the projected
cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such asset groups are determined to be impaired, the impairment loss
recognized, if any, is the amount by which the carrying amount of the property and equipment and acquired amortizable
intangible assets exceeds fair value. Our judgments regarding projected cash flows for an extended period of time and the fair
value of assets may be impacted by changes in market conditions, general business environment and other factors including
future developments of the COVID-19 pandemic which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable. To the extent our estimates
relating to cash flows and fair value of assets change adversely we may have to recognize additional impairment charges in the
future.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by
comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which is measured
based upon, among other factors, market multiples for comparable companies as well as a discounted cash flow analysis. These
approaches use significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy and require us to make
various judgmental assumptions about sales, operating margins, growth rates and discount rates which consider our budgets,
business plans and economic projections, and are believed to reflect market participant views. Some of the inherent estimates
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and assumptions used in determining fair value of the reporting units are outside the control of management, including interest
rates, cost of capital, tax rates, market EBITDA comparables and credit ratings. While we believe we have made reasonable
estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of the reporting units, it is possible a material change could occur. If our
actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in material
impairments of our goodwill. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for further detail.
Notice & Proxy Statement

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, due to the ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic which negatively impacted
the overall macroeconomy as well as the Company's market capitalization and estimated near-term financial performance, the
Company considered this a triggering event and performed an interim impairment test via a quantitative valuation as of March
31, 2020. Based on the results of the impairment test, the fair values exceed the respective carrying values for each reporting
unit, with the percentage excess ranging from 17% for CTG to 108% for IEI. Accordingly, the Company concluded that no
impairment of goodwill existed as of March 31, 2020. The estimated forecasted results used in the discounted cash flow portion
of the impairment analysis reflect the Company's best estimates as of March 31, 2020 and include near term negative impacts to
our auto businesses from the plant closures, challenged CEC telecommunication businesses, and weaker consumer demand for
our customers' mobility products due to COVID-19. These estimates could change depending on the future developments of the
COVID-19 pandemic such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in the future, future
government actions in response to the crisis and the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and
capital markets, among many other factors, all of which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable.
Contingent Liabilities

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our contingent liabilities.
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We may be exposed to certain liabilities relating to our business operations, acquisitions of businesses and assets and
other activities. We make provisions for such liabilities when it is probable that the settlement of the liability will result in an
outflow of economic resources or the impairment of an asset. We make these assessments based on facts and circumstances that
may change in the future resulting in additional expenses.

Income Taxes

We are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing jurisdictions and around the world, and
there can be no assurance that the final determination of any tax examinations will not be materially different than that which is
reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future
examination, there could be a material adverse effect on our tax position, operating results, financial position and cash flows.
Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further
discussion of our tax position.
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Our deferred income tax assets represent temporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax basis of existing
assets and liabilities, which will result in deductible amounts in future years, including net operating loss carry forwards. Based
on estimates, the carrying value of our net deferred tax assets assumes that it is more likely than not that we will be able to
generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to realize these deferred income tax assets. Our judgments
regarding future profitability may change due to future market conditions, changes in U.S. or international tax laws and other
factors. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to increase or decrease our
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets previously recognized, resulting in additional or lesser income tax expense.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain statements of operations data expressed as a percentage
of net sales. The financial information and the discussion below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." The data below, and
discussion that follows, represents our results from operations.
Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2020

Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Intangible amortization
Restructuring charges
Interest and other, net
Other charges (income), net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Income

2019

100.0%
93.7
0.8
5.5
3.4
0.3
0.1
0.7
0.4
0.6
0.3
0.3%

2018

100.0%
93.8
0.4
5.8
3.6
0.3
0.1
0.7
0.4
0.7
0.3
0.4%

100.0%
93.5
0.3
6.2
4.0
0.3
0.1
0.5
(0.7)
2.0
0.4
1.6%

Net sales
Net sales during fiscal year 2020 totaled $24.2 billion, representing a decrease of $2.0 billion, or 8%, from $26.2 billion
during fiscal year 2019. With the exception of our IEI segment whose net sales increased $1.1 billion, net sales for all of our
remaining segments declined from the previous year. Net sales were also lower in our Asia and Europe regions during fiscal
year 2020, with decreases of $2.1 billion and $66 million, respectively, partially offset by slightly higher sales in Americas with
an increase of $172 million during the same period.
Net sales during fiscal year 2019 totaled $26.2 billion, representing an increase of $0.8 billion, or 3%, from $25.4 billion
during fiscal year 2018. The overall increase in sales was driven by increases in three of our segments offset by a decline in
sales in our CTG segment. During fiscal year 2019, the increase in net sales was primarily driven by an increase of $0.5
billion in Europe, $0.3 billion in Asia, and to a lesser extent, $12 million in the Americas.
The following table sets forth net sales by segments and their relative percentages. Historical information has been recast
to reflect realignment of customers and/or products between segments:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
Segments:

2020

2019

2018

(In millions)

High Reliability Solutions
Industrial & Emerging Industries
Communications & Enterprise Compute
Consumer Technologies Group

$

$

4,742
7,277
6,986
5,204
24,210

20% $
30%
29%
21%
$

4,829
6,183
8,336
6,863
26,211

18% $
24%
32%
26%
$

4,770
5,972
7,729
6,970
25,441

19%
24%
30%
27%

Net sales during fiscal year 2020 decreased $1.7 billion, or 24%, in our CTG segment driven by our targeted reductions
of high volatility, low margin, short-cycle customers and product categories and further impacted by significant COVID-19
related supply chain constraints in our fourth quarter. Net sales in our CEC segment decreased $1.4 billion, or 16%, driven by
reduced demand in our networking and telecommunication businesses due to the slower roll-out of 5G technology and our
previously announced disengagement with Huawei Technologies Co., coupled with production disruptions due to COVID-19 in
our fourth quarter. Net sales in our HRS segment modestly decreased $87 million, or 2%, driven primarily by COVID-19
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disruptions directly impacting our automotive business towards the end of our fiscal year as multiple factories shut down late in
the fourth quarter. This decline was offset to some extent by the growth we saw in the earlier part of the fiscal year from
ramping programs. Our IEI segment increased by $1.1 billion, or 18%, mainly driven by strong sales within our solar energy
business and our home and lifestyle business throughout the year which more than offset the underlying supply chain
disruptions due to COVID-19 that impacted product ramps for various industrial and home and lifestyle businesses in our
fourth quarter.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased $0.2 billion to $1.3 billion in fiscal year 2020, from $1.5 billion in fiscal year 2019. Gross margin
decreased 30 basis points, to 5.5% of net sales in fiscal year 2020, from 5.8% of net sales in fiscal year 2019. The decrease in
both gross profit and gross margin is primarily due to lower sales coupled with an additional $91 million, or 40 basis points, of
restructuring charges incurred during fiscal year 2020 versus fiscal year 2019. In addition, we wrote down inventory in the
second quarter of fiscal year 2020 that will not be recovered due to significant reductions in future customer demand as we
reduced our exposure to certain high volatility businesses. We also incurred approximately $52 million, or 21 basis points, of
direct incremental costs due to COVID-19 in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020. These were partially offset by the favorable
product mix and the increased revenues and gross profit from our IEI segment and benefits realized from our earlier
restructuring activities initiated in fiscal year 2019.
Gross profit decreased $0.1 billion to $1.5 billion from $1.6 billion from fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2019. Gross
margin decreased 40 basis points, to 5.8% of net sales in fiscal year 2019, from 6.2% of net sales in fiscal year 2018. The
decrease is primarily due to an additional $32 million, or 10 basis points, of restructuring charges coupled with
approximately $47 million of additional charges related to distressed customers incurred during fiscal year 2019 versus fiscal
year 2018. During the year, we completed the wind down of our NIKE Mexico operations and incurred a total of $66 million of
charges primarily for non-cash asset impairments in the second and third quarters of fiscal year 2019. Additional gross profit
and gross margin declines were due to revenue reductions in some of our higher margin businesses, such as automotive and
semi-cap equipment and further due to the Multek China divestiture. Also negatively pressuring the gross profit margin was the
significant revenues from ramping new programs in India.
Segment income
An operating segment's performance is evaluated based on its pre-tax operating contribution, or segment income.
Segment income is defined as net sales less cost of sales, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, and does
not include amortization of intangibles, stock-based compensation, customer related assets impairments, restructuring charges,
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Gross profit is affected by a number of factors, including the number and size of new manufacturing programs, product
mix, component costs and availability, product life cycles, unit volumes, pricing, competition, new product introductions,
capacity utilization and the expansion or consolidation of manufacturing facilities including specific restructuring activities
from time to time. The flexible design of our manufacturing processes allows us to manufacture a broad range of products in
our facilities and better utilize our manufacturing capacity across our diverse geographic footprint and service customers from
all segments. In the cases of new programs, profitability normally lags revenue growth due to product start-up costs, lower
manufacturing program volumes in the start-up phase, operational inefficiencies, and under-absorbed overhead. Gross margin
for these programs often improves over time as manufacturing volumes increase, as our utilization rates and overhead
absorption improve, and as we increase the level of manufacturing services content. As a result of these various factors, our
gross margin varies from period to period.

Annual Report

Our ten largest customers during fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018 accounted for approximately 39%, 43% and 41% of
net sales, respectively. We have made substantial efforts to diversify our portfolio which allows us to operate at scale in many
different industries, and, as a result, no customer accounted for greater than 10% of net sales in fiscal year 2020, 2019 or 2018.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Net sales during fiscal year 2019 increased $0.6 billion, or 8%, in our CEC segment driven by momentum from our cloud
and data center business as well as the expansion of network infrastructure programs to support 4G and 5G technology, offset
by declines in our data networking business due to weakness with some legacy product lines. Net sales in our IEI
segment increased $0.2 billion or 4%, which was mainly driven by new programs and customer launches within our industrial,
home and lifestyle businesses, offset by declines in our capital equipment and energy businesses. Net sales in our HRS
segment increased $59 million, or 1%, from higher sales in our health solutions business as we benefited from prior year
investments in design, engineering and automation that have strengthened and improved our capabilities and competitive
positioning that more than offset year over year declines from our automotive customers primarily in Asia. These segment
increases were partially offset by a decrease of $107 million, or 1.5%, in our CTG segment, primarily within the legacy
consumer sectors of the segment and as a result of actively repositioning the portfolio of customers and rationalizing
underperforming customers and eliminating certain product categories.
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the new revenue standard adoption impact, legal and other, interest and other, net and other charges (income), net. A portion of
depreciation is allocated to the respective segment together with other general corporate research and development and
administrative expenses.
The following table sets forth segment income and margins. Historical information has been recast to reflect realignment
of customers and/or products between segments (amounts may not sum due to rounding):
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In millions)

Segment income & margin:
High Reliability Solutions
Industrial & Emerging Industries
Communications & Enterprise Compute
Consumer Technologies Group
Corporate and Other
Total segment income
Reconciling items:

$

Intangible amortization
Stock-based compensation
Customer related asset impairments (1)
Restructuring charges (Note 15)
New revenue standard adoption impact (Note
4)
Legal and other (2)
Interest and other, net
Other charges (income), net (Note 16)
Income before income taxes
$

316
466
142
88
(114)
898

6.7% $
6.4%
2.0%
1.7%
3.7%

371
269
215
121
(104)
872

7.7% $
4.4%
2.6%
1.8%
3.3%

381
235
186
112
(128)

8.0%
3.9%
2.4%
1.6%

786

3.1%

64
72
106
216

74
76
87
113

79
85
6
91

—
26
164
92
158

9
35
183
110
182

—
52
123
(170)

$

$

521

(1) Customer related asset impairments for fiscal year 2020, primarily relate to non-cash impairments of certain property and
equipment for customers we have disengaged or are in the process of disengaging, additional provision for doubtful accounts
receivable, charges for other asset impairments, and reserves for excess and obsolete inventory for certain customers experiencing
financial difficulties and/or related to inventory that will not be recovered due to significant reductions in future customer demand.
Customer related asset impairments for fiscal year 2019, primarily relate to provision for doubtful accounts receivable, inventory
and impairment of other assets for certain customers experiencing significant financial difficulties and/or the Company is
disengaging.
(2) Legal and other during fiscal year 2020, primarily consists of direct and incremental costs associated with certain wind-down
activities related to the disengagement of a certain customer primarily in China and India, offset by certain gains resulting from the
recognition of prior year expenses paid to the government now considered probable of recovery and reasonably estimable due to a
favorable tax ruling.
Legal and other during fiscal year 2019, primarily consists of costs incurred relating to the independent investigation undertaken by
the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors which was completed in June 2018. In addition, Legal and other also
includes certain charges related to the China based Multek operations that was divested in the second quarter of fiscal year 2019.
During fiscal year 2018, the Company incurred charges in connection with certain legal matters, for loss contingencies where it
believed that losses were probable and estimable. Additionally, the Company incurred various other charges predominately related
to damages incurred from a typhoon that impacted a China facility, as well as certain assets impairments during fiscal year 2018.

Corporate and other primarily includes corporate services costs that are not included in the CODM's assessment of the
performance of each of the identified reporting segments.
HRS segment margin decreased 100 basis point to 6.7% for fiscal year 2020, from 7.7% during fiscal year 2019,
primarily due to accelerated investments and costs associated with new program ramps and pricing pressure with demand
declines in the global market that impacted product mix, coupled with under absorption of costs associated with the temporary
closure of several automotive sites in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020 due to COVID-19. HRS segment
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margin decreased 30 basis point to 7.7% for fiscal year 2019, from 8.0% during fiscal year 2018, primarily due to reduced
revenues from our automotive products and services, which carry higher gross margins partially offset by greater contribution
from our growing health solutions business.

CEC segment margin decreased 60 basis points to 2.0% for fiscal year 2020, from 2.6% during fiscal year 2019. The
decrease in CEC margin during fiscal year 2020 is primarily due to geopolitical challenges and uncertainties which impacted
demand from specific customers as well as a specific drop in demand in our networking and telecommunication businesses due
to the slower roll-out of 5G technology. We also encountered disruptions in production in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020
due to COVID-19. These pressured margins due to the underabsorbed manufacturing overhead costs resulting from the lower
revenue levels. CEC segment margin increased 20 basis points to 2.6% for fiscal year 2019, from 2.4% during fiscal year 2018.
The increase was driven by operational efficiencies and improved absorption of overhead as a result of the 8% increase in
revenues.

Restructuring charges

During fiscal year 2019, we took targeted actions to optimize our portfolio, most notably within CTG. We recognized
restructuring charges of approximately $113 million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, of which $73 million were
non-cash charges primarily for asset impairments. A significant component of our charges were associated with the wind down
of our NIKE operations in Mexico in the third quarter of fiscal year 2019. In addition, we executed targeted head-count
reductions at existing operating and design sites and corporate functions and exited certain immaterial businesses. Of these total
charges, approximately $99 million was recognized as a component of cost of sales during the fiscal year ended March 31,
2019.
During fiscal year 2018, we initiated targeted restructuring activities, focused on optimizing our cost structure in lower
growth areas and, more importantly, streamlining certain corporate and segment functions in order to make Flex a faster, more
responsive and agile company, better positioned to react to marketplace opportunities. We recognized $79 million of pre-tax
cash charges, predominantly related to employee severance costs, and $12 million of pre-tax non-cash charges for asset
impairment and other exit charges. We classified $67 million of these charges as a component of cost of sales and $24
million as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses during fiscal year 2018.
Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
further discussion of our restructuring activities.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") totaled $834 million, or 3.4% of net sales, during fiscal year
2020, compared to $953 million, or 3.6% of net sales, during fiscal year 2019, decreasing by $119 million or 12%, due to strict
cost discipline focused on driving further productivity improvements which enabled us to respond quickly to current market
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During fiscal year 2019, we took actions to optimize our portfolio with greater focus to be placed on higher margin, less
volatile businesses. During the first half of fiscal year 2020 in connection with the recent geopolitical developments and
uncertainties, primarily impacting one customer in China, we experienced a reduction in demand for products assembled for
that customer. As a result, we accelerated our strategic decision to reduce our exposure to certain high-volatility products in
both China and India. We also initiated targeted activities to restructure our business to further reduce and streamline our cost
structure. During fiscal year 2020, we recognized $216 million of restructuring charges. We incurred cash charges of
approximately $159 million, that were predominantly for employee severance, in addition to non-cash charges of $57 million,
respectively, primarily related to asset impairments.

Annual Report

CTG segment margin decreased 10 basis points to 1.7% for fiscal year 2020, from 1.8% during fiscal year 2019, as it
remained pressured during our portfolio transition and ongoing repositioning of our operating structure. In addition, we
experienced manufacturing inefficiencies due to supply chain disruptions and constraints in the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2020 due to COVID-19. CTG segment margin increased 20 basis points to 1.8% for fiscal year 2019, from 1.6% during fiscal
year 2018, as a result of lower losses from our NIKE operations in Mexico, which we exited in the third quarter of fiscal year
2019, partially offset by under-performance of certain accounts.

Notice & Proxy Statement

IEI segment margin increased 200 basis points to 6.4% for fiscal year 2020, from 4.4% during fiscal year 2019, as a result
of a favorable business mix resulting from increased demand from new business particularly in Energy and in Home &
Lifestyle, greater levels of design and engineering led engagements and improved operational execution. IEI segment
margin increased 50 basis points to 4.4% for fiscal year 2019, from 3.9% during fiscal year 2018, as a result of improved
overhead absorption benefits from the increased revenues and greater levels of design led programs which have higher gross
margins, as well as leverage of its installed cost structure.
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conditions by taking targeted actions on our discretionary spends coupled with a refined cost structure benefiting from prior
restructuring initiatives.
SG&A totaled $953 million or 3.6% of net sales, during fiscal year 2019, compared to $1.0 billion, or 4.0% of net sales,
during fiscal year 2018, decreasing by $66 million or 7%, due to strong cost discipline focused on driving further productivity
improvements and a refined cost structure benefiting from prior restructuring initiatives.
Intangible amortization
Amortization of intangible assets in fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were $64 million and $74 million, respectively,
representing a decrease of $10 million and $5 million, from their respective prior years as a result of certain intangible assets
being fully amortized during the respective periods.
Interest and other, net
Interest and other, net was $164 million during fiscal year 2020, compared to $183 million during fiscal year 2019,
decreasing $19 million primarily due to increases in net foreign exchange gains, a lower interest rate environment and lower
expenses from our asset-backed securitization programs, partially offset by debt extinguishment costs incurred during fiscal
year 2020.
Interest and other, net was $183 million during fiscal year 2019, compared to $123 million during fiscal year 2018,
increasing $60 million due to a $23 million increase of interest expense primarily from higher weighted average interest rates
and a higher average borrowing level, as well as a $21 million increase in interest expense from our accounts receivable sales
program, partially offset by a $14 million decrease in foreign exchange gains as compared to the prior year.
Other charges (income), net
During fiscal year 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of its investment portfolio strategy,
we concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired and recognized a
$98 million total impairment charge. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" for details on the investment impairments. No other components of other charges and income, net
incurred during fiscal year 2020 were material.
During the last half of fiscal year 2019, we reassessed our strategy with respect to our entire investment portfolio. As a
result, we recognized an aggregate net charge related to investment impairments and dispositions of approximately $193
million for the year ended March 31, 2019. The aggregate charge was primarily driven by write-downs of our investment
positions in a non-core cost method investment and Elementum that were recognized in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal
2019, respectively. We also incurred other investment impairments that were individually immaterial as a result of our strategy
shift and due to market valuation changes. Offsetting these charges was an $87 million non-cash gain from the deconsolidation
of Bright Machines.
During fiscal year 2018, we recognized $152 million of gain from the deconsolidation of Elementum, and $39 million of
gain from the sale of a non-strategic cost basis investment. We also recorded $22 million related to the impairment of certain
non-core investments during fiscal year 2018. No other components of other charges and income, net incurred during fiscal
year 2018 were material.
Income taxes
We work to ensure that we accrue and pay the appropriate amount of income taxes according to the laws and regulations
of each jurisdiction in which we operate. Certain of our subsidiaries have, at various times, been granted tax relief in their
respective countries, resulting in lower income taxes than would otherwise be the case under ordinary tax rates. The
consolidated effective tax rates were 44.7%, 48.7% and 17.7% for the fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
effective rate varies from the Singapore statutory rate of 17.0% in each year as a result of the following items:
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

17.0%
(51.2)
(0.6)

17.0%
(74.1)
(8.4)

58.4
8.4
—
5.5
7.2
44.7%

105.4
3.0
2.3
1.1
2.4
48.7%

2018

17.0%
(46.9)
4.3
57.1
(10.3)
—
0.3
(3.8)
17.7%

We are regularly subject to tax return audits and examinations by various taxing jurisdictions and around the world, and
there can be no assurance that the final determination of any tax examinations will not be materially different than that which is
reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of a current or future
examinations, there could be a material adverse effect on our tax position, operating results, financial position and cash flows.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of March 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $1.9 billion and bank and other borrowings of approximately
$2.8 billion. We have a $1.75 billion revolving credit facility that is due to mature in June 2022, under which we had no
borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2020. We also entered into a JPY 33.525 billion term loan (approximately USD $310
million as of March 31, 2020) due April 2024, at three-month Yen LIBOR plus 0.50%, which was then swapped to U.S. dollars.
In addition, we issued $650 million of 4.875% Notes due 2029 (the "2029 Notes") in fiscal year 2020. The proceeds were used
to repay the outstanding balance of our existing 4.625% Notes due February 2020, and the Term Loan due November 2021,
resulting in a net debt reduction of $216 million. Refer to note 8 to the consolidated financial statement in Item 8, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional details. As of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the covenants
under all of our credit facilities and indentures.
In May 2020, we issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026, at 99.617% of
face value, and $325 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due May 2030, at 99.562% of face value. The total
proceeds of $740 million, net of discount and issuance costs, are expected to be used for general corporate purposes, which
may include repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding debt and for working capital, capital expenditures and
acquisitions.
Our cash balances are held in numerous locations throughout the world. As of March 31, 2020, over half of our cash and
cash equivalents were held by foreign subsidiaries outside of Singapore. Although substantially all of the amounts held outside
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We provide a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that in our estimation are not more likely than not to be
realized. During fiscal year 2020, we released valuation allowance of $1 million related to certain operations in China as this
amount was deemed to be more likely than not to be realized due to the sustained profitability during the past three fiscal years
as well as continued forecasted profitability of those subsidiaries. In addition, a valuation allowance of $3 million was added
for a different operating subsidiary in China due to continued losses and the determination the company would be less likely
than not to utilize its deferred tax assets. Various other valuation allowance positions were also reduced due to varying factors
such as recognition of uncertain tax positions impacting deferred tax assets, one-time income recognition in loss entities, and
foreign exchange impacts on deferred tax balances. Lastly, these valuation allowance reductions and eliminations were offset
by current period valuation allowance additions due to increased deferred tax assets as a result of current period losses in legal
entities with existing full valuation allowance positions.

Annual Report

The variation in our effective tax rate each year is primarily a result of recognition of earnings in foreign jurisdictions
which are taxed at rates lower than the Singapore statutory rate including the effect of tax holidays and tax incentives we
received primarily for our subsidiaries in China, Malaysia, Costa Rica, India, Netherlands and Israel of $16 million, $24 million
and $22 million in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Additionally, our effective tax rate is impacted by changes in
our liabilities for uncertain tax positions of ($1) million, ($15) million, and $22 million and changes in our valuation
allowances on deferred tax assets of $93 million, $192 million and $279 million in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. We generate most of our revenues and profits from operations outside of Singapore.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Income taxes based on domestic statutory rates
Effect of tax rate differential
Change in unrecognized tax benefit
Change in valuation allowance
Recognition of prior year taxes recoverable
Expiration of tax attributes
APB23 tax liability
Other
Provision for income taxes

2019
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of Singapore could be repatriated, under current laws, a significant amount could be subject to income tax withholdings. We
provide for tax liabilities on these amounts for financial statement purposes, except for certain of our foreign earnings that are
considered indefinitely reinvested outside of Singapore (approximately $1.4 billion as of March 31, 2020). Repatriation could
result in an additional income tax payment; however, for the majority of our foreign entities, our intent is to permanently
reinvest these funds outside of Singapore and our current plans do not demonstrate a need to repatriate them to fund our
operations in jurisdictions outside of where they are held. Where local restrictions prevent an efficient intercompany transfer of
funds, our intent is that cash balances would remain outside of Singapore and we would meet our liquidity needs through
ongoing cash flows, external borrowings, or both.
Fiscal Year 2020
Cash used in operating activities was $1.5 billion during fiscal year 2020. The total cash used in operating activities
resulted primarily from $88 million of net income for the period plus $811 million of non-cash charges such as depreciation,
amortization, restructuring and impairment charges, provision for doubtful accounts, and stock-based compensation.
Depreciation expense was $422 million and slightly lower than prior years. These additions were more than offset by a net
change in our operating assets and liabilities of $2.4 billion, primarily driven by cash outflows related to accounts receivable.
Cash collections from the deferred purchase price on our ABS sales programs of $2.6 billion were included in cash from
investing activities (refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for a discussion of the amendments to the ABS Programs).
We believe net working capital ("NWC"), and net working capital as a percentage of annualized sales are key metrics that
measure our liquidity. Net working capital is calculated as current quarter accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts, adding back the reduction in accounts receivable resulting from non-cash accounts receivable sales, plus inventories
and contract assets, less accounts payable and certain other current liabilities related to vendor financing programs. NWC
decreased by $289 million to $1.4 billion as of March 31, 2020, from $1.7 billion as of March 31, 2019. This decrease is
primarily driven by a $470 million decrease in accounts receivable adding back reductions from non-cash accounts receivable
sales, offset by a $66 million increase in contract assets, a $62 million increase in inventories, and a $39 million decrease in
accounts payable. We no longer have any non-cash accounts receivable sales balance outstanding as of March 31, 2020 due to
the amendments of our ABS Programs. Our net working capital as a percentage of annualized net sales as of March 31, 2020
decreased slightly to 6.3% as compared to 6.7% of annualized net sales as of March 31, 2019.
Cash provided by investing activities totaled $2.3 billion during fiscal year 2020. This was primarily driven by $2.6
billion of cash collections on deferred purchase price receivables from our ABS Programs offset by approximately $356
million of net capital expenditures for property and equipment to continue expanding capabilities and capacity in support of our
expanding IEI and HRS businesses. In addition, other investing activities include $44 million of proceeds from the sale of our
partial investment in Bright Machines (refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" for discussion of the sale).
Cash used in financing activities was $508 million during fiscal year 2020. This was primarily the result of (i) $672
million of cash paid for the repayment of the term loan due November 2021, (ii) $500 million of cash paid for the tender and
redemption of the outstanding balance of our 4.625% Notes due February 2020, (iii) $91 million of cash paid to pay off the
outstanding balance of our short-term bank borrowings facility in India, and (iv) $260 million of cash paid for the repurchase of
our ordinary shares. Partially offsetting the payments described above were $663 million of proceeds, net of discount and
premium, received following the issuance of the 2029 Notes, $300 million of proceeds following the execution of our term loan
agreement due in April 2024, $59 million of proceeds from drawdowns from our India term loan facility coupled with $47
million of proceeds from the execution of our term loan due in March 2021. For further information, see note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
Fiscal Year 2019
Cash used in operating activities was $3.0 billion during fiscal year 2019. As further discussed below, cash collections on
the deferred purchase price from our ABS Programs of $3.6 billion were included in cash from investing activities instead of
cash from operating activities in accordance with new accounting guidance adopted in fiscal year 2019. The total cash used in
operating activities resulted primarily from $93 million of net income for the period plus $804 million of non-cash charges such
as depreciation, amortization, restructuring and impairment charges, provision for doubtful accounts, and stock-based
compensation, net of a gain of $87 million from the deconsolidation of Bright Machines which were included in the
determination of net income. Depreciation expense was $433 million and relatively consistent with prior years. These additions
were more than offset by a net change in our operating assets and liabilities of $3.9 billion. In accordance with the new
accounting guidance adopted in fiscal year 2019, cash collections on deferred purchase price from our ABS Programs were
classified as cash flows from investing activities and no longer included in cash receipts related to accounts receivable. As a
result, while accounts receivable only increased by approximately $95 million from fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2019, the
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impact to operating cash flows is an outflow of $3.6 billion. Year over year increases in inventory and contract assets also
added to the net change in our operating assets and liabilities reflected on our cash flow from operations.

Cash used in financing activities was $30 million during fiscal year 2019. This was primarily the result of repurchases of
ordinary shares in the amount of $189 million, offset by $170 million received from the drawdown of India Facilities.
Fiscal Year 2018

Cash used in financing activities was $188 million during fiscal year 2018. This was primarily the result of repurchases
of ordinary shares in the amount of $180 million, and the repayment of $55 million of debt, partially offset by $65
million received from third party investors in fiscal year 2018 in exchange for an additional noncontrolling equity interest in
Elementum prior to the deconsolidation described above.
Adjusted Free Cash Flow
We believe adjusted free cash flow is an important liquidity metric because it measures, during a given period, the
amount of cash generated that is available to repay debt obligation, make investments, fund acquisitions, repurchase company
shares and for certain other activities. Our adjusted free cash flow is defined as cash from operations, plus cash collections of
deferred purchase price receivables, less net purchases of property and equipment to present adjusted cash flows on a consistent
basis for investor transparency (refer to note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for discussion of the amendments of the ABS Programs). We also excluded the impact to cash flows
related to certain vendor programs that is required for U.S. GAAP presentation. Our adjusted free cash flow was $672 million,
$3 million and $236 million for fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Adjusted free cash flow is not a measure of
liquidity under U.S. GAAP, and may not be defined and calculated by other companies in the same manner. Adjusted free cash
flow should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net cash provided by operating activities. Adjusted free cash
flows reconcile to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure of cash flows from operations as follows:
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Cash provided by investing activities for fiscal year 2018 was also recast to $3.7 billion subsequent to the adoption of
ASU 2016-15 in fiscal year 2019, as further described above. This resulted primarily from the $4.6 billion reclassification of
cash collections on the deferred purchase price, partially offset by $214 million paid for the acquisition of AGM Automotive for
our HRS segment, net of cash acquired, and $55 million paid for a power module business for our CEC segment, net of cash
acquired. Further, we invested $517 million of net capital expenditures for property and equipment to expand capabilities and
capacity in support of our automotive, medical, footwear and IEI businesses. In addition, other investing activities includes $73
million of cash derecognized as of the date of the Elementum deconsolidation, and $46 million of payments for non-core
investments, net of cash received.
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Cash used in operating activities for fiscal year 2018 was recast to $3.9 billion, subsequent to the adoption of ASU
2016-15 in fiscal year 2019, as further described above. Cash collections on the deferred purchase price from our ABS
Programs of $4.6 billion were included in cash from investing activities instead of cash from operating activities in accordance
with new accounting guidance. The total cash used in operating activities resulted primarily from $429 million of net income
for the period plus $478 million of non-cash charges such as depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation, net of a
gain from the deconsolidation of Elementum that are included in the determination of net income. Depreciation expense
was $434 million of those non-cash charges. These were more than offset by a net change in our operating assets and liabilities
of $4.8 billion, driven primarily by the $4.6 billion reclass of cash collection on deferred purchase price discussed above,
coupled with a $354 million increase in inventories, an $88 million increase in other current and noncurrent assets, and a $347
million increase in accounts receivable, including the change in sales of accounts receivable, offset by a $623 million increase
in accounts payable.
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Cash provided by investing activities totaled $3.3 billion during fiscal year 2019. This was primarily driven by the impact
of our adoption of ASU 2016-15 during fiscal year 2019 referred to above, which requires us to classify cash collections on
deferred purchase price from our ABS Programs that were previously classified as operating cash inflows as cash flows from
investing activities. In addition, we received $267 million of proceeds, net of cash held, in connection with the divestitures of
our China-based Multek operations as further described in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data". We also invested $631 million of net capital expenditures for property and equipment to
expand capabilities and capacity in support of our expanding IEI and HRS businesses.
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In millions)

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash collection of deferred purchase price and other
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment
Adjusted free cash flow

$

$

(1,533) $
2,561
(462)

(2,971) $
3,605
(725)

106
672

94
3

$

$

(3,866)
4,620
(562)
44
236

Our cash balances are generated and held in numerous locations throughout the world. Liquidity is affected by many
factors, some of which are based on normal ongoing operations of the business and some of which arise from fluctuations
related to global economics and markets. Local government regulations may restrict our ability to move cash balances to meet
cash needs under certain circumstances; however, any current restrictions are not material. We do not currently expect such
regulations and restrictions to impact our ability to pay vendors and conduct operations throughout the global organization. We
believe that our existing cash balances, together with anticipated cash flows from operations and borrowings available under
our credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the next twelve months.
In response to the recent challenging environment following the COVID-19 pandemic, we have evaluated our ability to
meet our obligations over the next 12 months and expect that our current financial condition, including our liquidity sources are
adequate to fund future commitments. As of March 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $1.9 billion and access to a
$1.75 billion revolving credit facility that is due to mature in June 2022, under which we had no borrowings outstanding. The
revolving credit facility provides us flexibility to manage working capital and capital expenditures. Further, in May 2020, we
issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026, at 99.617% of face value, and $325
million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due May 2030, at 99.562% of face value. The total proceeds of $740
million, net of discount and issuance costs, are expected to be used for general corporate purposes, which may include
repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding debt and for working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions. As
discussed above, we also took a number of steps to enhance our liquidity positions including (1) suspending share repurchases,
(2) further tightening capital expenditures to only fund critical investments in our highest margin opportunities, and (3)
aggressively reducing discretionary corporate spend and enacting targeted pay reductions. We believe we are well positioned
with ample access to liquidity.
Future liquidity needs will depend on fluctuations in levels of inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable, the
timing of capital expenditures for new equipment, the extent to which we utilize operating leases for new facilities and
equipment, and the levels of shipments and changes in the volumes of customer orders.
We maintain global paying services agreements with several financial institutions. Under these agreements, the financial
institutions act as our paying agents with respect to accounts payable due to our suppliers who elect to participate in the
program. The agreements allow our suppliers to sell their receivables to one of the participating financial institutions at the
discretion of both parties on terms that are negotiated between the supplier and the respective financial institution. Our
obligations to our suppliers, including the amounts due and scheduled payment dates, are not impacted by our suppliers’
decisions to sell their receivables under this program. During fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the cumulative
payments due to suppliers participating in the programs amounted to approximately $0.9 billion and $0.5 billion, respectively.
Pursuant to their agreement with one of the financial institutions, certain suppliers may elect to be paid early at their discretion.
We are not always notified when our suppliers sell receivables under these programs. The available capacity under these
programs can vary based on the number of investors and/or financial institutions participating in these programs at any point in
time.
In addition, we maintain various uncommitted short-term financing facilities including but not limited to commercial
paper program and revolving sale and repurchase of subordinated note established under the securitization facility, under which
there were no borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2020.
Historically, we have funded operations from cash and cash equivalents generated from operations, proceeds from public
offerings of equity and debt securities, bank debt and lease financings. We also sell a designated pool of trade receivables under
ABS Programs and sell certain trade receivables, which are in addition to the trade receivables sold in connection with these
securitization agreements. We anticipate that we will enter into debt and equity financings, sales of accounts receivable and
lease transactions to fund acquisitions and anticipated growth.
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During fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, we received approximately $7.6 billion, $6.8 billion and $8.0 billion,
respectively from transfers of receivables under our ABS Programs, and $1.6 billion, $2.7 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively
from other sales of receivables. As of March 31, 2020, and 2019, the outstanding balance on receivables sold for cash was $1.2
billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, under all our asset-backed securitization programs and accounts receivable factoring
program, which were removed from accounts receivable balances in our consolidated balance sheets.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

Annual Report

The sale or issuance of equity or convertible debt securities could result in dilution to current shareholders. Further, we
may issue debt securities that have rights and privileges senior to those of holders of ordinary shares, and the terms of this debt
could impose restrictions on operations and could increase debt service obligations. This increased indebtedness could limit our
flexibility as a result of debt service requirements and restrictive covenants, potentially affect our credit ratings, and may limit
our ability to access additional capital or execute our business strategy. Any downgrades in credit ratings could adversely affect
our ability to borrow as a result of more restrictive borrowing terms. We continue to assess our capital structure and evaluate
the merits of redeploying available cash to reduce existing debt or repurchase ordinary shares. Under our current share
repurchase program, our Board of Directors authorized repurchases of our outstanding ordinary shares for up to $500 million in
accordance with the share purchase mandate approved by our shareholders at the date of the most recent Annual General
Meeting which was held on August 20, 2019. During fiscal year 2020, we paid $260 million to repurchase shares (under the
current and prior repurchase plans) at an average price of $10.98 per share. As of March 31, 2020, shares in the aggregate
amount of $315 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Historically we have been successful in refinancing and extending the maturity dates on our term loans and credit
facilities. In June 2017, we entered into a five-year credit facility consisting of a $1.75 billion revolving credit facility and
a $503 million term loan, which is due to mature on June 30, 2022 (the "2022 Credit Facility"). The outstanding principal of the
term loan portion of the 2022 Credit Facility is repayable in quarterly installments of approximately $6 million from September
30, 2017 through June 30, 2020 and approximately $13 million from September 30, 2020 through March 31, 2022 with the
remainder due upon maturity.

Bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:
As of March 31,
2020

2019
(In millions)

$

— $
—
433
500
310
597
662
138
211
(13)
2,838
(149)

Current portion, net of debt issuance costs
Non-current portion

$

2,689

500
672
459
500
—
597
—
170
168
(11)
3,055
(633)

$

2,422

(1) India Facilities as of March 31, 2019 include an approximately $91.4 million drawdown of short-term bank borrowings under a
facility entered in February 2019 which was repaid in May 2019 and a $78.8 million drawdown from the $200 million term loan
facility entered in July 2018.

Refer to the discussion in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for further details of our debt obligations. In May 2020, we issued $425 million aggregate principal
amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026, at 99.617% of face value, and $325 million aggregate principal amount of
4.875% Notes due May 2030, at 99.562% of face value. The total proceeds of $740 million, net of discount and issuance costs,
are expected to be used for general corporate purposes, which may include repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding
debt and for working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions.
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4.625% Notes due February 2020
Term Loan, including current portion, due in installments through November 2021
Term Loan, including current portion, due in installments through June 2022
5.000% Notes due February 2023
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month Yen LIBOR plus 0.50%
4.750% Notes due June 2025
4.875% Notes due June 2029
India Facilities (1)
Other
Debt issuance costs
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We have purchase obligations that arise in the normal course of business, primarily consisting of binding purchase orders
for inventory related items and capital expenditures. Additionally, we have leased certain of our property and equipment under
finance lease commitments, and certain of our facilities and equipment under operating lease commitments.
Future payments due under our purchase obligations, debt including finance leases and related interest obligations and
operating leases are as follows (amounts may not sum due to rounding):
Less Than
1 Year

Total

1 - 3 Years

Greater Than
5 Years

4 - 5 Years

(In millions)

Contractual Obligations:
Purchase obligations
Bank borrowings, long-term debt and
finance lease obligations:
Bank borrowings and long-term debt
Finance leases
Interest on long-term debt obligations
Operating leases, net of subleases
Restructuring costs
Total contractual obligations

$

3,706

$

2,852
29
550
755
23
7,915

$

3,706

$

149
12
110
133
23
4,133

$

—

$

1,080
16
198
216
—
1,510

$

—

$

363
1
105
152
—
621

$

—

$

1,259
—
137
254
—
1,650

We have excluded $246 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits from the contractual obligations table as we
cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the periodic settlements with the respective taxing authorities. See note 14,
"Income Taxes" to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further
details.
Our purchase obligations can fluctuate significantly from period to period and can materially impact our future operating
asset and liability balances, and our future working capital requirements. We intend to use our existing cash balances, together
with anticipated cash flows from operations to fund our existing and future contractual obligations.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We sell designated pools of trade receivables to unaffiliated financial institutions under our ABS Programs. Effective
November 2019, we amended the structure and removed the requirement for the deferred purchase price receivable. Under the
amended ABS Programs, the entire purchase price of sold receivables are paid in cash and are guaranteed. For further
information on the amendment see note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data". Prior to November 2019, under the ABS Programs, in addition to cash, we received a deferred purchase
price receivable for each pool of the receivables sold. Each of these deferred purchase price receivables served as additional
credit support to the financial institutions and was recorded at its estimated fair value. As of March 31, 2019, the fair value of
our deferred purchase price receivable was approximately $293 million. There are no deferred purchase price receivables
outstanding as of March 31, 2020.
As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the outstanding balance on receivables sold for cash was $1.2 billion and $1.3 billion,
respectively, under our asset-backed securitization programs and accounts receivable factoring program, which were removed
from accounts receivable balances in our consolidated balance sheets. For further information, see note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for
recent accounting pronouncements.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

INTEREST RATE RISK

We had variable rate debt outstanding of approximately $1.0 billion as of March 31, 2020. Variable rate debt obligations
consisted of borrowings under our term loans. Interest on these obligations is discussed in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data".

As of March 31, 2020, the approximate average fair value of our debt outstanding under our term loan facilities that
mature in June 2022, and Notes due February 2023, June 2025 and June 2029 was 98.3% of the face value of the debt
obligations based on broker trading prices.

If a contract is not transitioned to an alternative rate and LIBOR is discontinued, the impact is likely to vary by contract.
If LIBOR is discontinued or if the method of calculating LIBOR changes from its current form, interest rates on our current or
future indebtedness may be adversely affected. While we expect LIBOR to be available in substantially its current form until
the end of 2021, it is possible that LIBOR will become unavailable prior to that point. This could result, for example, if
sufficient banks decline to make submissions to the LIBOR administrator. In that case, the risks associated with the transition to
an alternative reference rate will be accelerated and magnified.
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK
We transact business in various foreign countries and are, therefore, subject to risk of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. We have established a foreign currency risk management policy to manage this risk. To the extent possible, we
manage our foreign currency exposure by evaluating and using non-financial techniques, such as currency of invoice, leading
and lagging payments and receivables management. In addition, we may borrow in various foreign currencies and enter into
short-term foreign currency derivative contracts, including forward, swap, and option contracts to hedge only those currency
exposures associated with certain assets and liabilities, mainly accounts receivable and accounts payable, and cash flows
denominated in non-functional currencies.
We endeavor to maintain a partial or fully hedged position for certain transaction exposures. These exposures are
primarily, but not limited to, revenues, customer and vendor payments and inter-company balances in currencies other than the
functional currency unit of the operating entity. The credit risk of our foreign currency derivative contracts is minimized since
all contracts are with large financial institutions and accordingly, fair value adjustments related to the credit risk of the counterparty financial institution were not material. The gains and losses on foreign currency derivative contracts generally offset the
losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and transactions hedged. The fair value of currency derivative contracts is reported on
the balance sheet. The aggregate notional amount of outstanding contracts as of March 31, 2020 amounted to $9.8 billion and
the recorded fair values of the associated assets and liabilities were not material. The majority of these foreign exchange
contracts expire in less than three months and all expire within one year. They will settle primarily in the Brazilian real, British
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In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) that regulates LIBOR announced it intends to stop compelling
banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. As a result, the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York organized the Alternative Reference Rates Committee which identified the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate ("SOFR") as its preferred alternative to USD-LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. We are not able to
predict when LIBOR will cease to be published or precisely how SOFR will be calculated and published. Any changes adopted
by FCA or other governing bodies in the method used for determining LIBOR may result in a sudden or prolonged increase or
decrease in reported LIBOR. If that were to occur, our interest payments could change.

Annual Report

Our variable rate debt instruments create exposures for us related to interest rate risk. Primarily due to the current low
interest rates, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows over the next fiscal year.

Notice & Proxy Statement

A portion of our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to our highly liquid investment portfolio,
with maturities of three months or less from original dates of purchase and are classified as cash equivalents on our
consolidated balance sheet. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our highly liquid investment portfolio. We place
cash and cash equivalents with various major financial institutions and highly rated money market accounts. Our investment
policy has strict guidelines focusing on preservation of capital. The portfolio is comprised of various instruments including
term deposits with banks, marketable securities and money market accounts. Our cash is principally invested in the U.S. dollar
and China renminbi serving as a natural hedge of our renminbi denominated costs. As of March 31, 2020, the outstanding
amount in the highly liquid investment portfolio was $0.4 billion, the largest components of which were U.S. dollar, Brazilian
real, China renminbi and Indian rupee denominated money market accounts with an average return of 2.72%. A hypothetical
10% change in interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations and
cash flows over the next fiscal year.
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pound, China renminbi, Euro, Hungarian forint, Indian rupee, Israeli shekel, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Swedish krona,
and U.S. dollar.
Based on our overall currency rate exposures as of March 31, 2020, including the derivative financial instruments
intended to hedge the nonfunctional currency-denominated monetary assets, liabilities and cash flows, and other factors, a 10%
appreciation or depreciation of the U.S. dollar from its cross-functional rates would not be expected, in the aggregate, to have a
material effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in the near-term.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Flex Ltd., Singapore

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Flex Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31,
2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended March 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated May 28, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in fiscal year
2020 due to the adoption of Accounting Standard Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases. In fiscal year 2019, the Company
changed its method of accounting for revenue from contracts with customers due to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective approach.

Annual Report

Change in Accounting Principles

Notice & Proxy Statement

Opinion on the Financial Statements

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on
the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Goodwill - Consumer Technologies Group and Communications & Enterprise Compute Reporting Units - Refer to Note 2 to
the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
The Company’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment involves the comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit to its
carrying value. The Company determines the fair value of its reporting units using a combination of a discounted cash flow
model and the market approach. The determination of the fair value using the discounted cash flow model and market approach
requires management to make significant judgments and assumptions related to forecasts of future revenues, earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA), and capital expenditures, and the selection of the discount rate.
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These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the US federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
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As of March 31, 2020, the goodwill balance was approximately $1.1 billion, of which $103.3 million and $129.3 million was
allocated to the Consumer Technologies Group (“CTG”) and Communications & Enterprise Compute (“CEC”) reporting units,
respectively. The fair values of the CTG and CEC reporting units exceeded their carrying values as of the measurement date
and, therefore, no impairment was recognized.
We identified the goodwill valuation for CTG and CEC as a critical audit matter due to the relatively small excess of each
reporting unit’s fair value over its book value, the significant judgments and assumptions made by management to estimate the
fair value of the reporting units, and the inherent uncertainty of future forecasts that are dependent on the Company executing
against its strategy for CTG and CEC. These factors required a high degree of auditor judgement and an increased extent of
effort, including the need to involve our fair value specialists, when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness
of management’s judgments and assumptions related to forecasts of future revenues, EBITDA and capital expenditures, and the
selection of the discount rate. For these reasons we identified the valuation of CTG and CEC goodwill as a critical audit matter.
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the forecasts of the CTG and CEC reporting units’ future revenues, EBITDA and capital
expenditures, and the selection of the discount rate, included the following, among others:
•
•

•

We tested the effectiveness of internal controls over management’s goodwill impairment evaluation, including those
over the forecasts of future revenue, EBITDA and capital expenditures, and selection of the discount rate.
We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s revenue, EBITDA and capital expenditures forecasts by comparing
the forecasts to:
• Historical revenues, EBITDA, and capital expenditures;
• Internal communications to management and the Board of Directors;
• Forecasted information included in Company press releases as well as in analyst and industry reports of the
Company and companies in its peer group.
With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of (1) the valuation methodology and
(2) the discount rate by:
• Testing the source information underlying the determination of the discount rate and the mathematical accuracy of
the calculation;
• Developing a range of independent estimates and comparing those to the discount rate selected by management.

Revenue - Customer Contracts and Related Obligations - Refer to Notes 2 and 4 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
Certain of the Company’s customer agreements include potential price adjustments which are accounted for as variable
consideration under the relevant accounting literature. For arrangements that include potential price adjustments the Company
limits the amount of revenue recognized to that amount which is not probable of significant reversal, considering potential
refunds required by the contract, historical experience and other surrounding facts and circumstances. The amount of variable
consideration that is deferred is recorded in ‘customer-related accruals’ on the consolidated balance sheets, which totaled
$195.1 million as of March 31, 2020.
Auditing the Company’s estimates of variable consideration required extensive audit effort and a high degree of auditor
judgment. For these reasons we identified the measurement of variable consideration and the associated customer-related
accruals as a critical audit matter.
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to variable consideration and associated customer related accruals included the following, among
others:
•
•
•

We tested the effectiveness of controls the Company has in place relating to reviewing customer contracts to identify
price adjustment clauses, estimating variable consideration and assessing the reasonableness of customer related
accrual balances.
We evaluated the Company’s accounting policy with respect to variable consideration, as well as its process for
identifying contracts that include potential price adjustment clauses.
We selected a sample of contracts with customers that included potential price adjustment clauses and performed the
following:
• We read the customer contracts to develop an understanding of clauses that could give rise to variable
consideration and evaluated whether the Company’s accounting conclusions with respect to those clauses were
reasonable.
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We obtained and tested the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s calculations of customer related accruals and
evaluated the Company’s judgments regarding the amount of variable consideration that should be deferred. In
making this evaluation we considered both the terms included in the customer contract and the Company’s
historical experience in settling amounts with the customer.
We tested the recognition of previous deferrals for variable consideration to determine whether the conditions that
resulted in the prior deferral had been resolved to support recognition of revenues in the current year.
Notice & Proxy Statement

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Jose, California
May 28, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditors since 2002.
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of March 31,
2020

2019

(In thousands, except
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 2)
Contract assets
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
$
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Bank borrowings and current portion of long-term debt
$
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Operating lease liabilities, non-current
Other liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Shareholders' equity
Shareholders' equity
Ordinary shares, no par value; 547,665,632 and 566,787,620 issued, and 497,426,277
and 516,548,265 outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Treasury stock, at cost; 50,239,355 shares as of March 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
$

1,922,686
2,435,982
282,444
3,785,073
660,085
9,086,270
2,215,991
605,070
1,064,553
262,418
455,315
13,689,617

$

149,130
5,108,251
363,644
1,590,060
7,211,085
2,689,109
528,967
429,303

$

632,611
5,147,236
391,591
1,426,075
7,597,513
2,421,904
—
507,590

6,336,445

6,523,750

(388,215)
(2,902,410)
(214,667)

(388,215)
(3,012,012)
(151,163)

2,831,153
13,689,617

2,972,360
13,499,367

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,696,625
2,612,961
216,202
3,722,854
854,790
9,103,432
2,336,213
—
1,073,055
330,995
655,672
13,499,367

$
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2019

2018

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average shares used in computing per share amounts:
Basic
Diluted

$

$

24,209,870
22,681,490
190,424
1,337,956
834,105
64,106
25,983
163,727
91,550
158,485
70,906
87,579

$
$

0.17
0.17
508,774
512,437

$

$

26,210,511
24,593,731
99,005
1,517,775
953,077
74,396
14,308
183,454
110,414
182,126
88,727
93,399

$

520,893
92,359
428,534

$
$

0.18
0.18

$
$

0.81
0.80

526,519
530,070
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529,782
536,598
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

25,441,131
23,778,404
66,845
1,595,882
1,019,399
78,640
23,846
122,823
(169,719)
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Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring charges
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Intangible amortization
Restructuring charges
Interest and other, net
Other charges (income), net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

Notice & Proxy Statement
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FLEX LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Net income
$
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of zero tax
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments and other, net of zero
tax
Comprehensive income
$

87,579

$

93,399

428,534

(23,397)

(59,508)

45,618

(40,107)

(5,810)

(3,320)

24,075

$

28,081

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

470,832

—
—
71,546
(440)

4,223
—
—
—
—
497,426

—
$5,948,230

1,502

—
6,135,535
(259,913)

(296)

—

—
516,548
(23,672)
327

—
—
76,032

245

—
—
—
80,484
—
—
6,248,532
(188,978)

5,952
—
—

6,946
—
—
—
—
—
528,078
(17,726)
244

—
—
—

—
87,579
—
22,023
—
$(2,902,410) $

—
—

—
—

—
—
(40,107)
(23,397)
(81,663) $ (133,004) $

—
—
—

—
—

—

(59,508)
(109,607)

—

(5,810)
(41,556)

—
(3,012,012)

—
—
—

—
—

—
—
—
—
—
45,618
(50,099)

38,703

—
—
—

—
—

—
—
—
—
—
(3,320)
(35,746)

—
93,399
—

—
—

—
—
428,534
—
—
—
(3,144,114)

(32,426) $ (95,717) $
—
—
—
—

(In thousands)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Total Flex Ltd.
Shareholders'
Equity

—
21,583
(63,504)
(63,504)
(214,667) $ 2,831,153 $

—
87,579
71,546

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—

38,407

(65,318)
2,972,360
(259,913)
1,502

—

—
—
—

—
63,363
(7,573)
849
(90,638)
—
—
—
—
—
93,399
76,032

—
—
428,534
80,484
—
42,298
3,018,573
(188,978)
245

(65,318)
(151,163)
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
42,298
(85,845)
—
—

33,743
—
256

Noncontrolling
Interests

(128,143) $ 2,644,533 $
—
(180,050)
—
2,774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Repurchase of Flex Ltd. ordinary shares at cost
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of Flex Ltd. vested shares under
restricted share unit awards
Net income
Stock-based compensation, net of tax
Cumulative effect on opening equity of
adopting accounting standards and other
Total other comprehensive loss
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2020

Total other comprehensive loss
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2019

Repurchase of Flex Ltd. ordinary shares at cost
Exercise of stock options
Issuance of Flex Ltd. vested shares under
restricted share unit awards
Net income
Stock-based compensation, net of tax
Cumulative effect on opening equity of
adopting accounting standards and other

Issuance of Flex Ltd. vested shares under
restricted share unit awards
Issuance of subsidiary shares, net
Net income
Stock-based compensation, net of tax
Deconsolidation of subsidiary entity
Total other comprehensive income
BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2018

Repurchase of Flex Ltd. ordinary shares at cost
Exercise of stock options

531,294 $6,345,324 $(3,572,648) $
(180,050)
(10,829)
—
667
2,774
—

Amount

Accumulated
Deficit

Shareholder Info

BALANCE AT MARCH 31, 2017

Shares
Outstanding

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Unrealized
Gain (Loss) on
Derivative
Instruments
And Other
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Total

21,583
(63,504)
$ 2,831,153

—
87,579
71,546

(65,318)
2,972,360
(259,913)
1,502

38,407

—
93,399
76,032

—
63,363
420,961
81,333
(90,638)
42,298
3,018,573
(188,978)
245

$ 2,678,276
(180,050)
3,030

Shareholders'
Equity

Notice & Proxy Statement

Ordinary Shares
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation
Amortization and other impairment charges
Provision for doubtful accounts (Note 2)
Non-cash other loss (income)
Stock-based compensation
Gain from deconsolidation of subsidiary (Note 2)
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Contract assets
Inventories
Other current and noncurrent assets
Accounts payable
Other current and noncurrent liabilities

$

$

422,407
325,643
23,732
(38,914)

(2,126,355)
(66,297)
(66,462)

Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from bank borrowings and long-term debt
Repayments of bank borrowings and long-term debt
Payments for repurchases of ordinary shares
Other financing activities, net

$

93,399

428,534

434,432
120,932
8,225
(58,223)
81,346
(151,574)
43,187

(3,628,129)

(4,916,843)

215,877
(360,152)

—
(354,319)

(7,541)

(138,184)

(19,345)
(14,554)
(138,732)

68,070
(147,694)

(1,533,276)

(2,971,024)

(3,866,335)

(461,745)

(725,606)

(561,997)

105,750
(1,390)

94,219
(12,796)

44,780
(268,377)

623,148
13,004

(2,949)

3,402
2,565,555
67,458

267,147
3,585,901
44,032

4,619,933
(120,442)

2,279,030

3,252,897

3,710,948

1,069,578
(1,315,691)
(259,912)
(2,435)

3,199,460
(3,059,828)
(188,979)

1,366,000
(1,420,977)
(180,050)

19,643

47,242

(508,460)
(11,233)

(29,704)
(27,968)

(187,785)
(15,079)
(358,251)

226,061
1,696,625
1,922,686

$

224,201
1,472,424
1,696,625

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

433,413
331,539
41,977
12,655
76,032
(86,614)
(13,856)

71,546
—
6,476

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from divestiture of businesses, net of cash held in divested
businesses
Cash collections of deferred purchase price
Other investing activities, net

Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

87,579

$

1,830,675
1,472,424
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION OF THE COMPANY

High Reliability Solutions ("HRS"), which is comprised of our health solutions business, including surgical
equipment, drug delivery, diagnostics, telemedicine, disposable devices, imaging and monitoring, patient
mobility and ophthalmology; and our automotive business, including vehicle electrification, connectivity,
autonomous, and smart technologies;

•

Industrial and Emerging Industries ("IEI"), which is comprised of energy including advanced metering
infrastructure, energy storage, smart lighting, smart solar energy; and industrial, including semiconductor and
capital equipment, office solutions, household industrial and lifestyle, industrial automation and kiosks;

•

Communications & Enterprise Compute ("CEC"), which includes our telecom business of radio access base
stations, remote radio heads and small cells for wireless infrastructure; our networking business, which
includes optical, routing, and switching products for data and video networks; our server and storage
platforms for both enterprise and cloud-based deployments; next generation storage and security appliance
products; and rack-level solutions, converged infrastructure and software-defined product solutions; and

•

Consumer Technologies Group ("CTG"), which includes our consumer-related businesses in IoT enabled
devices, audio and consumer power electronics, mobile devices; and various supply chain solutions for
consumer, computing and printing devices.

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Flex and its majority-owned subsidiaries,
after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Amounts included in these consolidated financial statements are
expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise designated. The Company consolidates its majority-owned subsidiaries and
investments in entities in which the Company has a controlling interest. For the consolidated majority-owned subsidiaries in
which the Company owns less than 100%, the Company recognizes a noncontrolling interest for the ownership of the
noncontrolling owners. The associated noncontrolling owners' interest in the income or losses of these companies is not
material to the Company's results of operations for all periods presented, and is classified as a component of interest and other,
net, in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The Company's service offerings include a comprehensive range of value-added design and engineering services that are
tailored to the various markets and needs of its customers. Other focused service offerings relate to manufacturing (including
enclosures, metals, plastic injection molding, precision plastics, machining, and mechanicals), system integration and assembly
and test services, materials procurement, inventory management, logistics and after-sales services (including product repair,
warranty services, re-manufacturing and maintenance) and supply chain management software solutions and component
product offerings (including flexible printed circuit boards and power adapters and chargers).

Annual Report

•

Notice & Proxy Statement

Flex Ltd. ("Flex" or the "Company") was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore in May 1990. The Company's
operations have expanded over the years through a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. The Company is the
manufacturing partner of choice that helps a diverse customer base design and build products that improve the world. Through
the collective strength of a global workforce across approximately 30 countries and responsible, sustainable operations, the
Company delivers technology innovation, supply chain, and manufacturing solutions to diverse industries and end markets. As
of March 31, 2020, the Company's reportable segments were as follows:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("U.S. GAAP" or "GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other
things: allowances for doubtful accounts; inventory write-downs; valuation allowances for deferred tax assets; uncertain tax
positions; valuation and useful lives of long-lived assets including property, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill;
valuation of investments in privately held companies; asset impairments; fair values of financial instruments including highly
liquid investments, notes receivable and derivative instruments; restructuring charges; contingencies; warranty provisions;
incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of lease payments; accruals for potential price adjustments arising
from customer contracts; fair values of assets obtained and liabilities assumed in business combinations and the fair values of
stock options and restricted share unit awards granted under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, there has been and will continue to be uncertainty and disruption in the global economy and financial
markets. The Company has made estimates and assumptions taking into consideration certain possible impacts due to
COVID-19. These estimates may change, as new events occur, and additional information is obtained. Actual results may differ
from previously estimated amounts, and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates
and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period they occur.
Translation of Foreign Currencies
The financial position and results of operations for certain of the Company's subsidiaries are measured using a currency
other than the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities for these subsidiaries are translated
into U.S. dollars at the current exchange rates as of the respective balance sheet dates. Revenue and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Cumulative gains and losses from the translation of these
subsidiaries' financial statements are reported as other comprehensive loss, a component of shareholders' equity. Foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity
involved, and re-measurement adjustments for foreign operations where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, are included
in operating results. Non-functional currency transaction gains and losses, and re-measurement adjustments were not material to
the Company's consolidated results of operations for all periods presented, and have been classified as a component of interest
and other, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
Revenue Recognition
In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, Flex applies the following steps: (i) identify the contracts
with the customers; (ii) identify performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies
a performance obligation. Further, the Company assesses whether control of the product or services promised under the contract
is transferred to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). Flex is first required to evaluate whether its contracts
meet the criteria for OT recognition. The Company has determined that for a portion of its contracts, it is manufacturing
products for which there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the customer-specific product and IP restrictions) and
Flex has an enforceable right to payment including a reasonable profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these
contracts. As a result, revenue is recognized under these contracts OT based on the cost-to-cost method as it best depicts the
transfer of control to the customer measured based on the ratio of costs incurred to date as compared to the total estimated costs
at completion of the performance obligation. For all other contracts that do not meet these criteria, the Company recognizes
revenue when it has transferred control of the related manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery and passage
of title to the customer. Refer to note 4 "Revenue Recognition" for further details.
On April 1, 2018, the Company adopted the Accounting Standard Codification 606 ("ASC 606") using the modified
retrospective approach by applying the guidance to all open contracts at the adoption date and has implemented revised
accounting policies, new operational and financial reporting processes, enhanced systems capabilities and relevant internal
controls. In addition to the following disclosures, note 4 "Revenue Recognition" provides further disclosures required by the
new standard.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk

Customer Credit Risk
The Company has an established customer credit policy, through which it manages customer credit exposures through
credit evaluations, credit limit setting, monitoring, and enforcement of credit limits for new and existing customers. The
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and makes provisions for doubtful accounts
based on the outcome of those credit evaluations. The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable based on
specific customer circumstances, current economic trends, historical experience with collections and the age of past due
receivables. To the extent the Company identifies exposures as a result of credit or customer evaluations, the Company also
reviews other customer related exposures, including but not limited to inventory and related contractual obligations.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily accounts
receivable, derivative instruments, and cash and cash equivalents.

The following table summarizes the activity in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts during fiscal years 2020,
2019 and 2018:
Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Deductions/
Write-Offs

Balance at
End of
Year

(In thousands)

Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended March 31, 2018
Year ended March 31, 2019 (1)
Year ended March 31, 2020 (1)

$

57,302
60,051
91,396

$

8,225
41,977
23,732

$

(5,476) $
(10,632)
(19,198)

60,051
91,396
95,930

Annual Report

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

(1) Charges incurred during fiscal years 2020 and 2019 are primarily for costs and expenses related to various distressed customers.

The Company's ten largest customers accounted for approximately 39%, 43% and 41%, of its net sales in fiscal years
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Derivative Instruments
The amount subject to credit risk related to derivative instruments is generally limited to the amount, if any, by which a
counterparty's obligations exceed the obligations of the Company with that counterparty. To manage counterparty risk, the
Company limits its derivative transactions to those with recognized financial institutions. See additional discussion of
derivatives in note 9.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions that management believes to be of
high credit quality. These financial institutions are located in many different locations throughout the world. The Company's
investment portfolio, which consists of short-term bank deposits and money market accounts, is classified as cash equivalents
on the consolidated balance sheets.
All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from original dates of purchase are carried at cost,
which approximates fair market value, and are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
deposited in checking accounts, money market funds and time deposits.

65

Shareholder Info

No customer accounted for greater than 10% of the Company's net sales in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018. One
customer within the Company's CTG segment accounted for approximately 10% of the Company's total balance of accounts
receivable, net in fiscal year 2020. One customer within the Company's CTG segment accounted for approximately 11% and
17% of the Company's total balances of accounts receivable, net in fiscal years 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following:
As of March 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Cash and bank balances
Money market funds and time deposits

$
$

1,519,029
403,657
1,922,686

$

1,222,737
473,888
1,696,625

$

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or net realizable value. The stated cost is
comprised of direct materials, labor and overhead. The components of inventories, net of applicable lower of cost or net
realizable value write-downs, were as follows:
As of March 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

$

$

2,835,582
373,513
575,978
3,785,073

$

2,922,101
366,135
434,618
3,722,854

$

Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, with the exception of building
leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the term of the lease, if shorter. Repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred. Property and equipment is comprised of the following:
As of March 31,
Depreciable
Life
(In Years)

2020

2019
(In thousands)

Machinery and equipment
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment and software
Land
Construction-in-progress

3 - 10
30
up to 30
3-7
—
—

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$

$

3,265,387 $
1,085,887
510,404
491,959
112,016
271,026
5,736,679
(3,520,688)
2,215,991

$

3,305,335
1,111,708
453,119
501,994
121,976
291,458
5,785,590
(3,449,377)
2,336,213

Total depreciation expense associated with property and equipment was approximately $422.4 million, $433.4 million
and $434.4 million in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of property and equipment
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

is determined by comparing its carrying amount to the lowest level of identifiable projected undiscounted cash flows the
property and equipment are expected to generate. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of property and
equipment exceeds its fair value.

The Company provides for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method of accounting for income
taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences between the
carrying amount and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities by applying the applicable statutory tax rate to such
differences. Additionally, the Company assesses whether each income tax position is "more likely than not" of being sustained
on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation, if any. For each income tax position that meets the "more likely
than not" recognition threshold, the Company would then assess the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely
of being realized upon effective settlement with the tax authority.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Deferred Income Taxes

Accounting for Business and Asset Acquisitions

Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level by
comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit, which typically is
measured based upon, among other factors, market multiples for comparable companies as well as a discounted cash flow
analysis. These approaches use significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy and
require management to make various judgmental assumptions about sales, operating margins, growth rates and discount rates
which consider its budgets, business plans and economic projections, and are believed to reflect market participant views. Some
of the inherent estimates and assumptions used in determining fair value of the reporting units are outside the control of
management, including interest rates, cost of capital, tax rates, market EBITDA comparable and credit ratings. While the
Company believes it has made reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate the fair value of the reporting units, it is
possible a material change could occur. If the actual results are not consistent with management's estimates and assumptions
used to calculate fair value, it could result in material impairments of the Company's goodwill.
If the recorded value of the assets, including goodwill, and liabilities ("net book value") of any reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, an impairment loss may be required to be recognized. Further, to the extent the net book value of the Company as a
whole is greater than its fair value in the aggregate, all, or a significant portion of its goodwill may be considered impaired.
The Company has four reporting units as of March 31, 2020, which correspond to its four reportable operating segments:
HRS, IEI, CEC and CTG. The Company concluded that there was no change to its reporting units in fiscal year 2020 and
performed its annual goodwill impairment assessment on January 1, 2020. The Company performed a quantitative assessment
of its goodwill and determined that no impairment existed as of the date of the impairment test because the fair value of each
one of its reporting units exceeded its respective carrying value.
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The Company estimates the preliminary fair value of acquired assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisition based on
information available at that time. Contingent consideration is recorded at fair value as of the date of the acquisition with
subsequent adjustments recorded in earnings. Changes to valuation allowances on acquired deferred tax assets are recognized in
the provision for, or benefit from, income taxes. The valuation of these tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities
is subject to further management review and may change materially between the preliminary allocation and end of the purchase
price allocation period. Any changes in these estimates may have a material effect on the Company's consolidated operating
results or financial position.

Annual Report

The Company has strategically pursued business and asset acquisitions, which are accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting. The fair value of the net assets acquired and the results of the acquired businesses are included in the
Company's consolidated financial statements from the acquisition dates forward. The Company is required to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and results of operations during the reporting period.
Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, the fair value of acquired net operating assets, property and
equipment, intangible assets and related deferred tax liabilities, useful lives of plant and equipment and amortizable lives for
acquired intangible assets. Any excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identified assets and liabilities
acquired is recognized as goodwill.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, due to the ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic which negatively impacted
the overall macroeconomy as well as the Company's market capitalization and estimated near-term financial performance, the
Company considered this a triggering event and performed an interim impairment test via a quantitative valuation as of March
31, 2020. Based on the results of the impairment test, the fair values exceed the respective carrying values for each reporting
unit, with the percentage excess ranging from 17% for CTG to 108% for IEI. Accordingly, the Company concluded that no
impairment of goodwill existed as of March 31, 2020. The estimated forecasted results used in the discounted cash flow portion
of the impairment analysis reflect the Company's best estimates as of March 31, 2020 and include near term negative impacts to
our auto businesses from the plant closures, challenged CEC telecommunication businesses, and weaker consumer demand for
our customers' mobility products due to COVID-19. These estimates could change depending on the future developments of the
COVID-19 pandemic such as the length and severity of the crisis, the potential resurgence of COVID-19 in the future, future
government actions in response to the crisis and the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and
capital markets, among many other factors, all of which remain highly uncertain and unpredictable.
The following table summarizes the activity in the Company's goodwill during fiscal years 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Balance, as of March 31, 2018
Additions (1)
Divestitures (2)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (3)
Balance, as of March 31, 2019
Divestitures (2)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (3)
Balance, as of March 31, 2020

$

$

HRS

IEI

550,983 $
—
(5,303)
(38,471)
507,209
(1,102)
(7,263)
498,844 $

337,707 $
—
(4,450)

124,732 $
10,984
(6,391)

—
333,257
(137)

—
129,325
—
—
129,325

—
333,120

CEC

$

CTG

$

Total

107,748 $ 1,121,170
—
10,984
(4,484)
(20,628)
(38,471)
—
103,264
—
—
103,264

1,073,055
(1,239)
(7,263)
$ 1,064,553

_______________________________________________________________________________

(1) The goodwill generated from the Company's business combinations completed during the fiscal year 2019 are primarily related to
value placed on the employee workforce, service offerings, capabilities and expected synergies. The goodwill is not deductible for
income tax purposes. Refer to the discussion of the Company's business acquisitions in note 18.
(2) During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, the Company divested its China-based Multek operations along with another nonstrategic immaterial business, and as a result, recorded an aggregate reduction of goodwill of $20.6 million.
(3) During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $7.3 million and $38.5 million, respectively, of
foreign currency translation adjustments primarily related to historical acquisitions, as the U.S. Dollar fluctuated against foreign
currencies.

Other Intangible Assets
The Company's acquired intangible assets are subject to amortization over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible asset may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value. The
Company reviewed the carrying value of its intangible assets as of March 31, 2020 and concluded that such amounts continued
to be recoverable.
Intangible assets are comprised of customer-related intangible assets that include contractual agreements and customer
relationships; and licenses and other intangible assets, that are primarily comprised of licenses and also include patents and
trademarks, and developed technologies. Generally, both customer-related intangible assets and licenses and other intangible
assets are amortized on a straight-line basis, over a period of up to ten years. No residual value is estimated for any intangible
assets. The fair value of the Company's intangible assets purchased through business combinations is determined based on
management's estimates of cash flow and recoverability. The components of acquired intangible assets are as follows:
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As of March 31, 2020

As of March 31, 2019
Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

(In thousands)

Intangible assets:
Customer-related intangibles
Licenses and other
intangibles
Total

$

275,678

$

244,917
520,595

$

(128,155) $

147,523

$

(130,022)
(258,177) $

114,895
262,418

$

297,306

$

274,604
571,910

$

(113,627) $

183,679

$

(127,288)
(240,915) $

147,316
330,995

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

Amount

Annual Report

Total intangible asset amortization expense recognized in operations during fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $64.1
million,$74.4 million and $78.6 million, respectively. The gross carrying amounts of intangible assets are removed when fully
amortized. During fiscal year 2020, the gross carrying amounts of fully amortized intangible assets totaled $43.4 million. The
Company also recorded $5.2 million foreign currency translation adjustments during fiscal year 2020, as the U.S. Dollar
fluctuated against foreign currencies for certain intangibles. As of March 31, 2020, the weighted-average remaining useful lives
of the Company's intangible assets was approximately 5.6 years for customer-related intangibles and approximately 4.7 years
for licenses and other intangible assets. The estimated future annual amortization expense for acquired intangible assets is as
follows:
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Gross
Carrying
Amount

(In thousands)

$

$

59,798
51,422
43,797
42,262
37,343
27,796
262,418

The Company owns or licenses various United States and foreign patents relating to a variety of technologies. For certain
of the Company's proprietary processes, inventions, and works of authorship, the Company relies on trade secret or copyright
protection. The Company also maintains trademark rights (including registrations) for the Company's corporate name and
several other trademarks and service marks that the Company uses in the Company's business in the United States and other
countries throughout the world. The Company has implemented appropriate policies and procedures (including both
technological means and training programs for the Company's employees) to identify and protect the Company's intellectual
property, as well as that of the Company's customers and suppliers. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying value of the
Company's intellectual property was not material.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
All derivative instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. If the derivative instrument is
designated as a cash flow hedge, effectiveness is tested monthly using a regression analysis of the change in spot currency rates
and the change in present value of the spot currency rates. The spot currency rates are discounted to present value using
functional currency Inter-bank Offering Rates over the maximum length of the hedge period. The effective portion of changes
in the fair value of the derivative instrument (excluding time value) is recognized in shareholders' equity as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations
when the hedged item affects earnings. Ineffective and excluded portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are
recognized in earnings immediately. If the derivative instrument is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings in the
current period. Additional information is included in note 9.
69

Shareholder Info

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total amortization expense
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Other Current Assets
Other current assets include approximately $292.5 million as of March 31, 2019, for the deferred purchase price
receivable from the Company's Asset-Backed Securitization programs. There are no deferred purchase price receivables
outstanding as of March 31, 2020. See note 11 for additional information.
Investments
The Company has an investment portfolio that consists of strategic investments in privately held companies, and certain
venture capital funds which are included within other assets. These privately held companies range from startups to more
mature companies with established revenue streams and business models. As of March 31, 2020, and March 31, 2019, the
Company's investments in non-consolidated companies totaled $128.1 million and $294.1 million, respectively.
During fiscal year 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of its investment portfolio strategy,
the Company concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired and
recognized a $98 million total impairment in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations. The
impairments in fiscal year 2020 were primarily related to Elementum and certain other non-core investments, reflecting recent
market valuation changes, in addition to capturing additional risks due to the economic challenges in light of COVID-19.
During the last half of fiscal year 2019, the Company reassessed its strategy with respect to its entire investment portfolio.
As a result the Company recognized aggregate net charges related to investment impairments and dispositions of approximately
$193 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, primarily related to a non-core cost method investment and Elementum.
Non-consolidated investments in entities are accounted for using the equity method when the Company has an investment
in common stock or in-substance common stock, and either (a) has the ability to significantly influence the operating decisions
of the issuer, or (b) if the Company has a voting percentage equal to or generally greater than 20% but less than 50%, and for
non-majority-owned investments in partnerships when generally greater than 5%. The equity in the earnings or losses of the
Company's equity method investments was not material to the consolidated results of operations for any period presented and is
included in interest and other, net. Cost method is used for investments which the Company does not have the ability to
significantly influence the operating decisions of the investee, or if the Company’s investment is in securities other than
common stock or in-substance common stock.
The Company monitors these investments for impairment indicators and makes appropriate reductions in carrying values
as required whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired. The factors the Company
considers in its evaluation of potential impairment of its investments include, but are not limited to, a significant deterioration in
the earnings performance or business prospects of the investee, or factors that raise significant concerns about the investee’s
ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows from operation or working capital deficiencies. Fair values
of these investments, when required, are estimated using unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value
hierarchy, and require management to make various judgmental assumptions about primarily comparable company multiples
and discounted cash flow projections. Some of the inherent estimates and assumptions used in determining fair value of the
investments are outside the control of management. While the Company believes it has made reasonable estimates and
assumptions to calculate the fair value of the investments, it is possible a material change could occur. If the actual results are
not consistent with management's estimates and assumptions used to calculate fair value, it could result in material impairments
of investments.
For investments accounted for under cost method that do not have readily determinable fair values, the Company has
elected, per ASU 2016-01 and commencing on April 1, 2018, to measure them at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus
changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same
issuer.
Investment in Elementum SCM (Cayman) Ltd ("Elementum")
Starting in fiscal year 2014, the Company had a majority owned subsidiary, Elementum, which qualified as a variable
interest entity for accounting purposes. The Company owned a majority of Elementum' s outstanding equity (consisting
primarily of preferred stock) and as of March 31, 2017, controlled its board of directors, which gave the Company the power to
direct the activities of Elementum that most significantly impacted its economic performance.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, the Company recorded an additional impairment charge of approximately
$38 million, reflecting recent market valuation changes and a significant deterioration of Elementum’s business.
The Company's remaining investment in Elementum is accounted for as a cost method investment and is immaterial as of
March 31, 2020.

Annual Report

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the Company and Elementum executed agreements that provided for, among
other things, the termination of certain commercial agreements between the Company and Elementum, the repurchase of certain
shares of Elementum held by the Company and the removal of certain rights associated with such shares, including the
Company’s right to elect certain members of Elementum’s board of directors. Management initiated a valuation of the
Company's remaining investment using the guideline public company approach which relied on inputs such as comparable
company multiples that would be considered Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. The valuation of the remaining
investment, at that time, resulted in a total charge of approximately $84 million, which is included in other charges (income),
net on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2019.
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During the second quarter of fiscal year 2018, the Company and other minority shareholders of Elementum amended
certain agreements resulting in joint control of the board of directors between the Company and other non-controlling interest
holders. As a result, the Company concluded it was no longer the primary beneficiary of Elementum and accordingly,
deconsolidated the entity and recognized a gain on deconsolidation of approximately $151.6 million with no related tax impact,
which is included in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2018.
Further, the Company derecognized approximately $72.6 million of cash of Elementum as of the date of deconsolidation, which
was reflected as an outflow from investing activities within other investing activities, net in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended March 31, 2018. The Company no longer recognizes the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest
as a component of total shareholder’s equity.

Bright Machines

Subsequent to the initial formation and prior to June 29, 2018, Bright Machines received equity funding from third party
investors and expanded the board of directors, resulting in dilution of the Company's voting interest to below 50%. As a result,
the Company concluded it no longer held a controlling financial interest in Bright Machines and accordingly, deconsolidated
the entity.
The fair value of the Company’s non-controlling interest in Bright Machines upon deconsolidation was approximately
$127.6 million as of the date of deconsolidation. The Company initially accounted for its investment in Bright Machines under
the equity method, with the carrying amount included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The value of the
Company’s interest on the date of deconsolidation was based on management’s estimate of the fair value of Bright Machines at
that time. Management relied on a multi-stage process which involved calculating the enterprise and equity value of Bright
Machines, then allocating the equity value of the entity to the Company’s securities. The enterprise value of Bright Machines
was estimated based on the value implied by the equity funding Bright Machines received from third parties in the same period
(i.e., Level 2 inputs). The Company recognized a gain on deconsolidation of approximately $87 million with no material tax
impact, which is included in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March
31, 2019.
Concurrently with the deconsolidation, the Company engaged Bright Machines as a strategic partner to develop and
deploy automation solutions for Flex and entered into a 5-year subscription agreement for use of fixed assets along with other
automation services. The subscription agreement provides the Company with the use of the assets previously contributed to
Bright Machines and accordingly is accounted for as a finance lease. As a result, the Company has recognized a finance lease
asset with balances of $25.4 million and $30.3 million and obligation with balances of $22.8 million and $34.8 million as of
March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.
71

Shareholder Info

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2019, the Company transferred existing employees and equipment with a net book
value of approximately $35 million along with certain related software and Intellectual Property ("IP"), into the newly created
Bright Machines, in exchange for shares of preferred stock and a controlling financial interest in Bright Machines. Bright
Machines is a privately held software-as-a service (SaaS) and hardware company focused on developing and deploying an
automation solution worldwide. The Company has concluded that Bright Machines does not qualify as a variable interest entity
for purposes of evaluating whether it has a controlling financial interest.
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Pro-forma financials have not been presented because the effects were not material to the Company’s consolidated
financial position and results of operation for all periods presented. Subscription fees under the Bright Machines agreement
were immaterial for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.
During fiscal year 2020, the Company and Bright Machines executed agreements that provided for, among other things,
the repurchase of certain preferred stock of Bright Machines held by the Company and the removal of certain rights associated
with such shares, including the Company’s right to elect certain members of Bright Machines' board of directors. In conjunction
with this transaction, the Company received consideration of approximately $44 million and recognized a total charge of $23
million, which is included in other charges (income), net on the consolidated statement of operations.
As a result of the transaction, the Company no longer has the ability to exercise significant influence, and therefore
accounts for its remaining investment in Bright Machines as a cost method investment, which is included in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2020. Bright Machines is no longer a related party of the Company subsequent to
the transaction described above.
Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities include customer working capital advances of $264.2 million and $266.3 million, customerrelated accruals of $195.1 million and $260.1 million, and contract liabilities, identified as deferred revenue of $361.5 million
and $271.8 million as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The customer working capital advances are not interest
bearing, do not have fixed repayment dates and are generally reduced as the underlying working capital is consumed in
production.
Leases
The Company is a lessee with several non-cancellable operating leases, primarily for warehouses, buildings, and other
assets such as vehicles and equipment. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. A contract is
a lease or contains a lease when (1) there is an identified asset, and (2) the customer has the right to control the use of the
identified asset. Beginning with the adoption of ASC 842 on April 1, 2019, the Company has elected to adopt the package of
transition practical expedients and, therefore, has not reassessed (1) whether existing or expired contracts contain a lease, (2)
lease classification for existing or expired leases or (3) the accounting for initial direct costs that were previously capitalized.
The Company recognizes a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date for the Company's
operating leases. For operating leases, the lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments
at the lease commencement date. The Company has elected the short-term lease recognition and measurement exemption for all
classes of assets, which allows the Company to not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with a lease term of 12
months or less and with no purchase option the Company is reasonably certain of exercising. The Company has also elected the
practical expedient to account for the lease and nonlease components as a single lease component, for all classes of underlying
assets. Therefore, the lease payments used to measure the lease liability include all of the fixed considerations in the contract.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments), and variable payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured using the index or rate at
the lease commencement date). As the Company cannot determine the interest rate implicit in the lease for the Company's
leases, the Company uses the Company's estimate of the incremental borrowing rate as of the commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments. The Company's estimated incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest it
would have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The lease
term for all of the Company's leases includes the non-cancellable period of the lease plus any additional periods covered by
either an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, or an option to
extend (or not to terminate) the lease controlled by the lessor.
The adoption of ASC 842 had a material impact to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, but did not materially
impact the consolidated statement of operations or consolidated statement of cash flows. The most significant changes to the
consolidated balance sheet relate to the recognition of ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases. The Company’s
accounting for finance leases remains substantially unchanged and the balances are not material for any periods presented.
As a result of adopting ASC 842 as of April 1, 2019, the Company recognized additional operating liabilities of $658
million with a corresponding ROU asset of $624 million and a deferred gain of $22 million for sale leaseback transactions to
opening retained earnings.
72

Table of Contents

Q

FLEX LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As of March 31, 2020, current operating lease liabilities were $114.1 million which are included in other current liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company recognizes restructuring charges related to its plans to close or consolidate excess manufacturing facilities
and rationalize administrative functions. In connection with these activities, the Company records restructuring charges for
employee termination costs, long-lived asset impairment and other exit-related costs.
The recognition of restructuring charges requires the Company to make certain judgments and estimates regarding the
nature, timing and amount of costs associated with the planned exit activity. To the extent the Company's actual results differ
from its estimates and assumptions, the Company may be required to revise the estimates of future liabilities, requiring the
recognition of additional restructuring charges or the reduction of liabilities already recognized. Such changes to previously
estimated amounts may be material to the consolidated financial statements. At the end of each reporting period, the Company
evaluates the remaining accrued balances to ensure that no excess accruals are retained, and the utilization of the provisions are
for their intended purpose in accordance with developed restructuring plans. See note 15 for additional information regarding
restructuring charges.

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2016-02, "Leases", and subsequent
updates (collectively, referred to as Accounting Standard Codification 842 or “ASC 842”). ASC 842 requires a lessee to
recognize a right of use (“ROU”) asset and lease liability. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification
affecting the recognition of expense and presentation in the income statement. The Company adopted ASC 842 on April 1, 2019
using the optional transition method, by which companies may elect not to recast the comparative periods presented in financial
statements in the period of adoption and recognize a cumulative effect adjustment in the period of adoption. As a result, the
Company was not required to adjust its comparative period financial information for effects of the standard or make the new
required lease disclosures for periods before the Company's adoption date. Details of the impact of adopting ASC 842 has been
described in the Leases section above.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15 "Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service
Contract” to provide guidance on a customer's accounting for implementation, set-up, and other upfront costs incurred in a
cloud computing arrangement that is hosted by the vendor, i.e., a service contract. Under the new guidance, customers will
apply the same criteria for capitalizing implementation costs as they would for an arrangement that has a software license. The
new guidance also prescribes the balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow classification of the capitalized
implementation costs and related amortization expense, as well as requires additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures.
The guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2021 with early adoption permitted. The
Company early adopted the guidance during the second quarter of fiscal year 2020 with an immaterial impact to its
consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework-Changes to
the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement”, which amends ASC 820 to add, remove, and modify fair value
measurement disclosure requirements. The Company adopted the guidance during the first quarter of fiscal year 2020 with an
immaterial impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07 "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvement to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting" with the objective of simplifying several aspects of the accounting for
nonemployee share-based payment transactions in current GAAP. The Company adopted this guidance during the first quarter
of fiscal year 2020 with an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-16 “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting
Purposes” to expand the lists of eligible benchmark interest rates to include OIS based on SOFR to facilitate the marketplace
transition from LIBOR. The Company adopted the guidance during the first quarter of fiscal year 2020 with an immaterial
impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Annual Report

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
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Restructuring Charges
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In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12 "Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to
Accounting for Hedging Activities" with the objective of improving the financial reporting of hedging relationships and
simplifying the application of the hedge accounting guidance in current GAAP. The Company adopted this guidance during the
first quarter of fiscal year 2020 with an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 "Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting", which temporarily simplifies the accounting for contract modifications, including hedging relationships, due to the
transition from LIBOR and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference interest rates. For example, entities can elect
not to remeasure the contracts at the modification date or reassess a previous accounting determination if certain conditions are
met. Additionally, entities can elect to continue applying hedge accounting for hedging relationships affected by reference rate
reform if certain conditions are met. The guidance is effective upon issuance and may be applied prospectively to contract
modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of the transition from LIBOR to alternative reference interest rates and expects the new
guidance will have an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01 "Investments - Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments - Equity
Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions Between Topic
321, Topic 323, and Topic 815 — a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force", which makes improvements related to
the following two topics: (1) accounting for certain equity securities when the equity method of accounting is applied or
discontinued, and (2) scope considerations related to forward contracts and purchased options on certain securities. The
guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 with early adoption permitted. The
Company expects the new guidance will have an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements, and intends to
adopt the guidance when it becomes effective in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes", which removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intraperiod allocation and
calculating income taxes in interim periods. The ASU also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including
recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to members of a consolidated group. The guidance is effective
for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022 with early adoption permitted. The Company expects the new
guidance will have an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements, and intends to adopt the guidance when it
becomes effective in the first quarter of fiscal year 2022.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13 “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments” and also issued subsequent amendments to the initial guidance: ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-04,
ASU 2019-05, ASU 2019-10, ASU 2019-11, ASU 2020-02, and ASU 2020-03, which replaces the existing incurred loss
impairment model with an expected credit loss model and requires a financial asset measured at amortized cost to be presented
at the net amount expected to be collected. The guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal
year 2021. The Company is assessing the impacts and currently expects the new guidance will have an immaterial impact on its
consolidated financial statements.
3. LEASES
The Company has several commitments under operating leases for warehouses, buildings, and equipment. The Company
also has a minimal number of finance leases with an immaterial impact on its consolidated financial statements. Leases have
initial lease terms ranging from 1 year to 23 years.
The components of lease cost recognized under ASC 842 were as follow (in thousands):
Lease cost

Year Ended
March 31, 2020

Operating lease cost

$
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Amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of the period ended March 31, 2020 were (in thousands, except
weighted average lease term and discount rate):

Operating lease right of use assets
Operating lease liabilities

$

605,070
643,054

Weighted-average remaining lease term (In years)
Operating leases

7.9

Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases

Notice & Proxy Statement

As of March 31, 2020

Operating Leases:

4.1%

Year Ended

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases

March 31, 2020

$

149,948

Future lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of March 31, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Operating Leases

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total undiscounted lease payments
Less: imputed interest
Total lease liabilities

$

$

134,817
115,465
100,779
84,374
67,772
253,768
756,975
113,921
643,054

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 and under the
previous lease accounting standard ASC 840, the aggregate future non-cancellable minimum rental payments on our operating
lease, as of March 31, 2019, are as follows:
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During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, the Company sold and leased back certain properties and received cash
proceeds of $69.6 million, resulting in total gains of $32.7 million, recorded in cost of sales within the consolidated statements
of operations. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 the Company sold and leased back certain properties and received
cash proceeds of $67.6 million and recorded a deferred gain of $22 million. As a result of adopting ASC 842 as of April 1,
2019, the Company recognized the deferred gain to prior year retained earnings.
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Other information related to leases was as follow (in thousands):
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Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

Operating Leases
(In thousands)

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

155,391
113,245
93,777
81,335
67,341
171,828
682,917

4. REVENUE
Revenue Recognition
The Company provides a comprehensive suite of services for its customers that range from advanced product design to
manufacturing and logistics to after-sales services. The first step in its process for revenue recognition is to identify a contract
with a customer. A contract is defined as an agreement between two parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and
can be written, verbal, or implied. The Company generally enters into master supply agreements (“MSA”) with its customers
that provide the framework under which business will be conducted. This includes matters such as warranty, indemnification,
transfer of title and risk of loss, liability for excess and obsolete inventory, pricing formulas, payment terms, etc., and the level
of business under those agreements may not be guaranteed. In those instances, the Company bids on a program-by-program
basis and typically receives customer purchase orders for specific quantities and timing of products. As a result, the Company
considers its contract with a customer to be the combination of the MSA and the purchase order, or any other similar documents
such as a statement of work, product addenda, emails or other communications that embody the commitment by the customer.
In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to recognize, the Company applies the following steps: (i) identify the
contracts with the customers; (ii) identify performance obligations in the contracts; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv)
allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations per the contracts; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the
Company satisfies a performance obligation. Further, the Company assesses whether control of the product or services
promised under the contract is transferred to the customer at a point in time (PIT) or over time (OT). The Company is first
required to evaluate whether its contracts meet the criteria for OT recognition. The Company has determined that for a portion
of its contracts the Company is manufacturing products for which there is no alternative use (due to the unique nature of the
customer-specific product and IP restrictions) and the Company has an enforceable right to payment including a reasonable
profit for work-in-progress inventory with respect to these contracts. As a result, revenue is recognized under these contracts
OT based on the cost-to-cost method as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer measured based on the ratio of
costs incurred to date as compared to the total estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation. For all other
contracts that do not meet these criteria, the Company recognizes revenue when it has transferred control of the related
manufactured products which generally occurs upon delivery and passage of title to the customer.
Customer Contracts and Related Obligations
Certain of the Company’s customer agreements include potential price adjustments which may result in variable
consideration. These price adjustments include, but are not limited to, sharing of cost savings, committed price reductions,
material margins earned over the period that are contractually required to be paid to the customers, rebates, refunds tied to
performance metrics such as on-time delivery, and other periodic pricing resets that may be refundable to customers. The
Company estimates the variable consideration related to these price adjustments as part of the total transaction price and
recognizes revenue in accordance with the pattern applicable to the performance obligation, subject to a constraint. The
Company constrains the amount of revenues recognized for these contractual provisions based on its best estimate of the
amount which will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in a future period. The Company determines the amounts to be
recognized based on the amount of potential refunds required by the contract, historical experience and other surrounding facts
and circumstances. Often these obligations are settled with the customer in a period after shipment through various methods
which include reduction of prices for future purchases, issuance of a payment to the customer, or issuance of a credit note
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Performance Obligations
The Company derives its revenues primarily from manufacturing services, and to a lesser extent, from innovative design,
engineering, and supply chain services and solutions.

A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as,
the performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of the Company's contracts have a single performance obligation as the
promise to transfer the individual good or service is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and is,
therefore, not distinct. Promised goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the contract are not separately assessed
as performance obligations. In the event that more than one performance obligation is identified in a contract, the Company is
required to allocate the transaction price between the performance obligations. The allocation would generally be performed on
the basis of a relative standalone price for each distinct good or service. This standalone price most often represents the price
that the Company would sell similar goods or services separately.

A contract asset is recognized when the Company has recognized revenue, but not issued an invoice for payment. Contract
assets are classified separately on the consolidated balance sheets and transferred to receivables when rights to payment become
unconditional.
A contract liability is recognized when the Company receives payments in advance of the satisfaction of performance and
is included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Contract liabilities, identified as deferred revenue,
were $361.5 million and $271.8 million as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The following table presents the Company’s revenue disaggregated based on timing of transfer - point in time and over
time for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
Year Ended March 31, 2020
HRS

IEI

CEC

CTG

Total

(In thousands)

Timing of Transfer
Point in time
Over time
Total segment

$
$

3,705,387
1,037,037
4,742,424

$
$

5,045,270
2,232,080
7,277,350

77

$
$

5,503,322
1,482,347
6,985,669

$
$

4,196,530
1,007,897
5,204,427

$
$

18,450,509
5,759,361
24,209,870
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Contract Balances
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A performance obligation is an implicitly or explicitly promised good or service that is material in the context of the
contract and is both capable of being distinct (customer can benefit from the good or service on its own or together with other
readily available resources) and distinct within the context of the contract (separately identifiable from other promises). The
Company considers all activities typically included in its contracts, and identifies those activities representing a promise to
transfer goods or services to a customer. These include, but are not limited to, design and engineering services, prototype
products, tooling, etc. Each promised good or service with regards to these identified activities is accounted for as a separate
performance obligation only if it is distinct - i.e., the customer can benefit from it on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer. Certain activities on the other hand are determined not to constitute a promise to
transfer goods or service, and therefore do not represent separate performance obligations for revenue recognition (e.g.,
procurement of materials and standard workmanship warranty).

Notice & Proxy Statement

applied against the customer’s accounts receivable balance. In many instances, the agreement is silent on the settlement
mechanism. Any difference between the amount accrued upon shipment for potential refunds and the actual amount agreed to
with the customer is recorded as an increase or decrease in revenue. These potential price adjustments are included as part of
other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet and disclosed as part of customer-related accruals in note 2.
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Year Ended March 31, 2019
HRS

IEI

CEC

CTG

Total

(In thousands)

Timing of Transfer
Point in time
Over time
Total segment

$
$

3,773,735
1,055,215
4,828,950

$
$

4,395,773
1,786,864
6,182,637

$
$

6,126,454
2,209,876
8,336,330

$

4,744,911
2,117,683
6,862,594

$

$

19,040,873
7,169,638
26,210,511

$

5. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity Compensation Plans
The Company's primary plan used for granting equity compensation awards is the Company's 2017 Equity Incentive Plan
(the "2017 Plan").
Share-Based Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes the Company's share-based compensation expense for all equity incentive plans:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total share-based compensation expense

$
$

15,174
56,372
71,546

$
$

19,554
56,478
76,032

$
$

19,102
66,142
85,244

Cash flows resulting from excess tax benefits (tax benefits related to the excess of proceeds from employee exercises of
share options over the share-based compensation cost recognized for those options) are classified as operating cash flows.
During fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not recognize any excess tax benefits as an operating cash inflow.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company had approximately 10.5 million shares available for grant under the 2017 Plan.
Options issued to employees under this plan generally vest over four years and expire ten years from the date of grant. Options
granted to non-employee directors generally expire five years from the date of grant.
The exercise price of options granted to employees is determined by the Company's Board of Directors or the
Compensation Committee and may not be less than the closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on the date of grant.
As of March 31, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested share options granted to employees
under all plans was not material.
The Company also grants restricted share unit ("RSU") awards under its 2017 Plan. RSU awards are rights to acquire a
specified number of ordinary shares for no cash consideration in exchange for continued service with the Company. RSU
awards generally vest in installments over a three to four-year period and unvested RSU awards are forfeited upon termination
of employment.
Vesting for certain RSU awards is contingent upon both service and market conditions.
As of March 31, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSU awards under all plans was
approximately $116.7 million. These costs will be amortized generally on a straight-line basis over a weighted-average period
of approximately 2.3 years. Approximately $20.0 million of the total unrecognized compensation cost is related to RSU awards
granted to certain key employees whereby vesting is contingent on meeting a certain market condition.
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Determining Fair Value - Options and RSU awards

Expected Term—The Company's expected term used in the Black-Scholes valuation method represents the period that the
Company's share options are expected to be outstanding and is determined based on historical experience of similar awards,
giving consideration to the contractual terms of the share options, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee
behavior as influenced by changes to the terms of its share options.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Valuation and Amortization Method—The Company estimates the fair value of share options granted under the 2017 Plan
using the Black-Scholes valuation method and a single option award approach. This fair value is then amortized on a straightline basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. The fair market value of RSU
awards granted, other than those awards with a market condition, is the closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on the
date of grant and is generally recognized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the respective vesting period.

Expected Volatility—The Company's expected volatility used in the Black-Scholes valuation method is derived from a
combination of implied volatility related to publicly traded options to purchase Flex ordinary shares and historical variability in
the Company's periodic share price.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation method on
the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury constant maturities issued with a term equivalent to the expected term of
the option.

Annual Report

Expected Dividend—The Company has never paid dividends on its ordinary shares and accordingly the dividend yield
percentage is zero for all periods.

There were no options granted under the 2017 Plan during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018.
Determining Fair Value - RSU awards with service and market conditions
Valuation and Amortization Method—The Company estimates the fair value of RSU awards granted under the 2017 Plan
whereby vesting is contingent on meeting certain market conditions using Monte Carlo simulation. This fair value is then
amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is the service period.

Average peer volatility—Volatility used in a Monte Carlo simulation is derived from the historical volatilities of the
Standard and Poor's ("S&P") 500 index for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018.
Average Peer Correlation—Correlation coefficients were used to model the movement of Flex's stock price relative to the
S&P 500 index for the RSU awards granted in fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018.
Expected Dividend and Risk-Free Interest Rate assumptions—Same methodology as discussed above.
The fair value of the Company's RSU awards under the 2017 Plan, whereby vesting is contingent on meeting certain
market conditions, for fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018 was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

Expected volatility
Average peer volatility
Average peer correlation
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

38.8%
24.9%
0.5
—%
1.8%
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2019

27.4%
25.6%
0.5
—%
2.7%

2018

25.1%
28.7%
0.6
—%
1.5%

Shareholder Info

Expected volatility of Flex—Volatility used in a Monte Carlo simulation is derived from the historical volatility of Flex's
stock price over a period equal to the service period of the RSU awards granted. The service period is three years for those RSU
awards granted in fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018.
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Share-Based Awards Activity
Option activity for all plans is immaterial for all periods presented.
Cash received from option exercises under all plans, which was reflected within other financing activities in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, was immaterial for fiscal years 2020 and 2019, and totaled $2.8 million for fiscal year
2018.
The following table summarizes the Company's RSU award activity under all plans ("Price" reflects the weighted-average
grant-date fair value):
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020
Shares

Unvested RSU awards outstanding, beginning of
fiscal year
Granted (1)
Vested (1)
Forfeited
Unvested RSU awards outstanding, end of fiscal
year

2019
Price

Shares

2018
Price

Shares

Price

14,903,886 $13.76
8,259,272
9.81
(4,222,524) 13.33
(2,889,994) 12.89

14,619,692 $14.39
8,257,502
12.59
(5,952,039) 13.12
(2,021,269) 14.51

17,242,019 $12.24
6,680,739
16.97
(6,945,393) 11.86
(2,357,673) 12.20

16,050,640

14,903,886

14,619,692

$11.87

$13.76

$14.39

(1) Included in the fiscal years 2018 amounts are 0.7 million of RSU awards, representing the number of awards achieved above target
levels based on the achievement of certain market conditions, as further described in the table below. These awards were issued and
immediately vested in accordance with the terms and conditions of the underlying awards.

Of the 8.3 million unvested RSU awards granted in fiscal year 2020, approximately 6.5 million are plain-vanilla unvested
RSU awards with no performance or market conditions with an average grant date price of $9.24 per share. Further,
approximately 1.8 million of these unvested RSU awards granted in fiscal year 2020 represents the target amount of grants
made to certain key employees whereby vesting is contingent on certain market conditions, with an average grant date fair
value estimated to be $11.92 per award calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation. Vesting information for these shares is
further detailed in the table below.
Of the 16.1 million unvested RSU awards outstanding under all plans as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020,
approximately 3.3 million unvested RSU awards represent the target amount of grants made to certain key employees whereby
vesting is contingent on meeting certain market conditions summarized as follows:

Year of grant

Fiscal 2020
Fiscal 2019
Fiscal 2018 (2)
Totals

Targeted
number of
awards as of
March 31, 2020
(in shares)

1,721,031
1,103,198
491,417
3,315,646

Average
grant date
fair value
(per share)

$
$
$

11.92
14.00
20.25

Range of shares
that may be issued (1)
Minimum

Maximum

—
—
—
—

3,442,062
2,206,396
982,834
6,631,292

Assessment dates

June 2022
June 2021
June 2020

(1) Vesting ranges from zero to 200% based on measurement of Flex's total shareholder return against the Standard and Poor's ("S&P")
500 Composite Index.
(2) As of March 31, 2020, the Company deemed the vesting of RSU awards with market conditions granted in fiscal year 2018 as not
probable.
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The Company will continue to recognize share-based compensation expense for awards with market conditions regardless
of whether such awards will ultimately vest. During fiscal year 2020, no shares vested in connection with the RSU awards with
market conditions granted in fiscal year 2017.

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the applicable periods.

Notice & Proxy Statement

The total intrinsic value of RSU awards vested under all the Company's plans was $41.7 million, $80.2 million and
$116.4 million during fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, based on the closing price of the Company's ordinary
shares on the date vested.

Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution from stock options and RSU awards. The potential dilution from
stock options exercisable into ordinary share equivalents and restricted share unit awards was computed using the treasury stock
method based on the average fair market value of the Company's ordinary shares for the period.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Diluted earnings per share:
Net income
Shares used in computation:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding
Weighted-average ordinary share equivalents from stock options and
RSU awards (1) (2)
Weighted-average ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents
outstanding
Diluted earnings per share

$

87,579

$

93,399

$

508,774
0.17

$

87,579

$

$

428,534

$

526,519
0.18

$

529,782
0.81

$

93,399

$

428,534

508,774

526,519

529,782

3,663

3,551

6,816

512,437
0.17

530,070
0.18

536,598
0.80

$

$

_________________________________________________________________________

(1) An immaterial amount of options to purchase ordinary shares during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018 were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive impact on the weighted average ordinary shares equivalents.
(2) RSU awards of 3.6 million and 6.8 million during fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive impact on the weighted average ordinary shares equivalents. Less than 0.1 million of
anti-dilutive RSU awards were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share during fiscal year 2018.
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Basic earnings per share:
Net income
Shares used in computation:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share

Annual Report

The following table reflects the basic weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding and diluted weighted-average
ordinary share equivalents used to calculate basic and diluted income per share:
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7. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES
The following table represents supplemental cash flow disclosures and non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Net cash paid for:
Interest
Income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activity:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment
Non-cash investment in Elementum (Note 2)
Non-cash proceeds from sales of a non-strategic cost basis
investment
Non-cash investment in Bright Machines (Note 2)
Finance lease for Bright Machines assets (Note 2)

$

171,719
98,943

$

190,204
134,178

$

152,750
91,846

$

104,260
—

$

111,989
—

$

128,044
132,679

—
—
22,806

—
127,641
34,828

59,000
—
—

8. BANK BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:
As of March 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

4.625% Notes due February 2020
Term Loan, including current portion, due in installments through November 2021
Term Loan, including current portion, due in installments through June 2022
5.000% Notes due February 2023
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month Yen LIBOR plus 0.50%
4.750% Notes due June 2025
4.875% Notes due June 2029
India Facilities (1)
Other
Debt issuance costs

$

— $
—
433,406
500,000
310,115
597,265
661,908
138,238
210,684
(13,377)
2,838,239
(149,130)

Current portion, net of debt issuance costs
Non-current portion

$

2,689,109

500,000
671,563
458,531
500,000
—
596,815
—
170,206
168,039
(10,639)
3,054,515
(632,611)

$

2,421,904

(1) India Facilities as of March 31, 2019 include an approximately $91.4 million drawdown from a short-term bank borrowings facility
entered in February 2019 which was repaid in May 2019 and a $78.8 million drawdown from the $200 million term loan facility
entered in July 2018.

The weighted-average interest rates for the Company's long-term debt were 4.0% and 4.2% as of March 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
Scheduled repayments of the Company's bank borrowings and long-term debt are as follows:
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Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

Amount
(In thousands)

$

$

149,456
209,586
870,178
53,109
310,115
1,259,172
2,851,616

Notice & Proxy Statement

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total
Term Loan due November 2021

Term Loan Agreement due June 2022 and Revolving Line of Credit

Borrowings under the 2022 Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, either at (i) the Base Rate, which is
defined as the greatest of (a) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (b) the federal funds effective rate, plus 0.50% and (c) the
LIBOR (the London Interbank Offered Rate) rate that would be calculated as of each day in respect of a proposed LIBOR loan
with a one-month interest period, plus 1.0%; plus, in the case of each of clauses (a) through (c), an applicable margin ranging
from 0.125% to 0.875% per annum, based on the Company’s credit ratings (as determined by Standard & Poor’s Financial
Services LLC, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch Ratings Inc.) or (ii) LIBOR plus the applicable margin for LIBOR
loans ranging between 1.125% and 1.875% per annum, based on the Company’s credit ratings.
The 2022 Credit Facility is unsecured and contains customary restrictions on the ability of the Company and its
subsidiaries to (i) incur certain debt, (ii) make certain investments, (iii) make certain acquisitions of other entities, (iv) incur
liens, (v) dispose of assets, (vi) make non-cash distributions to shareholders, and (vii) engage in transactions with affiliates.
These covenants are subject to a number of significant exceptions and limitations. The 2022 Credit Facility also requires that
the Company maintain a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation
and amortization), and a minimum interest coverage ratio during the term of the 2022 Credit Facility. As of March 31, 2020, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants under the 2022 Credit Facility agreement.
Notes due February 2020 and February 2023
In February 2013, the Company issued $500 million of 4.625% Notes due February 15, 2020 and $500 million of 5.000%
Notes due February 15, 2023 in a private offering pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. In July
2013, the Company exchanged these notes for new notes (collectively the "Notes") with substantially similar terms and
completed the registration of the Notes with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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In June 2017, the Company entered into a five-year credit facility consisting of a $1.75 billion revolving credit facility
and a $502.5 million term loan, which is due to mature on June 30, 2022 (the "2022 Credit Facility"). This 2022 Credit Facility
replaced the Company's $2.1 billion credit facility, which was due to mature in March 2019. The outstanding principal of the
term loan portion of the 2022 Credit Facility is repayable in quarterly installments of approximately $6.3 million from
September 30, 2017 through June 30, 2020 and approximately $12.6 million from September 30, 2020 through March 31, 2022
with the remainder due upon maturity. The Company determined that effectively extending the maturity date of the revolving
credit and repaying the term loan due March 2019 qualified as a debt modification and consequently all unamortized debt
issuance costs related to the $2.1 billion credit facility are capitalized and are being amortized over the term of the 2022 Credit
Facility.
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During fiscal year 2020, the Company repaid the total outstanding balance under the Term Loan due November 2021 with
parts of the proceeds obtained from the new JPY 33.525 billion term loan (approximately USD $310 million as of March 31,
2020) due April 2024 and the new $650 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029 (see below for additional details on the new
debts). As the transaction was determined to fall under extinguishment accounting, the Company recognized an immaterial loss
on extinguishment during its fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, which was recorded in interest and other, net on the
consolidated statements of operations.
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Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually, which commenced on August 15, 2013. The Notes are senior unsecured
obligations of the Company, rank equally with all of the Company's other existing and future senior and unsecured debt
obligations, and up until June 30, 2017 were guaranteed, jointly and severally, fully and unconditionally on an unsecured basis,
by certain of the Company's 100% owned subsidiaries (the "guarantor subsidiaries"). The Company replaced its $2.1
billion credit facility, which was due to expire in March 2019 and was guaranteed by the guarantor subsidiaries, with the 2022
Credit Facility, which is not guaranteed by the guarantor subsidiaries. Effective upon the replacement, all guarantor subsidiaries
were released from their guarantees under the indenture governing the Notes.
At any time prior to maturity, the Company may redeem some or all of the Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus an applicable premium accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable
redemption date. Upon the occurrence of a change of control repurchase event (as defined in the Notes indenture), the Company
must offer to repurchase the Notes at a repurchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes repurchased, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable repurchase date. During fiscal year 2020, the Company tendered and
redeemed the total outstanding balance under the Notes due February 15, 2020 with parts of the proceeds obtained from the
new JPY 33.525 billion term loan due April 2024 and the new $650 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029. As the
transaction was determined to fall under extinguishment accounting, the Company recognized an immaterial loss on
extinguishment during its fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, which was recorded in interest and other, net on the consolidated
statements of operations.
The indenture governing the Notes contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and
certain of the Company's subsidiaries to create liens; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; create, incur, issue, assume or
guarantee any funded debt; and consolidate or merge with, or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of the Company's
assets to, another person. These covenants are subject to a number of significant limitations and exceptions set forth in the
indenture. The indenture also provides for customary events of default, including, but not limited to, cross defaults to certain
specified other debt of the Company and its subsidiaries. In the case of an event of default arising from specified events of
bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If
any other event of default under the indenture occurs or is continuing, the applicable trustee or holders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may declare all of the Notes to be due and payable immediately. As of
March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the covenants in the indenture governing the Notes.
Term Loan due April 2024
In April 2019, the Company entered into a JPY 33.525 billion term loan agreement due April 2024, at three-month Yen
LIBOR plus 0.50%, which was then swapped to U.S. dollars. The term loan, which is due at maturity and subject to quarterly
interest payments, is used to fund general operations and refinance certain other outstanding debts. As the term loan is
denominated in Japanese Yen, the debt balance is remeasured to USD at end of each reporting period. Foreign currency
contracts have been entered into with respect to this Japanese yen denominated term loan. Refer to note 9 for additional details.
This term loan is unsecured, and contains customary restrictions on the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to (i)
incur certain debt, (ii) make certain investments, (iii) make certain acquisitions of other entities, (iv) incur liens, (v) dispose of
assets, (vi) make non-cash distributions to shareholders, and (vii) engage in transactions with affiliates. These covenants are
subject to a number of exceptions and limitations. This term loan agreement also requires that the Company maintain a
maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization), and a
minimum interest coverage ratio, as defined therein, during its term. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance
with the covenants under this term loan agreement.
Notes due June 2025
In June 2015, the Company issued $600 million of 4.750% Notes ("2025 Notes") due June 15, 2025 in a private offering
pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act, at 99.213% of face value, and an effective yield of
approximately 4.850%. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $595.3 million from the issuance which was
used for general corporate purposes. During January 2016, the Company exchanged these notes for new notes with substantially
similar terms and completed the registration of these notes with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company incurred approximately $7.9 million of costs in conjunction with the issuance of the 2025 Notes. The
issuance costs were capitalized and presented on the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the 2025
Notes.
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At any time prior to March 15, 2025, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2025 Notes at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the 2025 Notes redeemed, plus an applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to the applicable redemption date. Upon the occurrence of a change of control repurchase event (as defined in the 2025
Notes indenture), the Company must offer to repurchase the 2025 Notes at a repurchase price equal to 101% of the principal
amount of the 2025 Notes repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable repurchase date.
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The indenture governing the 2025 Notes contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company
and certain of the Company's subsidiaries to create liens; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; create, incur, issue, assume or
guarantee any funded debt; and consolidate or merge with, or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of the Company's
assets to, another person, or permit any other person to consolidate, merge, combine or amalgamate with or into the Company.
These covenants are subject to a number of significant limitations and exceptions set forth in the indenture. The indenture also
provides for customary events of default, including, but not limited to, cross defaults to certain specified other debt of the
Company and its subsidiaries. In the case of an event of default arising from specified events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all
outstanding 2025 Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other event of default
under the agreement occurs or is continuing, the applicable trustee or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of
the then outstanding 2025 Notes may declare all of the 2025 Notes to be due and payable immediately, but upon certain
conditions such declaration and its consequences may be rescinded and annulled by the holders of a majority in principal
amount of the 2025 Notes. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the covenants in the indenture
governing the 2025 Notes.
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Interest on the 2025 Notes is payable semi-annually, commencing on December 15, 2015. The 2025 Notes are senior
unsecured obligations of the Company, rank equally with all of the Company's other existing and future senior and unsecured
debt obligations, and up until June 30, 2017 were guaranteed, jointly and severally, fully and unconditionally on an unsecured
basis, by each of the Company's 100% owned subsidiaries (the "guarantor subsidiaries"). The Company replaced its $2.1
billion credit facility, which was due to expire in March 2019 and was guaranteed by the guarantor subsidiaries, with the 2022
Credit Facility, which is not guaranteed by the guarantor subsidiaries. Effective upon the replacement, all guarantor subsidiaries
were released from their guarantees under the indenture for the 2025 Notes.

Notes due June 2029

Interest on the 2029 Notes is payable on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2019. The
2029 Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of the Company’s other existing and
future senior and unsecured indebtedness.
The Indenture governing the 2029 Notes contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company
and certain of the Company's subsidiaries to create liens; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; and consolidate or merge with,
or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of the Company's assets to, another person, or permit any other person to
consolidate, merge, combine or amalgamate with or into the Company. These covenants are subject to a number of significant
limitations and exceptions set forth in the indenture. The indenture also provides for customary events of default, including, but
not limited to, cross defaults to certain specified other debt of the Company and its subsidiaries. In the case of an event of
default arising from specified events of bankruptcy or insolvency, all outstanding 2029 Notes will become due and payable
immediately without further action or notice. If any other event of default under the indenture occurs or is continuing, the
trustee or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding 2029 Notes may declare all of the 2029
Notes to be due and payable immediately, but upon certain conditions such declaration and its consequences may be rescinded
and annulled by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the 2029 Notes. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in
compliance with the covenants in the indenture governing the 2029 Notes.
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In June 2019, the Company issued $450 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029 (the “Existing 2029 Notes”), at
99.607% of face value. In November 2019, as a further issuance of the Existing 2029 Notes, the Company issued under the
same terms, an additional $200 million of 4.875% Notes due June 15, 2029 (together with the "Existing 2029 Notes", the "2029
Notes"), at 107.289% of face value. Immediately after the issuance of the notes issued in November 2019, the Company has
$650 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due 2029 outstanding. The Company received in aggregate, proceeds
of approximately $662.8 million, net of discount and premium, from the issuances which were used, together with available
cash, to refinance certain other outstanding debt. The Company incurred and capitalized as a direct reduction to the carrying
amount of the notes presented on the balance sheet approximately $6.6 million of costs in conjunction with the issuance of the
2029 Notes.
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Other Borrowings
In July 2018, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a $200 million term loan facility (the "Facility"), under which
there was $138.2 million in borrowings outstanding as of March 31, 2020. The Facility was used to fund capital expenditures to
support the Company's expansion plans for India. The availability period during which drawdowns can be made was from the
date of the agreement to and including January 2020. The maximum maturity of each drawdown will be 5 years from the
funded Capex shipment date. As a result, the longest maturity date of any drawdown under the Facility will be June 2023.
Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.90% to 1.15% depending on loan duration.
In January 2017, the Company borrowed €100 million (approximately $110.1 million as of March 31, 2020), under a 5year, term-loan agreement due January 2, 2022. Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at EURIBOR minus 0.1% plus
the applicable margin ranging between 0.40% and 1.35%, based on the Company's credit ratings. The loan is repayable upon
maturity.
In October 2015, the Company borrowed €50 million (approximately $50.2 million as of March 31, 2020), under a 5-year,
term-loan agreement due September 30, 2020. Borrowings under this term loan bear interest at EURIBOR plus the applicable
margin ranging between 0.80% and 2.00%, based on the Company’s credit ratings. The loan is repayable beginning
December 30, 2016 in quarterly payments of €312,500 through June 30, 2020 with the remainder due upon maturity. As of
March 31, 2020, the borrowings have been included as current liabilities under the consolidated balance sheet.
These term loans are unsecured and are guaranteed by the Company. These term loan agreements contain customary
restrictions on the Company's and its subsidiaries' ability to (i) incur certain debt, (ii) make certain investments, (iii) make
certain acquisitions of other entities, (iv) incur liens, (v) dispose of assets, (vi) make non-cash distributions to shareholders, and
(vii) engage in transactions with affiliates. These covenants are subject to a number of exceptions and limitations. These term
loan agreements also require that the Company maintain a maximum ratio of total indebtedness to EBITDA (earnings before
interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization), and a minimum interest coverage ratio, as defined therein, during their
terms. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under these term loan agreements.
As of March 31, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries had various uncommitted revolving credit facilities,
lines of credit and other credit facilities in the amount of $327.7 million in the aggregate. There were no borrowings
outstanding under these facilities as of March 31, 2020 and 2019. These unsecured credit facilities, and lines of credit and other
credit facilities bear annual interest at the respective country's inter-bank offering rate, plus an applicable margin.
In April 2020, the Company executed amendments to increase the allowable cash restructuring charges excludable in the
debt to EBITDA covenant calculation in its existing credit facilities. These amendments increase the Company's flexibility in
the event that additional cost reduction activities are required given the uncertainty in future demand that could impact
profitability as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
In May 2020, the Company issued $425 million aggregate principal amount of 3.750% Notes due February 2026, at
99.617% of face value, and $325 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Notes due May 2030, at 99.562% of face value.
The total proceeds of $740 million, net of discount and issuance costs, are expected to be used for general corporate purposes,
which may include repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstanding debt and for working capital, capital expenditures and
acquisitions.
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Foreign Currency Contracts
The Company transacts business in various foreign countries and is therefore exposed to foreign currency exchange rate
risk inherent in forecasted sales, cost of sales, and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies. The
Company has established risk management programs to protect against volatility in the value of non-functional currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, and of future cash flows caused by changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The Company tries to maintain a partial or fully hedged position for certain transaction exposures, which are primarily, but not
limited to, revenues, customer and vendor payments and inter-company balances in currencies other than the functional
currency unit of the operating entity. The Company enters into short-term and long-term foreign currency derivatives contracts,
including forward, swap, and options contracts to hedge only those currency exposures associated with certain assets and
liabilities, primarily accounts receivable and accounts payable, and cash flows denominated in non-functional currencies. Gains
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As of March 31, 2020, the aggregate notional amount of the Company's outstanding foreign currency derivative contracts
was $9.8 billion as summarized below:
Foreign Currency
Amount
Buy
Sell

Currency

Notional Contract
Value in USD
Buy
Sell

Notice & Proxy Statement

and losses on the Company's derivative contracts are designed to offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and
transactions hedged, and accordingly, generally do not subject the Company to risk of significant accounting losses. The
Company hedges committed exposures and does not engage in speculative transactions. The credit risk of these derivative
contracts is minimized since the contracts are with large financial institutions and accordingly, fair value adjustments related to
the credit risk of the counterparty financial institution were not material.

(In thousands)

Cash Flow Hedges
1,430,500
45,679
344,500
33,525,000
5,111,000
N/A

— $
38,009
—
—
—
N/A

201,755
50,075
96,283
300,000
218,442
239,421
1,105,976

$

—
43,078
—
—
9,524
52,602
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CNY
EUR
ILS
JPY
MXN
Other
Other Foreign Currency Contracts

—
4,250,664
2,080,415
55,892
55,435,797
271,500
5,685,000
3,705,195
4,839,428
2,919,100
649,418
N/A

Total Notional Contract Value in USD

603,000
331,088
2,203,938
78,988
59,591,932
134,500
5,931,167
34,778,855
3,576,516
2,653,490
711,823
N/A
$

—
604,494
2,278,226
68,333
171,813
75,880
75,957
34,287
206,835
661,927
65,373
179,509
4,422,634
5,528,610

$

117,999
46,749
2,413,824
96,952
184,694
37,591
79,185
321,655
152,859
601,698
70,713
114,956
4,238,875
4,291,477

As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair value of the Company's short-term foreign currency contracts was included in
other current assets or other current liabilities, as applicable, in the consolidated balance sheets. Certain of these contracts are
designed to economically hedge the Company's exposure to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a non-functional
currency and are not accounted for as hedges under the accounting standards. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of these
instruments are recognized in earnings during the period of change as a component of interest and other, net in the consolidated
statements of operations. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company also has included net deferred gains and losses in
accumulated other comprehensive loss, a component of shareholders' equity in the consolidated balance sheets, relating to
changes in fair value of its foreign currency contracts that are accounted for as cash flow hedges. Deferred losses totaled $30.8
million as of March 31, 2020, and are expected to be recognized primarily as a component of cost of sales in the consolidated
statement of operations primarily over the next twelve-month period, except for the USD JPY cross currency swap, which is
further discussed below.
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The Company entered into a USD JPY cross currency swap to hedge the foreign currency risk on the JPY term loan due
April 2024, and the fair value of the cross currency swap was included in other assets as of March 31, 2020. The changes in fair
value of the USD JPY cross currency swap are reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss, with the impact of the
excluded component reported in interest and other, net. In addition, a corresponding amount is reclassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive loss to interest and other, net to offset the remeasurement of the underlying JPY loan principal which also
impacts the same line.
The following table presents the fair value of the Company's derivative instruments utilized for foreign currency risk
management purposes at March 31, 2020 and 2019:
Fair Values of Derivative Instruments
Asset Derivatives

Liability Derivatives

Fair Value
Balance Sheet
Location

March 31,
2020

Fair Value

March 31,
2019

Balance Sheet
Location

March 31,
2020

March 31,
2019

(In thousands)

Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign currency contracts
Foreign currency contracts
Derivatives not
designated as hedging
instruments
Foreign currency contracts

Other current
assets
Other assets

$
$

7,257
13,849

$
$

10,503
—

Other current
liabilities
Other liabilities

$
$

46,645
—

$
$

10,282
—

Other current
assets

$

83,086

$

16,774

Other current
liabilities

$

102,709

$

17,144

The Company has financial instruments subject to master netting arrangements, which provide for the net settlement of
all contracts with a single counterparty. The Company does not offset fair value amounts for assets and liabilities recognized for
derivative instruments under these arrangements, and as such, the asset and liability balances presented in the table above
reflect the gross amounts of derivatives in the consolidated balance sheets. The impact of netting derivative assets and liabilities
is not material to the Company's financial position for any of the periods presented.

10. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component, net of tax, during fiscal years ended March 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
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Foreign currency
translation
adjustments

Total

(In thousands)

Beginning balance on April 1, 2017

$

Other comprehensive gain before reclassifications
Net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Net current-period other comprehensive gain (loss)
Ending balance on March 31, 2018

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Net (gains) losses reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss
Net current-period other comprehensive loss
Ending balance on March 31, 2020

$

$

(95,717) $
46,022

(128,143)

(18,987)
(3,320)
(35,746) $
(48,302)

(404)

(19,391)

45,618
(50,099) $
(59,508)

42,298
(85,845)
(107,810)

42,492
(5,810)
(41,556) $
(42,837)

—
(59,508)
(109,607) $
(21,951)

42,492
(65,318)
(151,163)
(64,788)

2,730
(40,107)
(81,663) $

(1,446)
(23,397)
(133,004) $

1,284
(63,504)
(214,667)

61,689

Net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss during fiscal year 2019 relating to derivative
instruments and other includes $40.6 million attributable to the Company's cash flow hedge instruments which were recognized
as a component of cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations.
Net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss during fiscal year 2018 relating to derivative
instruments and other includes $20.8 million attributable to the Company's cash flow hedge instruments which were recognized
as a component of cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations.
11. TRADE RECEIVABLES SECURITIZATION
The Company sells trade receivables under two asset-backed securitization programs and an accounts receivable factoring
program.
Asset-Backed Securitization Programs
The Company continuously sells designated pools of trade receivables under its Global Asset-Backed Securitization
Agreement (the "Global Program") and its North American Asset-Backed Securitization Agreement (the "North American
Program," collectively, the "ABS Programs") to affiliated special purpose entities, each of which in turn sells the receivables to
unaffiliated financial institutions.
Prior to November 2019, these programs allowed the operating subsidiaries to receive a cash payment and a deferred
purchase price receivable for sold receivables. The portion of the purchase price for the receivables which was not paid by the
unaffiliated financial institutions in cash was a deferred purchase price receivable, which was paid to the special purpose entity
as payments on the receivables were collected from account debtors. The deferred purchase price receivable represented a
beneficial interest in the transferred financial assets and was recognized at fair value as part of the sale transaction. The
accounts receivable balances that were sold under the ABS Programs were removed from the consolidated balance sheets and
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Net (gains) losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss were immaterial during fiscal year 2020.
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Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
loss
Net current-period other comprehensive loss
Ending balance on March 31, 2019

$

(32,426) $
15,667

Notice & Proxy Statement

Unrealized loss on
derivative
instruments and
other
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the net cash proceeds received by the Company were included as cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated
statements of cash flows. The Company recognized these proceeds net of the deferred purchase price, consisting of a receivable
from the purchasers that entitled the Company to certain collections on the receivable. The Company recognized the collection
of the deferred purchase price in net cash provided by investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Effective November 2019, the Company amended the ABS Programs to extend the facilities to November 26, 2021, and
removed the requirement for the deferred purchase price receivable. Under the amended ABS Programs, the entire purchase
price of sold receivables are paid in cash. The amended ABS Programs contain a guarantee of payment by the special purpose
entity, in an amount equal to approximately the net cash proceeds under the programs, and is collateralized by certain
receivables held by the special purpose entity. The fair value of the guarantee obligation was immaterial as of March 31, 2020.
The accounts receivable balances sold under the amended ABS Programs were removed from the consolidated balance sheets
and the cash proceeds received by the Company were included as cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated
statements of cash flows.
At the effective date of the amended ABS Programs, approximately $1.3 billion representing the outstanding balance of
sold receivables was repurchased by the Company by exchanging outstanding deferred purchase price receivable of $0.4 billion
and re-investing $0.9 billion of trade account receivables into the amended ABS Programs. These repurchases are considered
non-cash investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. As of March 31, 2020, the Company collected on all
repurchased deferred purchase price receivables, which are reported as cash collections under deferred purchase price in the
consolidated statements of cash flows.
The deferred purchase price receivables, included in other current assets as of March 31, 2019 were carried at the
expected recovery amount of the related receivables. Prior to the amendments of the ABS Programs, the difference between the
carrying amount of the receivables sold under these programs and the sum of the cash and fair value of the deferred purchase
price receivables received at time of transfer was recognized as a loss on sale of the related receivables, and recorded in interest
and other, net in the consolidated statements of operations and were immaterial for all periods presented. There are no deferred
purchase price receivables outstanding as of March 31, 2020.
Following the transfer of the receivables to the special purpose entities, the transferred receivables are legally isolated
from the Company and its affiliates, and upon the sale of the receivables from the special purpose entities to the unaffiliated
financial institutions, effective control of the transferred receivables is passed to the unaffiliated financial institutions, which
have the right to pledge or sell the receivables. Although the special purpose entities are consolidated by the Company, they are
separate corporate entities and their assets are available first to satisfy the claims of their creditors. The investment limits set by
the financial institutions are $790 million for the Global Program, of which $615 million is committed and $175 million is
uncommitted, and $285 million for the North American Program, of which $210 million is committed and $75 million is
uncommitted.
The Company services, administers and collects the receivables on behalf of the special purpose entities and receives a
servicing fee of 0.1% to 0.5% of serviced receivables per annum. Servicing fees recognized during the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were not material and are included in interest and other, net within the consolidated statements
of operations. As the Company estimates the fee it receives in return for its obligation to service these receivables is at fair
value, no servicing assets or liabilities are recognized.
As of March 31, 2020, approximately $0.8 billion of accounts receivable had been sold to the special purpose entities
under the amended ABS Programs for which the Company had received net cash proceeds for the same amount. As of
March 31, 2019, approximately $1.2 billion of accounts receivable had been sold to the special purpose entities for which the
Company had received net cash proceeds of $0.9 billion and deferred purchase price receivables of $0.3 billion. The deferred
purchase price balance as of March 31, 2019, also represent the non-cash beneficial interest obtained in exchange for
securitized receivables.
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, cash flows from sales of receivables under the ABS Programs
consisted of approximately $7.6 billion, $6.8 billion and $8.0 billion, respectively, for transfers of receivables, and
approximately $2.6 billion, $3.6 billion and $4.6 billion, respectively, for collections on deferred purchase price receivables.
The Company's cash flows from transfer of receivables consist primarily of proceeds from collections reinvested in revolvingperiod transfers. Cash flows from new transfers were not significant for all periods presented.
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Trade Accounts Receivable Sale Programs

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Level 1 - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.
The Company has deferred compensation plans for its officers and certain other employees. Amounts deferred under the
plans are invested in hypothetical investments selected by the participant or the participant's investment manager. The
Company's deferred compensation plan assets are included in other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets and
include investments in equity securities that are valued using active market prices. There were no investments classified as level
1 in the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2020.

The Company values foreign exchange forward contracts using level 2 observable inputs which primarily consist of an
income approach based on the present value of the forward rate less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount.
The Company's cash equivalents are comprised of bank time deposits and money market funds, which are valued using
level 2 inputs, such as interest rates and maturity periods. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount approximates
fair value.
The Company's deferred compensation plan assets also include money market funds, mutual funds, corporate and
government bonds and certain convertible securities that are valued using prices obtained from various pricing sources. These
sources price these investments using certain market indices and the performance of these investments in relation to these
indices. As a result, the Company has classified these investments as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
Level 3 - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are
significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The Company has accrued for contingent consideration in connection with its business acquisitions as applicable, which
is measured at fair value based on certain internal models and unobservable inputs. There were no contingent consideration
liabilities outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and 2019.
The Company's deferred purchase price receivables relating to its asset-backed securitization program are recorded
initially at fair value based on a discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable inputs (i.e., level 3 inputs), which are
primarily risk free interest rates adjusted for the credit quality of the underlying creditor. Due to its high credit quality and
short-term maturity, the fair value approximates carrying value. Significant increases in either of the major unobservable inputs
(credit spread, risk free interest rate) in isolation would result in lower fair value estimates, however the impact is not material.
The interrelationship between these inputs is also insignificant. There are no deferred purchase price receivables outstanding as
of March 31, 2020 due to the amended ABS Programs as further discussed in Note 11.
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Level 2 - Applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets) such as cash
and cash equivalents and money market funds; or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can be
derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data.
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and
liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market
in which it would transact, and it considers assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.
The accounting guidance for fair value establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the level of independent, objective evidence
surrounding the inputs used to measure fair value. A financial instrument's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
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The Company also sold accounts receivables to certain third-party banking institutions. The outstanding balance of
receivables sold and not yet collected on accounts where the Company has continuing involvement was approximately $0.4
billion and $0.5 billion as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
total accounts receivable sold to certain third party banking institutions was approximately $1.6 billion, $2.7 billion and $1.5
billion, respectively. The receivables that were sold were removed from the consolidated balance sheets and the cash received is
reflected as cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during fiscal years 2020 and 2019.
Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
March 31, 2020 and 2019:
Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(In thousands)

Assets:
Money market funds and time deposits (Note 2)
Foreign currency contracts (Note 9)
Deferred compensation plan assets:
Mutual funds, money market accounts and equity
securities
Liabilities:
Foreign currency contracts (Note 9)

$

—
—

$

—
$

—

403,657
104,192

$

—
—

49,086
$

$

—

(149,354) $

—

403,657
104,192

49,086
$

(149,354)

Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2019
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(In thousands)

Assets:
Money market funds and time deposits (Note 2)
Foreign currency contracts (Note 9)
Deferred compensation plan assets:
Mutual funds, money market accounts and equity
securities
Liabilities:
Foreign currency contracts (Note 9)

$

—
—

$

2,845
$

—

92

473,888
27,277

$

76,852
$

(27,426) $

—
—

$

—
—

473,888
27,277

79,697
$

(27,426)
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Other financial instruments
The following table presents the Company's major debts not carried at fair value as of March 31, 2020 and 2019:
As of March 31, 2019

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

(In thousands)

$

433,406
500,000

$

310,115
597,265
661,908
207,646
138,238

Fair Value
Hierarchy

(In thousands)

413,903
499,710
310,115
613,152
628,419
207,646
138,238

$

458,531
500,000
—
596,815
—
165,270
170,206

$

457,958
499,950

Level 1
Level 1

—
599,940
—
165,270
170,206

Level 2
Level 1
Level 1
Level 2
Level 2

The Term Loan due June 2022, and the Notes due February 2023, June 2025 and June 2029 are valued based on broker
trading prices in active markets.
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Term Loan, including current portion, due in
installments through June 2022
5.000% Notes due February 2023
Term Loan due April 2024 - three-month Yen
LIBOR plus 0.50%
4.750% Notes due June 2025
4.875% Notes due June 2029
Euro Term Loans
India Facilities

Fair
Value

Notice & Proxy Statement

As of March 31, 2020
Carrying
Amount

The Company values its Term Loan due April 2024, India Facilities, and Euro Term Loans due September 2020, March
2021 and January 2022, based on the current market rate, and as of March 31, 2020, the carrying amounts approximate fair
values.
13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the gross carrying amount and associated accumulated depreciation of the Company's
property and equipment financed under finance leases, and the related obligations was not material. The Company also leases
certain of its facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. These operating leases expire in various years
through 2038 and require the following minimum lease payments:
Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

Operating Lease
(In thousands)

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

134,817
115,465
100,779
84,374
67,772
253,768
756,975

Litigation and other legal matters
In connection with the matters described below, the Company has accrued for loss contingencies where it believes that
losses are probable and estimable. The amounts accrued are not material. Although it is reasonably possible that actual losses
could be in excess of the Company’s accrual, the Company is unable to estimate a reasonably possible loss or range of loss in
excess of its accrual, except as discussed below, due to various reasons, including, among others, that: (i) the proceedings are in
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early stages or no claims have been asserted, (ii) specific damages have not been sought in all of these matters, (iii) damages, if
asserted, are considered unsupported and/or exaggerated, (iv) there is uncertainty as to the outcome of pending appeals,
motions, or settlements, (v) there are significant factual issues to be resolved, and/or (vi) there are novel legal issues or
unsettled legal theories presented. Any such excess loss could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations or cash flows for a particular period or on the Company’s financial condition.
In addition, the Company provides design and engineering services to its customers and also designs and makes its own
products. As a consequence of these activities, its customers are requiring the Company to take responsibility for intellectual
property to a greater extent than in its manufacturing and assembly businesses. Although the Company believes that its
intellectual property assets and licenses are sufficient for the operation of its business as it currently conducts it, from time to
time third-parties do assert patent infringement claims against the Company or its customers. If and when third-parties make
assertions regarding the ownership or right to use intellectual property, the Company could be required to either enter into
licensing arrangements or to resolve the issue through litigation. Such license rights might not be available to the Company on
commercially acceptable terms, if at all, and any such litigation might not be resolved in its favor. Additionally, litigation could
be lengthy and costly and could materially harm the Company's financial condition regardless of the outcome. The Company
also could be required to incur substantial costs to redesign a product or re-perform design services.
From time to time, the Company enters into IP licenses (e.g., patent licenses and software licenses) with third-parties
which obligate the Company to report covered behavior to the licensor and pay license fees to the licensor for certain activities
or products, or that enable the Company's use of third-party technologies. The Company may also decline to enter into licenses
for intellectual property that it does not think is useful for or used in its operations, or for which its customers or suppliers have
licenses or have assumed responsibility. Given the diverse and varied nature of its business and the location of its business
around the world, certain activities the Company performs, such as providing assembly services in China and India, may fall
outside the scope of those licenses or may not be subject to the applicable intellectual property rights. The Company's licensors
may disagree and claim royalties are owed for such activities. In addition, the basis (e.g., base price) for any royalty amounts
owed are audited by licensors and may be challenged. Some of these disagreements, may lead to claims and litigation that
might not be resolved in the Company's favor. Additionally, litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially harm the
Company's financial condition regardless of the outcome. In March 2018, the Company received an inquiry from a licensor
referencing its patent license agreement with the Company, and requesting information relating to royalties for products that the
Company assembles for a customer in China. The Company and licensor have had subsequent discussions, during which the
licensor claimed that the Company owes a material amount under the patent license agreement, which the Company disputes
and would contest vigorously. While the Company cannot predict the outcome with respect to this claim or estimate an amount
or reasonable range of loss, a material loss is reasonably possible.
On May 8, 2018, a putative class action was filed in the Northern District of California against the Company and certain
officers alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule 10b-5, promulgated
thereunder, alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s financial results, press releases and SEC
filings made during the putative class period of January 26, 2017 through April 26, 2018. On October 1, 2018, the Court
appointed lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel in the case. On November 28, 2018, lead plaintiff filed an amended
complaint alleging misstatements and/or omissions in certain of the Company’s SEC filings, press releases, earnings calls, and
analyst and investor conferences and expanding the putative class period through October 25, 2018. On April 3, 2019, the Court
vacated its prior order appointing lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel and reopened the lead plaintiff appointment process.
On September 26, 2019, the Court appointed a new lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel in the case. On November 8, 2019,
lead plaintiff filed a further amended complaint. On December 4, 2019, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint. The motion has been fully briefed. On March 12, 2020, the Court vacated the hearing date and took the motion
under submission without argument. No decision has yet been issued. The Company believes that the claims are without merit
and intends to vigorously defend this case.
On April 21, 2016, SunEdison, Inc. (together with certain of its subsidiaries, "SunEdison") filed for protection under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016, the Company recognized a bad debt
reserve charge of $61.0 million associated with its outstanding SunEdison receivables and accepted return of previously
shipped inventory of approximately $90.0 million. SunEdison stated in schedules filed with the Bankruptcy Court that, within
the 90 days preceding SunEdison's bankruptcy filing, the Company received approximately $98.6 million of inventory and cash
transfers of $69.2 million, which in aggregate represents the Company's estimate of the maximum reasonably possible
contingent loss. On April 15, 2018, a subsidiary of the Company together with its subsidiaries and affiliates, entered into a
tolling agreement with the trustee of the SunEdison Litigation Trust to toll any applicable statute of limitations or other time94
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One of the Company's Brazilian subsidiaries has received assessments for certain sales and import taxes. There were
originally six tax assessments totaling 373.7 million Brazilian reals (approximately USD $73.1 million based on the exchange
rate as of March 31, 2020). Four of the assessments are in various stages of the review process at the administrative level; the
Company successfully defeated one of the six assessments in September 2019 (totaling approximately 60.5 million Brazilian
reals or USD $11.8 million); that assessment remains subject to appeal and no tax proceeding has been finalized yet. The
Company was unsuccessful at the administrative level for one of the assessments and has filed an annulment action in federal
court in Sao Paolo, Brazil on March 23, 2020; the value of that assessment is 33.9 million Brazilian reals (approximately USD
$6.6 million). The Company believes there is no legal basis for any of these assessments and has meritorious defenses. The
Company will continue to vigorously oppose all of these assessments, as well as any future assessments. The Company does
not expect final judicial determination on any of these claims for several years.

In addition to the matters discussed above, from time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims, and
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company defends itself vigorously against any such claims. Although
the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management expects that any losses that are probable or reasonably
possible of being incurred as a result of these matters, which are in excess of amounts already accrued in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets, would not be material to the financial statements as a whole.
14. INCOME TAXES
The domestic (Singapore) and foreign components of income before income taxes were comprised of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

Domestic
Foreign
Total

$
$

95

2019
(In thousands)

(2,903) $
161,388
158,485 $

(10,498) $
192,624
182,126 $

2018

323,522
197,371
520,893
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A foreign Tax Authority (“Tax Authority”) has assessed a cumulative total of approximately $94 million in taxes owed for
multiple Flex legal entities within its jurisdiction for various fiscal years ranging from fiscal year 2010 through fiscal year 2018.
The assessed amounts related to the denial of certain deductible intercompany payments. The Company disagrees with the Tax
Authority’s assessments and is actively contesting the assessments through the administrative and judicial processes. As the
final resolution of the assessment remains uncertain, the Company continues to provide for the uncertain tax positions based on
the more likely than not standard. While the resolution of the issues may result in tax liabilities, interest and penalties, which
may be significantly higher than the amounts accrued for these matters, management currently believes that the resolution will
not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Annual Report

On February 14, 2019, the Company submitted an initial notification of voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") regarding possible noncompliance with U.S. economic sanctions
requirements among certain non-U.S. Flex-affiliated operations. The Company has initiated an internal investigation regarding
this matter which is ongoing. The Company expects to complete the investigation and report to OFAC by the end of the second
quarter of fiscal year 2021, and cannot at this time estimate the amount, or the range of reasonably possible amounts, of
penalties the Company could be subject to, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Notice & Proxy Statement

related defense that might exist in regards to any potential claims that either party might be able to assert against the other for a
period that will end at the earlier to occur of: (a) 60 days after a party provides written notice of termination; (b) six years from
the effective date of April 15, 2018; or (c) such other date as the parties may agree in writing. No preference claims have been
asserted against the Company and consideration has been given to the related contingencies based on the facts currently known.
The Company has a number of affirmative and direct defenses to any potential claims for recovery and intends to vigorously
defend any such claim, if asserted.
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The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

Current:
Domestic
Foreign

$

Deferred:
Domestic
Foreign
Provision for income taxes

$

2019
(In thousands)

1,781
62,558
64,339

$

(38)
6,605
6,567
70,906 $

1,517
99,894
101,411

2018

$

2,894
50,889
53,783

(40)
(12,644)
(12,684)
88,727 $

422
38,154
38,576
92,359

The domestic statutory income tax rate was approximately 17.0% in fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018. The reconciliation
of the income tax expense expected based on domestic statutory income tax rates to the expense for income taxes included in
the consolidated statements of operations is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Income taxes based on domestic statutory rates
Effect of tax rate differential
Change in unrecognized tax benefit
Change in valuation allowance
Recognition of prior year taxes recoverable
Expiration of tax attributes
APB23 tax liability
Other
Provision for income taxes

$

$

26,943 $
(81,213)
(896)
92,543
13,305
—
8,653
11,571
70,906

$

30,961 $
(135,033)
(15,381)
191,896
5,439
4,277
2,047
4,521
88,727

88,552
(244,128)
22,180
297,330
(53,757)
—
1,741
(19,559)

$

92,359

A number of countries in which the Company is located allow for tax holidays or provide other tax incentives to attract
and retain business. In general, these holidays were secured based on the nature, size and location of the Company’s operations.
The aggregate dollar effect on the Company’s income resulting from tax holidays and tax incentives to attract and retain
business for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $15.6 million, $24.4 million and $21.7 million,
respectively. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, the effect on basic and diluted earnings per share was $0.03 and $0.03,
respectively, and the effect on basic and diluted earnings per share during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were $0.05 and $0.05, and
$0.04 and $0.04, respectively. Unless extended or otherwise renegotiated, the Company's existing holidays will expire in
various years through the end of fiscal year 2028.
The Company provides a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that in the Company's estimation are not more
likely than not to be realized. During fiscal year 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company released valuation allowances totaling $1.1
million, $2.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively. For fiscal year 2020, this valuation allowance release was related to certain
operations in China as this amount was deemed to be more likely than not to be realized due to the sustained profitability during
the past three fiscal years as well as continued forecasted profitability of those subsidiaries. In addition, a valuation allowance
of $3.4 million was added for a different operating subsidiary in China due to continued losses and the determination the
company would be less likely than not to utilize its deferred tax assets. Various other valuation allowance positions were also
reduced due to varying factors such as recognition of uncertain tax positions impacting deferred tax assets, one-time income
recognition in loss entities, and foreign exchange impacts on deferred tax balances. Lastly, these valuation allowance reductions
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and eliminations were offset by current period valuation allowance additions due to increased deferred tax assets as a result of
current period losses in legal entities with existing full valuation allowance positions. For fiscal years ended March 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018, the offsetting amounts totaled $90.2 million, $194.8 million and ($65.9) million, respectively.

The components of deferred income taxes are as follows:
As of March 31,
2020

2019

Notice & Proxy Statement

Under its territorial tax system, Singapore generally does not tax foreign sourced income until repatriated to Singapore.
The Company has included the effects of Singapore's territorial tax system in the rate differential line above. The tax effect of
foreign income not repatriated to Singapore for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were $27.9 million, $7.5
million and $65.8 million, respectively.

(In thousands)

$

(36,789) $
(49,637)
(25,818)
(112,244)

$
$
$

204,120
91,876

67,980
7,442
13,864
11,082
4,797
1,944,782
243,016
2,292,963
(2,083,082)
$

162,737 $
(70,861)
91,876

$

209,881
97,687
164,611
(66,924)
97,687

Utilization of the Company's deferred tax assets is limited by the future earnings of the Company in the tax jurisdictions
in which such deferred assets arose. As a result, management is uncertain as to when or whether these operations will generate
sufficient profit to realize any benefit from the deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance provides a reserve against deferred
tax assets that are not more likely than not to be realized by the Company. However, management has determined that it is more
likely than not that the Company will realize certain of these benefits and, accordingly, has recognized a deferred tax asset from
these benefits. The change in valuation allowance is net of certain increases and decreases to prior year losses and other
carryforwards that have no current impact on the tax provision.
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58,623
6,568
17,456
26,742
5,120
1,820,980
207,910
2,143,399
(1,939,279)

(39,376)
(57,939)
(14,879)
(112,194)

Annual Report

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Others
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Deferred compensation
Inventory valuation
Provision for doubtful accounts
Net operating loss and other carryforwards
Others
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowances
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances
Net deferred tax asset
The net deferred tax asset is classified as follows:
Long-term asset
Long-term liability
Total
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The Company has recorded deferred tax assets of approximately $1.9 billion related to tax losses and other carryforwards
against which the Company has recorded a valuation allowance for all but $81.9 million of the deferred tax assets. These tax
losses and other carryforwards will expire at various dates as follows:
Expiration dates of deferred tax assets related to operating losses and other carryforwards
(In thousands)

2021 - 2026
2027 - 2032
2033 and post
Indefinite

$

$

613,769
476,336
199,327
629,835
1,919,267

The amount of deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced or increased in the near-term if facts,
including the amount of taxable income or the mix of taxable income between subsidiaries, differ from management’s
estimates.
The Company does not provide for income taxes on approximately $1.4 billion of undistributed earnings of its
subsidiaries which are considered to be indefinitely reinvested outside of Singapore as management has plans for the use of
such earnings to fund certain activities outside of Singapore. The estimated amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability on
these undistributed earnings is approximately $128 million. As a result, as of March 31, 2020, the Company has provided for
earnings in foreign subsidiaries that are not considered to be indefinitely reinvested and therefore subject to withholding taxes
on $97.6 million of undistributed foreign earnings, recording a deferred tax liability of approximately $8.7 million thereon.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
March 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of fiscal year
Additions based on tax position related to the current year
Additions for tax positions of prior years
Reductions for tax positions of prior years
Reductions related to lapse of applicable statute of limitations
Settlements
Impact from foreign exchange rates fluctuation
Balance, end of fiscal year

$

251,722 $
24,052
4,137
(3,162)
(18,355)
—
(12,386)

$

246,008

$

227,590
82,966
5,575
(15,432)
(14,786)
(22,174)
(12,017)
251,722

The Company’s unrecognized tax benefits are subject to change over the next twelve months primarily as a result of the
expiration of certain statutes of limitations and as audits are settled. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the
total amount of unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by an estimated of an additional approximately $16 million within the
next twelve months primarily due to potential settlements of various audits and the expiration of certain statutes of limitations.
The Company and its subsidiaries file federal, state, and local income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions around the
world. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before
2008.
Of the $246.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2020, $165.6 million will affect the annual effective tax
rate (ETR) if the benefits are eventually recognized. The amount that doesn’t impact the ETR relates to positions that would be
settled with a tax loss carryforward previously subject to a valuation allowance.
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15. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Fiscal Year 2020
During the first half of fiscal year 2020 in connection with the recent geopolitical developments and uncertainties,
primarily impacting one customer in China, the Company experienced a reduction in demand for products assembled for that
customer. As a result, the Company accelerated its strategic decision to reduce its exposure to certain high-volatility products in
both China and India. The Company also initiated targeted activities to restructure its business to further reduce and streamline
its cost structure. During fiscal year 2020, the Company recognized $216.4 million of restructuring charges. The Company
incurred cash charges of approximately $159.3 million, that were predominantly for employee severance, in addition to noncash charges of $57.1 million, respectively, primarily related to asset impairments.

Fiscal Year 2019
During fiscal year 2019, the Company took targeted actions to optimize its portfolio, most notably within CTG. The
Company recognized restructuring charges of approximately $113.3 million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, of
which $73.2 million were non-cash charges primarily for asset impairments. A significant component of its charges were
associated with the wind down of its NIKE operations in Mexico in the third quarter of fiscal year 2019 where it recognized
charges of $66 million primarily for non-cash asset impairments.

Fiscal Year 2018
During fiscal year 2018, the Company initiated targeted restructuring activities focused on optimizing the Company's cost
structure in lower growth areas and, more importantly, streamlining certain corporate and segment functions. Restructuring
charges are recorded based upon employee termination dates, site closure and consolidation plans generally in conjunction with
an overall corporate initiative to drive cost reduction and realign the Company's global footprint. The Company recognized
approximately $78.6 million of cash charges predominantly related to employee severance costs and $12.1 million of non-cash
charges for asset impairment and other exit charges under the above plan. Of these total charges, approximately $66.8 million
was recognized in cost of sales. A majority of the fiscal year 2018 restructuring activities were completed as of March 31, 2018.
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In addition, the Company executed targeted head-count reductions at existing operating and design sites and corporate
functions and exited certain immaterial businesses. Of these total restructuring charges, approximately $99.0 million was
recognized as a component of cost of sales during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019.

Annual Report

Restructuring charges are not included in segment income, as disclosed further in note 20.

Notice & Proxy Statement

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits within the Company’s tax
expense. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized interest and penalty of
approximately ($0.9) million and ($2.9) million and ($3.3) million, respectively. The Company had approximately $12.3
million, $13.3 million and $16.2 million accrued for the payment of interest and penalty as of the fiscal years ended March 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Severance

Long-Lived
Asset
Impairment

Other
Exit Costs

Total

(In thousands)

Balance as of March 31, 2017

$

Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2018
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2017 and prior
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2018
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2018
Balance as of March 31, 2018

16,359 $
69,439
(13,237)
(24,555)
—
48,006
38,634
(40,623)
(22,783)

Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2019
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2018 and prior
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2019
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2019
Balance as of March 31, 2019

—
23,234
123,341
(14,610)
(112,463)

Provision for charges incurred in fiscal year 2020
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2019 and prior
Cash payments for charges incurred in fiscal year 2020
Non-cash charges incurred in fiscal year 2020
Balance as of March 31, 2020

—
19,502
19,502

Less: Current portion (classified as other current liabilities)
Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion (classified as
other liabilities)

$

—

— $
9,417
—
—
(9,417)

—
(1,968)

23,501
90,691
(16,908)
(24,555)
(11,385)

—
46,365
—
—
(46,365)

13,338
28,314
(4,293)
(1,330)
(26,829)

61,344
113,313
(44,916)
(24,113)
(73,194)

—
45,623
—
—
(45,623)

9,200
47,443
(2,800)
(34,647)
(15,296)

32,434
216,407
(17,410)
(147,110)
(60,919)

3,900
3,900

23,402
23,402

—
—
$

—

$

7,142 $
11,835
(3,671)

—

$

—

16. OTHER CHARGES (INCOME), NET
Other charges (income), net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are primarily composed of the
following:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary (1)
Gain on sale of non-strategic business (2)
Investment impairments and dispositions (3)

$

—
—
97,691

$

(87,348) $
—
193,063

(151,574)
(38,689)
21,895

(1) During fiscal year 2019, the Company recognized other income of approximately $87 million from the deconsolidation of Bright
Machines. The fiscal year ended March 31, 2018 includes a $151.6 million gain from the deconsolidation of Elementum. See note 2
for additional information on the deconsolidations of Bright Machines and Elementum.
(2) The Company recognized other income of $38.7 million from the sale of a non-strategic cost basis investment during fiscal year
2018.
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17. INTEREST AND OTHER, NET
Interest and other, net for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are primarily composed of the following:

Notice & Proxy Statement

(3) During fiscal year 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of its investment portfolio strategy, the
Company concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired and
recognized a $97.7 million total impairment charge (See note 2 for additional information). During fiscal year 2019, the Company
recognized investment impairments of $193.1 million, under other charges, which is primarily driven by an $84 million impairment
in its investment in Elementum, coupled with a $76 million loss for the portion of its investment in an unrelated third-party venture
backed company, also determined to be impaired. The Company recognized $21.9 million of impairment during fiscal year 2018 for
certain non-core investments.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

$

145,978 $
42,807
(19,382)
(9,677)

145,658 $
46,344
(19,496)
(1,175)

123,098
25,002
(18,840)
(15,222)

(1) Interest expense on debt obligations for the fiscal year 2020 include debt extinguishment costs of $7.2 million, related to the full
repayments of the Notes due February 2020 and the Term Loan due November 2021. There were no debt extinguishment costs
incurred during the fiscal years 2019 or 2018.

Annual Report

Interest expenses on debt obligations (1)
ABS and AR sales programs related expenses
Interest income
Gain on foreign exchange transactions

18. BUSINESS AND ASSET ACQUISITIONS & DIVESTITURES

During fiscal year 2020, the Company completed an acquisition that was not significant to the consolidated financial
position, result of operations and cash flows of the Company.
Further, during fiscal year 2020, the Company disposed of two immaterial non-strategic businesses that operated across
most of its segments. The net gain on disposition was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results, and was
included in other charges (income), net in the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal year 2020.
Pro-forma results of operations for the acquisition and divestitures have not been presented because the effects were not
individually, nor in the aggregate, material to the Company's consolidated financial results for all periods presented.
Fiscal 2019 Business acquisition
In October 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of a business that was not significant to the consolidated
financial position, result of operations and cash flows of the Company. The acquired business expanded the Company's design
capabilities in the telecom market within the CEC segment. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were not material to the
Company's consolidated financial results. Results of operations were included in the Company’s consolidated financial results
beginning on the date of acquisition, and were not material to the Company’s consolidated financial results for all periods
presented.
Fiscal 2019 Divestitures
During the third quarter of fiscal year 2019, the Company disposed of an immaterial non-strategic business in Brazil that
operated across all of its segments. The net loss on disposition was not material to the Company's consolidated financial results,
and was included in other charges (income), net in the consolidated statement of operation for the fiscal year 2019.
During the second quarter of fiscal year 2019, the Company divested its China-based Multek operations, for proceeds of
approximately $267.1 million, net of cash. The Company transferred approximately $231.4 million of net assets, primarily
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Fiscal 2020 Business acquisition and divestitures
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property and equipment, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. Further, the Company incurred various selling costs as part
of this divestiture and allocated approximately $19.0 million of goodwill to the divested business. This transaction resulted in
the recognition of an immaterial loss which is included in other charges (income), net in the consolidated statements of
operations for the fiscal year 2019.
Pro-forma results of operations for these divestitures have not been presented because the effects were not individually,
nor in the aggregate, material to the Company's consolidated financial results for all periods presented.
Fiscal 2018 Business and asset acquisitions
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018, the Company completed two acquisitions that were not individually, nor in
the aggregate, significant to the consolidated financial position, results of operation and cash flows of the Company.
In April 2017, the Company completed its acquisition of AGM, which expanded its capabilities in the automotive market,
and is included within the HRS segment. The Company paid $213.7 million, net of cash acquired.
Additionally, in September 2017, the Company acquired a power modules business, which expanded its capabilities
within the CEC segment. The Company paid $54.7 million, net of cash acquired.
The intangibles of AGM comprised solely of customer relationships, will amortize over a weighted-average estimated
useful life of 10 years. The intangibles of the power modules business, comprised of $16.0 million of customer relationships
and $17.3 million of licenses and other intangibles, will amortize over a weighted-average estimated useful life of 10 years and
8 years, respectively.
The results of operations of the acquisitions were included in the Company’s consolidated financial results beginning on
the respective acquisition dates, and the total amount of net income and revenue, collectively, were immaterial to the
Company's consolidated financial results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2018. Pro-forma results of operations for the
acquisitions completed in fiscal year 2018 have not been presented because the effects, individually and in aggregate, were not
material to the Company’s consolidated financial results for all periods presented.
19. SHARE REPURCHASE PLAN
During fiscal year 2020, the Company repurchased approximately 23.7 million shares for an aggregate purchase value of
approximately $259.9 million and retired all of these shares.
Under the Company’s current share repurchase program, the Board of Directors authorized repurchases of its outstanding
ordinary shares for up to $500 million in accordance with the share repurchase mandate approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the date of the most recent Annual General Meeting held on August 20, 2019. As of March 31, 2020, shares in
the aggregate amount of $315.2 million were available to be repurchased under the current plan.
20. SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available that
is evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), or a decision making group, in deciding how to
allocate resources and in assessing performance. Resource allocation decisions and the Company's performance are assessed by
its Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), with support from certain direct staff who oversee operations of the Company's
businesses, collectively identified as the CODM or the decision making group.
The Company has four reportable segments as of March 31, 2020: HRS, IEI, CEC and CTG. These segments represent
components of the Company for which separate financial information is available that is utilized on a regular basis by the
CODM. These segments are determined based on several factors, including the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, customer base, delivery channels and similar economic characteristics. Refer to note 1 for a description
of the various product categories manufactured under each of these segments.
An operating segment's performance is evaluated based on its pre-tax operating contribution, or segment income.
Segment income is defined as net sales less cost of sales, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, and does
not include amortization of intangibles, stock-based compensation, customer related assets impairments, restructuring charges,
the new revenue standard adoption impact, legal and other, interest and other, net and other charges (income), net.
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Selected financial information by segment is in the table below.
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2019

2018

(In thousands)

Net sales:
High Reliability Solutions
Industrial & Emerging Industries
Communications & Enterprise Compute
Consumer Technologies Group

$

$

4,742,424
7,277,350
6,985,669
5,204,427
24,209,870

$

$

4,828,950
6,182,637
8,336,330
6,862,594
26,210,511

$

$

4,769,464
5,972,496
7,729,350
6,969,821
25,441,131

Notice & Proxy Statement

2020

Segment income and reconciliation of income before tax:
$

$

371,003 $
269,172
214,723
121,336
(104,471)

380,878
235,422
186,335
111,629
(127,810)

898,031

871,763

786,454

64,106
71,546
105,940
216,407
—
26,270
163,727
91,550
158,485

74,396
76,032
87,093
113,313
9,291
35,644
183,454
110,414
182,126

78,640
85,244
6,251
90,691
—
51,631
122,823
(169,719)

$

$

520,893

(1) Customer related asset impairments for fiscal year 2020, primarily relate to non-cash impairments of certain property and
equipment for customers we have disengaged or are in the process of disengaging, additional provision for doubtful accounts
receivable, charges for other asset impairments, and reserves for excess and obsolete inventory for certain customers experiencing
financial difficulties and/or related to inventory that will not be recovered due to significant reductions in future customer demand.
Customer related asset impairments for fiscal year 2019, primarily relate to provision for doubtful accounts receivable, inventory
and impairment of other assets for certain customers experiencing significant financial difficulties and/or the Company is
disengaging.
(2) Legal and other during fiscal year 2020, primarily consists of direct and incremental costs associated with certain wind-down
activities related to the disengagement of a certain customer primarily in China and India, offset by certain gains resulting from the
recognition of prior year expenses paid to the government now considered probable of recovery and reasonably estimable due to a
favorable tax ruling.
Legal and other during fiscal year 2019, primarily consists of costs incurred relating to the independent investigation undertaken by
the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors which was completed in June 2018. In addition, Legal and other also
includes certain charges related to the China based Multek operations that was divested in the second quarter of fiscal year 2019.
During fiscal year 2018, the Company incurred charges in connection with certain legal matters, for loss contingencies where it
believed that losses were probable and estimable. Additionally, the Company incurred various other charges predominately related
to damages incurred from a typhoon that impacted a China facility, as well as certain assets impairments during fiscal year 2018.
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Intangible amortization
Stock-based compensation
Customer related asset impairments (1)
Restructuring charges (Note 15)
New revenue standard adoption impact (Note 4)
Legal and other (2)
Interest and other, net
Other charges (income), net (Note 16)
Income before income taxes

316,007 $
465,707
142,347
87,518
(113,548)

Annual Report

High Reliability Solutions
Industrial & Emerging Industries
Communications & Enterprise Compute
Consumer Technologies Group
Corporate and Other
Total income
Reconciling items:
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Corporate and other primarily includes corporate services costs that are not included in the CODM's assessment of the
performance of each of the identified reporting segments.
The Company provides an overall platform of assets and services, which the segments utilize for the benefit of their
various customers. The shared assets and services are contained within the Company's global manufacturing and design
operations and include manufacturing and design facilities. Most of the underlying manufacturing and design assets are comingled in the operating campuses and are compatible to operate across segments and highly interchangeable throughout the
platform. Given the highly interchangeable nature of the assets, they are not separately identified by segments nor reported by
segment to the Company's CODM.
Property and equipment on a segment basis is not disclosed as it is not separately identified and is not internally reported
by segment to the Company's CODM as described above. During fiscal year 2020, 2019 and 2018, depreciation expense
included in the segments' measure of operating performance above is as follows. Historical information has been recast to
reflect realignment of customers and/or products between segments:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Depreciation expense:
High Reliability Solutions
Industrial & Emerging Industries
Communication & Enterprise Compute
Consumer Technologies Group
Corporate and Other
Total depreciation expense

$

103,266
85,273
89,286
112,813
31,769
422,407

$

$

$

96,854
92,606
103,162
104,298
36,493
433,413

$

97,114
75,366
118,150
110,276
33,526
434,432

$

Geographic information of net sales is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(In thousands)

Net sales:
Asia
Americas
Europe

$

$

9,362,089
10,065,568
4,782,213
24,209,870

39% $
42%
19%
$

11,469,617
9,893,072
4,847,822
26,210,511

44% $
38%
18%
$

11,210,793
9,880,626
4,349,712
25,441,131

44%
39%
17%

Revenues are attributable to the country in which the product is manufactured, or service is provided.
During fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018, net sales generated from Singapore, the principal country of domicile, were
approximately $574.6 million, $642.7 million and $686.9 million, respectively.
The following table summarizes the countries that accounted for more than 10% of net sales in fiscal year 2020, 2019,
and 2018:
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FLEX LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

$

5,664,742
4,449,266
3,719,095
1,831,214

23% $
18%
15%
8%

6,648,549
4,538,720
3,106,222
2,181,025

25% $
17%
12%
8%

7,449,591
4,361,814
2,860,242
2,578,466

29%
17%
11%
10%

Notice & Proxy Statement

(In thousands)

Net sales:
China
Mexico
U.S.
Brazil

No other country accounted for more than 10% of net sales for the fiscal periods presented in the table above.
Geographic information of property and equipment, net is as follows:
As of March 31,
2019
(In thousands)

Property and equipment, net:
Americas
Asia
Europe

$

$

1,037,018
737,551
441,422
2,215,991

47% $
33%
20%
$

1,003,708
903,288
429,217
2,336,213

43%
39%
18%

The following table summarizes the countries that accounted for more than 10% of property and equipment, net in fiscal
year 2020 and 2019:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Property and equipment, net:
Mexico
China
U.S.

$

555,077
396,179
377,800

25% $
18%
17%

537,396
523,124
361,098

23%
22%
15%

No other country accounted for more than 10% of property and equipment, net for the fiscal periods presented in the table
above.
21. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The Company's third fiscal quarter ends on December 31, and the fourth fiscal quarter and fiscal year ends on March 31
of each year. The first fiscal quarters of 2020 and 2019 ended on June 28, 2019 and June 29, 2018, respectively, and the second
fiscal quarters of 2020 and 2019, ended on September 27, 2019 and September 28, 2018, respectively.
The following table contains unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal years 2020 and 2019. For fiscal year 2019, the
Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings.
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As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, property and equipment, net held in Singapore were approximately $8.6 million and
$12.3 million, respectively.
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FLEX LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
First

Net sales
Gross profit (1)
Net income
(loss) (2)
Earnings (loss)
per share (3):
Net income:
Basic
Diluted

$6,175,939
352,759

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2020
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2019
Second
Third
Fourth
First
Second
Third
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$6,088,054
189,093

44,872

$
$

0.09
0.09

$6,461,387
430,477

$5,484,490
365,627

$6,398,956
377,854

$6,662,604
402,301

111,388

48,259

116,035

86,885

(116,940)

$
$

(0.23) $
(0.23) $

0.22
0.22

$
$

0.10
0.10

$
$

0.22
0.22

$
$

0.16
0.16

$6,922,827
357,325

Fourth

$6,226,124
380,295

(45,169)

$
$

(0.09) $
(0.09) $

(64,352)

(0.12)
(0.12)

_______________________________________________________________________________

(1) The Company recorded a total of $128.3 million of restructuring charges during the second quarter of fiscal year 2020. The
Company classified approximately $114.0 million of these charges as a component of cost of sales and $14.4 million as a
component of selling, general and administrative expenses. Refer to note 15 for additional information on these charges. The
Company recorded a total of $56.2 million of restructuring charges during the first quarter of fiscal year 2020. The Company
classified approximately $47.4 million of these charges as a component of cost of sales and $8.8 million as a component of selling,
general and administrative expenses. The Company recorded a total of $65.8 million of restructuring charges during the third
quarter of fiscal year 2019. The Company classified $60.4 million of these charges as a component of cost of sales and
approximately $5.4 million as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses.
(2) During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2020, and in connection with the Company’s ongoing assessment of its investment portfolio
strategy, the Company concluded that the carrying amounts of certain non-core investments were other than temporarily impaired
and recognized a $74.8 million total impairment charge. Refer to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8,
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for additional information on investment impairment. Net income for the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2019 was primarily affected by an $84 million charge for the impairment of the Company's investment in
Elementum. Net income for the third quarter of fiscal year 2019 was primarily affected by a $70 million charge for the impairment
of the Company's investment in an unrelated third-party company. Net income for the first quarter of fiscal year 2019 was affected
by a $91.8 million gain on the deconsolidation of Bright Machines.
(3) Earnings per share are computed independently for each quarter presented and basic shares are used in the quarters with losses;
therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the total earnings per share amounts for the fiscal year.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company's management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of March 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2020, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission's rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020 has been audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in this Item
under the heading "Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm."

Annual Report

As of March 31, 2020, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company's Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, an evaluation was conducted of the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on that evaluation, management
concluded that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2020.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Internal control over financial
reporting consists of policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) are designed and operated to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company's financial reporting and the Company's process for the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent
limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or
detect misstatements or prevent or detect instances of fraud. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls may
be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the
control. The projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

107

Shareholder Info

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter
ended March 31, 2020 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Flex Ltd., Singapore
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Flex Ltd. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31,
2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2020 of the Company and our report
dated May 28, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph
related to the Company’s change in method of accounting for leases in fiscal year 2020 due to the adoption of Accounting
Standard Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases, and change in method of accounting for revenue from contracts with customers
in fiscal year 2019 due to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Basis for Opinion
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting, may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Jose, California
May 28, 2020
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OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

Notice & Proxy Statement

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Annual Report

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.

Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
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Information with respect to this item may be found in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be delivered to
shareholders in connection with the Company's 2020 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Such information is
incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:
1.

Financial Statements. See Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

2.

Financial Statement Schedules. "Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts" is included in the financial
statements, see Concentration of Credit Risk in Note 2, "Summary of Accounting Policies" of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

3.

Exhibits. Reference is made to Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits. The Exhibit Index, which immediately precedes the signature page to this annual report on Form 10-K, is
incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.

ITEM 16.

FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit No.

3.01
4.01

4.02
4.03

4.04

4.05

Exhibit

Form

Constitution of the Registrant (incorporating all
amendments as at August 20, 2019)
Indenture, dated as of February 20, 2013, by
and between the Registrant, the Guarantors
party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant's 5.000% Notes due 2023
Form of 5.000% Note due 2023
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
March 28, 2013, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, to the Indenture, dated
as of February 20, 2013, by and between the
Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
related to the Registrant's 5.000% Notes due
2023
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
August 25, 2014, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, to the Indenture, dated
as of February 20, 2013, by and between the
Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
related to the Registrant's 5.000% Notes due
2023
Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 11, 2015, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant’s 5.000% Notes due 2023
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File No.

Filing Date

Exhibit No.

10-Q

000-23354

10/30/2019

3.01

8-K

000-23354

2/22/2013

4.1

8-K
10-K

000-23354
000-23354

2/22/2013
5/28/2013

4.1
4.11

10-Q

000-23354

10/30/2014

4.01

S-4

333-20706
7

9/22/2015

4.11

Filed
Herewith
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Exhibit No.

4.06

4.09
4.10
4.11

4.13
4.14
10.01

10.03
10.04
10.05
10.06
10.07

Filing Date

Exhibit No.

8-K

000-23354

6/8/2015

4.1

8-K
S-4

000-23354
333-20706
7

6/8/2015
9/22/2015

4.1
4.04

8-K

000-23354

6/6/2019

4.1

8-K

000-23354

6/6/2019

4.2

8-K

000-23354

6/6/2019

4.3

8-K

000-23354

11/7/2019

4.3

8-K

000-23354

11/7/2019

4.4

8-K

000-23354

6/30/2017

10.01

Filed
Herewith

X

X

10.08

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for time-based vesting awards†
10.09 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for performance-based vesting awards†
10.10 Flextronics International USA, Inc. Third
Amended and Restated 2005 Senior
Management Deferred Compensation Plan†
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10-K

000-23354

5/20/2009

10.01

10-K

000-23354

5/20/2009

10.02

8-K
10-Q

000-23354
000-23354

7/28/2010
8/5/2010

10.01
10.02

DEF
14A
10-Q

000-23354

7/5/2017

Annex A

000-23354

10/30/2017

10.05

10-Q

000-23354

10/30/2017

10.06

10-Q

000-23354

2/6/2009

10.02
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10.02

Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2015, by and
between the Registrant, the Guarantors party
thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee
Form of 4.750% Note due 2025
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 11, 2015, among the Registrant, the
Guarantor party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee, related to the
Registrant’s 4.750% Notes due 2025
Indenture, dated as of June 6, 2019, by and
between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
June 6, 2019, by and between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2029
(included in Exhibit 4.10)
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
November 7, 2019, by and between the
Company and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee
Form of 4.875% Global Note due 2029
(included in Exhibit 4.12)
Description of Registrant's Securities
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2017,
among Flex Ltd. and certain of its subsidiaries,
from time to time party thereto, as borrowers,
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent and Swing Line Lender, and the other
Lenders party thereto
First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as
of January 28, 2020 among Flex Ltd., the
lenders party thereto, and Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent
Form of Indemnification Agreement between
the Registrant and its Directors and certain
officers†
Form of Indemnification Agreement between
Flextronics Corporation and Directors and
certain officers of the Registrant†
Flex Ltd. 2010 Equity Incentive Plan†
Form of Share Option Award Agreement under
2010 Equity Incentive Plan†
Flex Ltd. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan†

File No.
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Form
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4.07
4.08

Exhibit
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Exhibit No.

10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
21.01
23.01

Exhibit

Form

Flextronics International USA, Inc. Third
Amended and Restated Senior Executive
Deferred Compensation Plan†
Summary of Directors' Compensation†
Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment
Policy†
2010 Flextronics International USA, Inc.
Deferred Compensation Plan†
Form of Award Agreement under 2010 Deferred
Compensation Plan†
Summary of Compensation Arrangements of
Certain Executive Officers of Flex Ltd.†
Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2010 Equity Incentive
Plan for time-based vesting awards†
Form of 2010 Deferred Compensation Plan
Award Agreement (performance targets, cliff
vesting)†
Form of 2010 Deferred Compensation Plan
Award Agreement (non-performance, periodic
vesting, continuing Participant)†
Award Agreement under the 2010 Deferred
Compensation Plan†
Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for retention performance-based vesting
awards†
Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for retention service-based vesting
awards†
Form of Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement under the 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan for performance-based vesting awards (20day trading average)†
Description of Annual Incentive Bonus Plan for
Fiscal 2020†
NEXTracker Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan†

File No.

Filing Date

Exhibit No.

10-Q

000-23354

2/6/2009

10.01

10-Q
10-Q

000.23354
000-23354

10/30/2017
8/5/2010

10.02
10.06

10-Q

000-23354

11/3/2010

10.04

10-Q

000-23354

7/30/2012

10.01

Filed
Herewith

X

BrightBox Technologies, Inc. 2013 Stock
Incentive Plan†
Flex Ltd. Executive Severance Plan†
Separation and Release of Claims dated
December 24, 2018 between Flex Ltd. and
Michael M. McNamara†
Scott Offer Amended Offer Letter, dated as of
January 27, 2019†
Revathi Advaithi Offer Letter, dated February
7, 2019†
Francois Barbier Relocation Expenses
Addendum, dated as of July 8, 2019†
Subsidiaries of Registrant
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

10-Q

000-23354

11/1/2013

10.02

10-Q

000-23354

8/2/2013

10.02

10-Q

000-23354

8/2/2013

10.03

10-Q

000-23354

7/28/2014

10.01

10-Q

000-23354

2/6/2019

10.01

10-K

000-23354

5/21/2019

10.23

10-Q

000-23354

7/26/2019

10.02

10-Q

000-23354

7/26/2019

10.01

S-8

333-20732
5
333-21226
7
000-23354
000-23354

10/7/2015

99.01

6/27/2016

99.01

5/21/2019
2/6/2019

10.27
10.02

S-8
10-K
10-Q

X
10-K

000-23354

5/21/2019

10.29
X
X
X
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Exhibit No.

24.01
31.01

32.01

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF

101.PRE
104

File No.

Power of Attorney (included on the signature
page to this Form 10-K)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350*
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme
Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as
inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy
extension information contained in Exhibits
101)

Filing Date

Exhibit No.

Filed
Herewith

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
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101.LAB

Form

Notice & Proxy Statement

31.02

Exhibit

_______________________________________________________________________________

This exhibit is furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of Flex Ltd. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date hereof and
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

†

Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Flex Ltd.
By:

/s/ REVATHI ADVAITHI
Revathi Advaithi
Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 28, 2020
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints jointly and severally, Revathi Advaithi and Christopher E. Collier and each one of them, her or his attorneys-in-fact,
each with the power of substitution, for her or him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or her or his substitutes, may do or cause to
be done by virtue hereof.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

May 28, 2020

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

May 28, 2020

Chairman of the Board

May 28, 2020

/s/ JILL A. GREENTHAL
Jill A. Greenthal

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ JENNIFER LI
Jennifer Li

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ MARC A. ONETTO
Marc A. Onetto

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ WILLY C. SHIH, PH.D.
Willy C. Shih, Ph.D.

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ CHARLES K. STEVENS, III
Charles K. Stevens, III

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ LAY KOON TAN
Lay Koon Tan

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ WILLIAM D. WATKINS
William D. Watkins

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ LAWRENCE A. ZIMMERMAN
Lawrence A. Zimmerman

Director

May 28, 2020

/s/ DAVID P. BENNETT
David P. Bennett
/s/ MICHAEL D. CAPELLAS
Michael D. Capellas
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Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)

/s/ CHRISTOPHER E. COLLIER
Christopher E. Collier

Annual Report

May 28, 2020

Notice & Proxy Statement

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

/s/ REVATHI ADVAITHI
Revathi Advaithi

